

World Smart Cities Outlook 2024





Disclaimer

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the secretariat of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any county, territory, city or area or its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries regarding its economic system or degree of development. Excerpts may be reproduced without authorization, on condition that the source is indicated. Views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect those of the United Nations Human Settlements Programme, the United Nations and its member states.

Copyright © United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat) All rights reserved United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat) P.O. Box 30030 00100 Nairobi GPO KENYA Tel: 254-020-7623120 (Central Office) www.unhabitat.org

HS/042/21E

Acknowledgements

Authors

Paolo Gerli, Luca Mora, Fabio Neves Da Rocha, Huong Nguyen

UN-Habitat Core Team

Roberta Maio, Milou Jansen, Florencia Serale

Reviewers (UN-Habitat)

Charlotte Albin, Flavia Biri, Francesca Calisesi, Namrata Mehta, Claudia Scheufler, Masaki Yabitsu

Peer Review Board

Maria Cristina Bueti (ITU), Alton Grizzle (UNESCO), David Gomez Jimenez (MIT Learning Facilitator), Naci Karkin (UNU-EGOV), Kevin M Schmidt (UNDP), Stefano Marta (OECD), Victoria Papp (BOMA), Eyerusalem Siba (UNECA), Sanjeevani Dilanthi Singh (ESCAP)

Contributors (data collection)

Emine Akgun, Fernando Almeida, Dominik Beckers, Jessica Clement, Einari Kisel, Clare McTigue, Henry Patzig, Federico Platania, Lill Sarv, Ralf-Martin Soe, Josefine Steinfurth, Külle Tärnov, Sara Thabit Gonzalez, Francesco Tonnarelli, Mie Weile, Jun Zhang

Contributors (Case Studies)

Murang'a County Government (Kenya), Bahir Dar by Environmentalist (Ethiopia), Addis Ababa – University of Gondar (Ethiopia) Barcelona by Institut Teknologi Sepuluh Nopember (Spain), Net Zero Accra by Impact Hub Accra (Ghana), Municipality of Modiin Maccabim Reut (Israel), Aswan Governorate (Egypt), Córdoba Smart City Fund (Argentina), Belo Horizonte City Hall (Brazil), Secretaría General Alcaldía Mayor de Bogotá y Consejería Distrital TIC (Colombia), Sierra Leone - Freetown Waste Transformers, George Kibala Bauer (GSMA Digital Utilities), Taipei Taiwan (Innknock), Canada - Digital Trust for Places and Routines (Helpful Places), Warangal (India), Beni Municipality (Nepal)

Editing

Roberta Maio (UN-Habitat)

Design and Layout

Michael Lusaba

How to cite this report

UN-Habitat, World Smart Cities Outlook 2024





Table of Contents

Foreword	1
Executive Summary	3
Introduction	5
Purpose and structure of the report	7
Methodological approach	7
A new era for smart cities: focusing on people	3
SECTION 1. Strategic agendas	9
1.1 Aligning national and local strategies	1
1.2 Participatory planning	2
1.3 Implementing and monitoring people-centred smart cities	4
SECTION 2: Policies and regulations	7
2.1 Regulating urban digital infrastructures	3
2.2 Technical and data standards)
2.3 Data protection and data governance	2
2.4 Human rights and ethical considerations	3
2.5 Environmental regulations and policies	ō
SECTION 3: Public sector capacity and leadership	3
3.1 Administrative structures and processes)
3.2 Competences and capacity needs	1
3.3 Financing mechanisms	3
3.4 Organizational culture and values	4
SECTION 4: Collaborative ecosystem	7
4.1 Community engagement and participation	3
4.2 Collaboration with private sector organizations	1
4.3 Collaboration with universities and research institutions	ō
4.4 Collaboration with civil society organizations	5
SECTION 5. Urban digital infrastructures	7
5.1 Broadband networks	3
5.2 Sensor networks	3
5.3 Data platforms	ō
SECTION 6. Smart city applications for public services	3
6.1 Urban and spatial planning)
6.2 Housing	1
6.3 Mobility	2
6.4 Energy	Ś
6.5 Water management 60)

6.6 Waste management	
6.7 Prevention and management of natural disasters.	
6.8 Safety and Security	73
6.9 Welfare	74
Conclusions	
Recommendations	
Inclusion, Equity, and Human Rights	
Community Participation and Collaboration	
Digital Literacy	
Shared Prosperity	
Environmental Sustainability	
Governance and Regulations	
Digital Infrastructures and Smart City Services	
Annexes	81
Annex 1: Sources of quantitative data	
Annex 2: sources of qualitative data	
Annex 3: Case studies	

List of figures

Figure 1: Global urban and rural population (actual from 1950-2018, predicted from 2019-2050)	6
Figure 2: Geographic coverage of primary data collection.	8
Figure 3: Percentage of municipalities and countries with strategic documents for smart city development	. 10
Figure 4: Percentage of municipalities where national public organizations are involved in the planning and implementation of smart city initiatives.	. 12
Figure 5: Participation of different stakeholders in the definition of vision statements for smart city development	. 13
Figure 6: Percentage of cities with formalized action plans for smart city development and considering maintenance costs in the planning phase	. 14
Figure 7: Percentage of municipalities monitoring the impact of their smart city initiatives	. 15
Figure 8: Countries with a national broadband plan	. 18
Figure 9: World nations with cybersecurity legislations or regulations	. 20
Figure 10: Countries with laws promoting the use of open-source technologies	. 21
Figure 11: National adoption of data protection laws and authorities.	. 22
Figure 12: Percentage of municipalities that find it easy to enforce data protection in smart cities	. 23
Figure 13: Cities that have adopted initiatives to rule the development of AI.	. 24
Figure 14: Extent to which municipalities include environmental objectives in their smart city initiatives	. 26
Figure 15: Percentage of cities with a smart city unit	. 29
Figure 16: Percentage of municipalities experiencing skill shortages as a barrier to smart city development	. 31
Figure 17: Percentage of municipalities relying largely on funding from city budgets, national agencies, private investors, and intergovernmental organizations	. 33
Figure 18: Percentage of municipal governments showing an entrepreneurial mindset, resistance to change, or a culture of innovation.	. 35
Figure 19: Percentage of municipalities where citizens are involved in smart city development	. 38
Figure 20: Diffusion of different public engagement activities across the world regions.	. 39
Figure 21: Diffusion of app contests, bootcamps and crowdsourcing techniques across the world regions	. 40
Figure 22: Percentage of municipal governments partnering with local and non-local enterprises in smart city development.	. 42
Figure 23: Percentage of respondents agreeing that public procurement poses a major constraint to the engagement of external partners in smart city initiatives	. 43
Figure 24: Percentage of municipalities partnering with universities and research institutions in smart cities development	. 45
Figure 25: Percentage of municipalities partnering with civil society organizations in smart city development	. 46
Figure 26: Fixed broadband subscription per 100 inhabitants	. 48
Figure 27: Population covered by mobile networks offering at least 3G	. 49

Figure 28: Percentage of municipalities using alternative measures to boost the digital inclusion of their residents.	. 52
Figure 29: Usage of different data sources across the world regions	. 53
Figure 30: Reliance of municipalities on data from alternative partners	. 55
Figure 31: Percentages of countries with open government data portals and various aspects of open data governance.	. 56
Figure 32: Innovative approaches to urban and spatial planning	. 59
Figure 33: Benefits and shortcomings of 3D printing and digital twins applied to the construction industry.	. 61
Figure 34: Global electric car stock (2013-2023)	. 63
Figure 35: Electric bus registrations and sales share by region	. 63
Figure 36: Diffusion of shared mobility services	. 65
Figure 37: Geographic distribution of solar power plants near cities	. 67
Figure 38: Power density and geographic distribution of wind power plants near cities	. 67
Figure 39: Distribution of bioenergy and waste-to-energy plants by region	. 67
Figure 40: Smart city applications for the management of water resources.	. 69
Figure 41: Size of the smart bins' market (2019-2032).	. 71
Figure 42: Applications of smart city technologies before, during and after the occurrence of natural disasters	. 73
Figure 43: Countries that have implemented facial recognition	. 74
Figure 44: Digital applications in education and healthcare	. 75

ACRONYMS

3DP	3D printing technology
AI	Artificial Intelligence
AR	Augmented Reality
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
AST	Active School Travel
CAF	Development Bank of Latin America and the Caribbean
CCTV	Closed-Circuit Television
CNIL	Commission Nationale de l'Informatique et des Libertés
CSIS	Center for Strategic and International Studies
EU	European Union
EV	Electric Vehicle
FWT	Freetown Waste Transformers
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
GPS	Global Positioning System
GSMA	Global System for Mobile Communications
IATP	International Association of Public Transport
ICT	Information Communications Technology
IEA	International Energy Agency
IEC	International Electrotechnical Commission
ILO	International Labor Organization
IRENA	International Renewable Energy Agency
ΙΟΜ	International Organization for Migration
ΙοΤ	Internet-of-Things
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
IT	Information Technology
ITU	International Telecommunication Union
LDC	Least Developed Countries
LEV	Low-Emission Vehicles
LGBTQIA+	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Intersex, Queer/questioning, Asexual
MaaS	Mobility-as-a-Service
MR	Mixed Reality
OECD	Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
PPGIS	Public Participation Geographic Information Systems
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SEVIMS	Socio-Economic Vulnerability Information Management System
SGMB	Spatial Group Model Building
STEM	Science, technology, engineering, and mathematics

U4SSC	United for Smart Sustainable Cities
UN	United Nations
UN-DESA	United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs
UN-Habitat	United Nations Human Settlements Programme
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNECE	United Nations Economic Commission for Europe
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNICEF	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
UNITAC	United Nations Innovation Technology Accelerator for Cities
UNITAR	United Nations Institute for Training and Research
US	United States
USD	United States Dollar
UK	United Kingdom
VHR	Very-High-Resolution
VR	Virtual Reality

Foreword

World Smart Cities Outlook 2024

In today's digital urban era, leveraging technology to improve the quality of life for all in our cities and communities is urgent. To do so, we must maximize the benefits for people inclusively, while managing associated risks. This is why, at the second session of the United Nations Habitat Assembly in 2023, 193 countries made a clear request for UN-Habitat to develop **international guidelines on people-centred smart cities**. This mandate reflects the urgent need to ensure that cities are built on principles of inclusivity, sustainability, and the responsible use of technology. To fulfil this task effectively, it is essential that the development of these guidelines is grounded in robust empirical data and real-world evidence from cities around the globe.

The **World Smart City Outlook** is a critical step in this process, offering a comprehensive analysis of the current state of smart city development. It provides essential insights into how cities are navigating the twin transitions of digitalization and urbanization, with a particular focus on the principles of peoplecentred design. Through in-depth analysis and case studies, the report highlights both the successes and challenges faced by cities as they strive to leverage technology for the benefit of their citizens.

One of the key findings of this report is the persistent **digital divide** that threatens to undermine progress in smart city development. While some cities have advanced rapidly, others, particularly in the Global South, struggle with limited access to digital infrastructure, insufficient technological capacity, and inadequate governance frameworks. The **digital divide** not only exacerbates existing social inequalities but also limits the ability of cities to harness technology in ways that improve public services, promote sustainability, and enhance resilience.

Addressing these disparities is crucial to achieving the vision of people-centred smart cities evenly and globally. **Equitable access** to technology is imperative to ensure that all urban residents—regardless of their socio-economic status—can benefit from digital transformation. This includes investing in infrastructure, promoting cross-sectoral solutions through partnerships and innovative procurement models, enhancing digital literacy, and developing regulatory frameworks that protect human rights and promote transparency.

The report also underscores the need for cities to adopt responsible Artificial Intelligence (AI) practices, highlighting

the ethical considerations that come with integrating AI into urban systems. Ensuring that AI technologies are transparent, accountable, and free from bias is essential for building trust among citizens and creating truly inclusive cities.

As we move forward, it is clear that cities must not only embrace technology but do so in ways that are inclusive, sustainable, and resilient. The findings of this report constitute a foundational resource in the development of the international guidelines on people-centred smart cities and UN-Habitat programmatic priorities, providing the empirical evidence needed to create globally applicable frameworks.

UN-Habitat remains committed to guiding cities on this journey, ensuring that the digital transformation is both people-centred and grounded in the realities of urban life today. By fostering innovation, promoting responsible governance, and addressing the digital divide, we can create cities that truly leave no one and no place behind.



Anacláudia Marinheiro Centeno Rossbach

Under-Secretary-General and Executive Director, UN-Habitat



Executive Summary

In an era marked by two significant transitions, vast urbanization and technological progress, our cities and countries globally are facing complex urban challenges related to inclusivity, sustainability and the responsible use of technologies. People-centred smart cities can help to tackle these challenges by harnessing digital innovation while ensuring that the design and implementation of technologies are driven by the needs of urban communities and by full consideration of their broader societal and environmental impacts.

Nevertheless, the transformative potential of these urban initiatives has yet to be fully leveraged globally, as the practice and maturity level of cities remains uneven within and across the world regions. To promote equitable development on a global scale, the *World Smart Cities Outlook* 2024 provides a comprehensive overview of the current state-of-the-art of people-centred smart city practices, drawing on a mix of qualitative and quantitative data. An in-depth review of existing approaches, ongoing challenges and emerging trends is conduced, focusing on six primary areas: *Strategic Agendas, Policies and Regulations, Public Sector Leadership, Collaborative Ecosystems, Urban Digital Infrastructures,* and *Smart City Applications for Public Services.*

Drawing on multiple datasets from UN agencies and third parties, the findings of this analysis confirm that municipal governments worldwide are leading people-centred smart city development in collaboration with a wide range of local and non-local actors. The data available indicate that 69% of municipalities have a strategic agenda for smart city development. Digital development or e-government nationwide plans have also been adopted by 69 and 81% of the world's nations, respectively. In 56% of the cities, the implementation and monitoring of these strategies have been led by administrative units specifically tasked with the coordination of smart city projects: an approach that helped to overcome organizational silos within and across public sector departments as well as to build more successful smart city partnerships with non-public actors. However, skills and resource shortages in municipal governments emerged as a major obstacle to effectively exerting leadership over multiple aspects of smart city development, such as the monitoring of projects and their impacts, the engagement of citizens in the design of digital services, and the compliance with national and international regulations.

The resource constraints experienced by worldwide cities are a direct consequence of ongoing austerity policies, although survey data has evidenced that the implementation of smart city projects still relies predominantly on funding from municipal budgets (65% of cases) or national schemes (46%). Conversely, private investors have been reported as a prominent source of funding by only 13% of cities. More broadly, survey data highlighted the reluctance of private enterprises to participate in smart city initiatives, especially in Latin American and African countries, where more than two-thirds of municipalities have experienced such an issue. The rigidity of public procurement processes and regulations emerged from multiple data sources as a major deterrent to the engagement of external partners in local initiatives, as confirmed by 6 out of 10 municipalities.

As to national funding, their relevance has been higher in Asian (51%) cities, compared to municipalities in North America (31%) and Africa (29%). Other data sources, however, evidenced that the involvement of national public organizations can vary significantly across the world regions and the different phases of smart city development. While Asian cities show the lowest level of collaboration between local and national governments, multilevel governance has emerged as a global challenge in multiple aspects of people-centred smart city development, including the regulation of digital infrastructures, the definition of ethical guidelines for digital technologies, and the setting of standards for data sharing. Municipal governments worldwide are addressing existing policy and regulatory gaps by establishing their own guidelines, often leveraging the expertise of universities (identified as contributors to capacity building by 85% of the municipalities) and national or international networks of cities (already joined by 74 and 59% of the municipalities).

Skills gaps, however, are not limited to the public sector but are also observed within the general population, with significant differences within and across the world regions. A 20% digital skills gap in the percentage of the population with basic computer skills also exists between developed and developing countries, and even in high-income countries, specific social groups (such as elderly people and migrants) are less likely to possess digital skills. Furthermore, the availability of Internet services remains heterogeneous across the world regions, especially in Africa, where 4G networks only cover 64% of the population. Overall, it has been estimated that 39% of the world population is not using the Internet, albeit having access to it. This usage gap particularly affects rural areas, where the adoption of Internet services is 1.8 lower. A 5% gap in the use of the Internet also persists between men and women at the global level: a gap that rises to 15 percentage points in lowincome countries.

Multiple sources have confirmed that the digital divide significantly compromises the extent to which local communities are capable of contributing to the planning, implementation and monitoring of urban innovation, with 87% of cities reporting that their residents have shown little willingness to participate in smart city projects. Consistently, municipal governments worldwide have been engaging with multiple tools and measures to boost the digital inclusion of their citizens, combining digital skills training (in 59% of cities), free public Wi-Fi (63%), and monetary subsidies (26%).

In this context, the design of inclusive and accessible technologies and applications used in city services also becomes of paramount importance. Nonetheless, the evidence currently available indicates that only 5% of municipal portals globally were compliant with accessibility standards as of 2024. Furthermore, multiple data sources have underlined that local governments are struggling to navigate the privacy and security concerns raised by emerging technologies: concerns that further undermine the acceptance and adoption of digital services among local communities.

This urges for the definition of national and international guidance on critical legal and ethical matters, such as digital human rights, data protection, and the ethical use of technologies. Whereas data protection is now normed in 70% of the world's nations (with a lower incidence among low-income countries and small island developing states), survey data have confirmed that the lack of guidance on digital human rights represents, at least to some extent, a constraint to smart city development for 82% of municipalities. In response to this, across the world regions, local governments have been taking the lead in the policymaking of emerging technologies with 36% of municipalities declaring to have already adopted citywide ethical guidelines for the responsible use of artificial intelligence.

The environmental impact of digital technologies is another area where local governments require further guidance to fully harness the potential of smart city services and digital infrastructures so to curb climate change and make cities more resilient. It is undoubted that innovation can significantly help mitigate the effects of climate change and enhance the environmental sustainability of urban communities by, for instance, promoting the integration of renewable energy in urban spaces and introducing innovative approaches to urban mobility. On the other hand, the proliferation of digital infrastructures and services may also exert additional pressures on environmental ecosystems, because of their high energy consumption, reliance on unsustainable mining practices, and generation of electronic waste, among others. Survey data well exemplify how cities struggle to deal with these contradictions: 89% of cities declared to include environmental objectives in their smart city plans, but only a minority has been effectively monitoring their environmental impacts. The lack of comprehensive policies and regulations, at national and international levels, on crucial environmental issues (such as e-waste and the emissions of digital technologies) further undermines the efforts of municipal governments to tackle climate change and other urban sustainability challenges.

• Local and national actors should assess the digital

By dissecting the challenges addressed and faced by key actors in the people-centred smart cities landscape, the *Outlook* illustrates major shortcomings of existing urban practices and policies, while also identifying promising experimental approaches that are being deployed by local and national governments across the world regions. The findings presented in this report provide both local and national practitioners (either within or outside the public sector) with a diverse range of perspectives to assess their smart city practices and a rich repository of inspiring case studies to inform their future decisions. In addition, a set of recommendations is purposely made to further harness the potential of innovation in urban contexts across seven dimensions:

Inclusion, Equity, and Human Rights

- National governments, in consultation with local authorities and international institutions, should devise and enforce comprehensive policy guidance for the design of inclusive smart city solutions.
- International organizations should establish regulations on human rights and the ethics of technology in cities.
- Municipal governments and their partners should build local capabilities to enhance the monitoring of smart city projects through the collection and analysis of granular, disaggregated data.
- Ex-ante and ex-post human rights impact assessments should be consistently carried out and enforced by municipal governments and their partners, including developers and private companies, civil society organizations, academic institutions and citizens.

Community Participation and Collaboration

- Municipal governments, in collaboration with representatives of the local civil society, should tailor the citizen engagement's strategies to the local context, leveraging a mix of online and offline tools.
- Municipal governments should establish community partnerships to build a relationship of trust with citizens.
- Local governments and civil society organizations should work with academic institutions to build the capabilities needed to sustain participatory planning processes.
- Municipal governments and their partners should implement communications and feedback processes to ensure that local communities are always kept informed on the progress of smart city initiatives.

Digital Literacy

- National authorities should partner with stakeholders such as local governments and research institutions to establish metrics and processes to rigorously monitor the state of the digital divide in urban contexts.
- Local and national actors should collaborate to devise comprehensive strategies to address ongoing and emerging digital divides.

literacy gaps in public administration and create learning programmes to upskill public employees.

- Local and national actors should assess the level of citizens digital literacy and offer incentives and learning opportunities to fill the literacy gaps where more pronounced.
- Local governments should partner with civil society organizations and educational institutions to create dynamic approaches for the capacity-building of local communities.
- Municipal governments and civil society organizations should leverage alternative media to sensitize local communities on the multifaceted impacts of digital services and infrastructures.

Shared Prosperity

- Governments at all levels should work with universities and other research institutions to develop detailed, data-driven assessments of the impacts of digital transformation on urban economies.
- Governments at all levels should lower the barriers for small businesses and startups to participate in public tenders by updating existing procurement regulations and adopting flexible approaches for the public procurement of innovation.
- Municipal governments should create synergies with other local authorities to bridge economic and social gaps by providing access to information, services and markets across neighbouring communities, especially for marginalized groups.
- Local and national governments should formulate a longterm financial plan to sustain both the experimentation and the continuation of smart city projects.
- Local and national policymakers, private companies and academic institutions should lead the experimentation of innovative mechanisms to build trust-based, long-lasting cross-sector partnerships.

Environmental Sustainability

- National and international policymakers should harmonize their environmental regulations to facilitate the embedding of environmental objectives in people-centred smart cities.
- International institutions should work with universities, research institutions and community organizations to refine methods and metrics for the measurement of

the environmental impacts of digital infrastructures and services.

- Policymakers at the national and international levels should work with industry players to establish standards for the sustainable design and implementation (e.g. emissions) of digital technologies.
- Municipal governments should include lifecycle impact assessments in the strategic planning of smart city projects.

Governance and Regulations

- Local and national governments should introduce coordination mechanisms for the alignment of local and national smart city agendas.
- Municipal and national administrations should establish structural and procedural arrangements to enhance the multilevel governance of smart city initiatives.
- Municipal governments should be empowered to experiment with innovative practices for the recruitment and exchange of talent from within and outside the public sector.
- Public administrations should leverage change management techniques to build a culture of digital innovation that is people-centred and aligned with public values.

Digital Infrastructure and Smart City Services

- Public oversight over critical infrastructures and essential services should be strengthened through the involvement of local communities and the reinforcement of regulatory authorities.
- Municipal governments should establish ad-hoc programmes to support local entrepreneurial efforts aimed at tackling urban challenges through social and digital innovation.
- National and international policymakers should modernize procurement regulations to incorporate innovative practices for the sourcing of digital services and infrastructures.
- Municipal governments should partner with each other to nurture collaborative partnerships facilitating the cocreation of scalable and adaptable urban innovations.
- Local and national governments should work with private suppliers and research institutions to leverage alternative business models for digital infrastructures and services.

Introduction

Cities have historically played a crucial role in driving innovation, economic development and social change¹, and their influence is only destined to grow, as rapid urbanization continues across the world regions. As of 2023, urban areas hosted 57% of the world's population, but this percentage is predicted to increase to 68% by 2050 (Figure 1). As a result, municipalities worldwide are now confronted with several societal and environmental challenges, including (but not limited to) overcrowding, traffic congestion, pollution, and growing socio-economic inequalities^{2,3}.

Figure 1: Global urban and rural population (actual from 1950-2018, predicted from 2019-2050).



Source: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN-DESA), 2019

Digital transformation has the potential to address and mitigate these challenges, by enabling the integration of digital technologies into all aspects of urban life⁴. Consequently, cities are among the actors contributing the most to driving the global spending on digital transformation, which reached USD 1.85 trillion in 2022 and is expected to double by 2027^{5.6}, with the market of smart city technologies forecast to grow even faster, from USD 121 billion to USD 301 billion between 2023 and 2032⁷.

Technology alone, however, is not the answer. The integration of digital services and infrastructures in urban areas also raises concerns about their potential impact on human rights and the environment, just to name a few⁸. Consequently, it is of paramount importance to ensure that the digital transformation of cities is shaped and governed by the collaboration of multiple local stakeholders, in alignment with municipal national and international strategies, policies and regulations norming the design and implementation of digital infrastructures and services⁹.

In this scenario, people-centred smart cities have emerged as a promising paradigm for harnessing the power of digital innovation in urban contexts¹⁰. Whereas the smart city concept has attracted criticisms in the past because of its excessive focus on technological innovation with little consideration for its social, environmental and ethical implications¹¹, people-centred smart cities are committed to putting local communities at the centre and lead of urban digital transformations, conceiving technological progress as a means rather than an end in itself. To fully leverage their transformative potential, however, it is fundamental to explore how the interplay of urbanization and technological progress is unfolding across the different world regions, generating multifaceted impacts on diverse urban communities.

Purpose and structure of the report

This report provided an in-depth, holistic, and up-to-date analysis of people-centred smart city development at the global level. Drawing on a rich dataset of quantitative and qualitative data, it sheds light on both common patterns and diverging trends across the world regions. It both assesses the current state-of-the-art with regards to ongoing challenges to the design, use, implementation, and governance of digital technologies in cities and highlights upcoming trends. By comparing ongoing smart city initiatives, the *Outlook* builds a systematic evaluation of their impacts, strengths, and limitations, ultimately identifying best practices and recommendations to inform future developments.

Following the smart city governance framework outlined in the *Managing Smart City Governance Playbook* by the United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat)¹², the analysis is structured into six sections, focusing on complementary thematic areas representing the core pillars of people-centred smart city development:

- Section 1 illustrates how local and national governments worldwide are defining, implementing, and monitoring strategic agendas steering the development of peoplecentred smart cities.
- Section 2 tracks the global development of *policies and regulations* relevant in the context of people-centred smart cities, shedding light on existing regulatory voids and ongoing policymaking efforts to overcome such gaps.
- Section 3 investigates how the structure, culture, and resources of public sector organizations shape the *public* sector capacity and leadership of people-centred smart cities.
- Section 4 explores global trends in *smart city* collaborative ecosystems, highlighting enablers and constraints to the collaborative partnerships underpinning people-centred smart cities.
- Section 5 analyses the global state of *urban digital infrastructures* for people-centred smart cities, assessing their socio-economic and environmental outcomes within and beyond urban areas.
- Section 6 reviews the smart city applications for public services that are being implemented worldwide, providing comprehensive insights into their benefits, risks, and impacts.

Conclusions and a set of recommendations, addressing the challenges and limitations emerging from the analysis, are outlined at the end of the report.

Methodological approach

This report builds on a mix of quantitative and qualitative data, combining both primary and secondary sources. Quantitative data include primary survey data collected through the *Global Review on Smart City Governance Practices*¹³ (hereinafter referred to as "Global Review"), which was launched in 2022 by UN-Habitat, CAF (Development Bank of Latin America and the Caribbean), and Edinburgh Napier University. Additional secondary data have been collected through desk research from international organizations and companies' databases. All quantitative data sources consulted for this *Outlook* are listed in Annex 1.

To complement the analysis, one-to-one interviews, a review of the literature and an extensive collection of best practices (through a call for input) provided additional information to the study. 155 interviews were conducted with a series of stakeholders, ranging from smart city leaders, industry, academia, and non-profit organizations representatives. The interviews, covering 54 countries across five continents (as detailed in Annex 2), shed light on the challenges and opportunities that people-centred smart city development poses at the local, national, and international levels. Their insights also helped with the interpretation of global and regional trends. The 48 case studies collected from 32 countries enriched the analysis providing novel evidence of successful approaches and applications for the development of people-centred smart cities. A total of 15 case studies are directly included in the report (see Annex 3).

The collection of primary data (via the Global Review survey, interviews, and call for input) had a global reach, as illustrated in Figure 2. However, certain subregions, such as Central Asia and West and Central Africa, were underrepresented in the sample. This gap was mitigated by incorporating complementary secondary data sources, which provided additional insights and evidence from various countries and regional contexts. It should be noted, though, that a limitation of the analysis lies in the fact that some secondary datasets only provided national-level insights rather than city-level details. Nonetheless, feedback from global and stakeholder groups, consulted by UN-Habitat as part of developing the international guidelines on people-centred smart cities, played a crucial role in reviewing and validating the information collected in this study.

Figure 2: Geographic coverage of primary data collection



(Source: author)

A new era for smart cities: focusing on people

Prior to delving into the assessment of people-centred smart cities, it is worth clarifying the scope and perimeter of this report to develop a common understanding of what peoplecentred smart city development entails. In anticipation of the development of international guidelines on people-centred smart cities, we refer to the definitions included in the *Resolution adopted by the UN-Habitat Assembly on 9 June* 2023.¹⁴

In line with the definition adopted by the United for Smart Sustainable Cities (U4SSC), the UN smart city platform coordinated by the Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE), the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) and UN-Habitat¹⁵:

A smart city is an innovative city that uses information and communication technologies and other means to improve quality of life, the efficiency of urban operation and services, and competitiveness, while ensuring that it meets the needs of present and future generations with respect to economic, social, environmental as well as cultural aspects.

Moreover, building on UN-Habitat's Flagship Program on People-Centred Smart Cities, *"a smart city is 'people-centred' when it uses digital technologies in an ethical, inclusive and sustainable way to make sure that no one is left behind"*¹⁶.



SECTION 1. Strategic agendas

To steer and coordinate the development of people-centred smart cities, local governments have defined strategic agendas to set both the overarching orientations and the implementation plans underpinning smart city initiatives. These agendas should be co-designed with all partners involved in smart city development, to agree upon common objectives and shared priorities.

To fully deliver the vision and mission of people-centred smart cities, municipal governments, and their partners are

urged to set a strategic agenda defining both the overarching orientations and the implementation plans steering the development of digital infrastructures and services in alignment with the needs and priorities of urban communities¹⁷. This agenda serves as a compass for all parties involved in smart city initiatives, articulating the objectives and principles driving their design and implementation, and a roadmap to ensure that these objectives and principles are pursued.



Major challenges

- Multiple strategic agendas of relevance for people-centred smart city development coexist, without being fully integrated and aligned.
- Participatory planning processes struggle to effectively include marginalized groups and vulnerable communities.
- Municipal governments struggle to enforce the monitoring frameworks and indices currently available for the evaluation of smart city projects and policies.
- The environmental impacts of smart city projects are the most difficult to assess compared to social and economic outcomes.



Key priorities

- Develop coordination mechanisms and procedures for the integration of local and national smart city agendas.
- Build local capabilities (within and outside the public sector) to sustain participatory planning processes.
- Develop systematic frameworks for both the ex-ante and the ex-post impact assessments of smart city projects and policies.
- Build local capabilities for the collection and analysis of granular, disaggregated data on the multifaceted impacts of people-centred smart cities.

According to the latest data, 69% of municipalities have already adopted either a smart city vision or a smart city plan. Survey results showed that vision statements were the most popular format of strategic agenda, adopted by 61% of the sampled municipalities, as indicated in Figure 3. Strategic plans, instead, were only available in 44% of the cities participating in the study. However, the diffusion of strategic plans was much lower in Africa, where they were adopted by only 21% of the municipalities included in the sample. African municipalities also showed the lowest rate of adoption of vision statements (39%).



Alongside smart city plans and visions, other strategic documents adopted locally may be relevant and influential in the context of people-centred smart cities. The interviews revealed that smart city plans are often an emanation of broader strategic documents setting a vision for the future of the city. Furthermore, municipalities worldwide are increasingly setting plans and objectives for additional strategic areas. For instance, Cocody (Cameroon) has launched a Green City Plan that aims to reduce urban carbon emissions by 70% by 2030¹⁸. Likewise, the *Global Assessment of Responsible AI in Cities* has revealed about 30% of the municipalities have defined their own AI strategies¹⁹. At the national level, smart city strategies have been established in 54% of countries covered by the Global Review. The percentage was higher among Asian participants (75%) while nationwide strategies were not reported by any of the North American respondents. ITU and UN-DESA confirmed the same trends in 2022. According to ITU 69% of the countries worldwide have adopted a national strategy for digital development, but the percentage was lower in the Americas (60%)²⁰. Likewise, UN-DESA indicated that e-government strategies have been adopted by 64% of North American countries against a global average of 81%²¹.

Figure 3: Percentage of municipalities and countries with strategic documents for smart city development



(Source: Global Review, 2022)

The interviewees agreed on the importance of setting a formalized strategic agenda to facilitate smart city development. As remarked by a smart city leader from Bangladesh, without a strategic plan or vision statement, "smart city partners have no common agenda to work together" (Interview 13) and this inevitably affects the levels of engagement and participation of multiple stakeholders, both within and outside the public sector.

Nonetheless, the definition and implementation of strategic agendas remain sometimes an arduous task for municipal governments. Three major challenges emerged from the analysis of primary and secondary data: first, ensuring alignment between national and municipal strategies, second, making the planning processes participatory and truly inclusive, and last, monitoring of execution of implementation plans. Each of these issues is analyzed in detail in the following subsections.

1.1 Aligning national and local strategies

Both the interviews and the literature²² confirmed that the benefits of having a national strategic reference are manifold. First of all, national strategies can offer valuable guidance on a wide array of topical issues, such as data governance, the use of open-source software, and the achievement of environmental goals, thereby favoring a harmonized and consistent approach to such topics at the local level. Additionally, national policies have been praised for "enabling the development of startup ecosystems supporting the design of technological solutions to be used both locally and globally", as noted by an interviewed expert from Tunisia (Interview 141).

Evidence from the Global Review further suggests that the presence of nationwide policies may contribute to streamlining the collaboration between national and municipal actors involved in smart city development. In fact, the coordination between local and national governments was described as effective by 57% of the participants based in countries with nationwide smart city policies, against 39% of those based in countries without such a national reference. However, despite the evident benefits of combining both nationwide and localized approaches to the strategic-making for peoplecentred smart cities, it remains unclear the extent to which national and municipal plans are effectively integrated and aligned in the context of people-centred smart cities.

As shown in Figure 4, 71% of the respondents reported collaboration of their local government with national administrations in the planning of smart city initiatives. Such a collaboration emerged as less frequent in Asian (56%), North American (62%) and Latin American (62%) cities, while it was stronger in African countries (86%). National governments have also been described as involved in the implementation of smart city initiatives in 63% of the sampled municipalities, with a lower incidence in Asia (47%).



Figure 4: Percentage of municipalities where national public organizations are involved in the planning and implementation of smart city initiatives

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

The extent to which local authorities have a say in the design of nationwide strategies remains unclear. The interviews rather emphasized the lack of coordination mechanisms and institutional arrangements for the multilevel strategy-making of people-centred smart city strategies. As a result, nationwide smart city plans tend to be top-down and technology-driven, as they focus primarily on the coordinated experimentation and rollout of digital technologies without consideration of the specific needs of diverse local communities²³.

The *National Urban Policy Program* of UN-Habitat offers a good example for national governments on how peoplecentred approaches can be mainstreamed in the core of urban development. Some interviewees also advocated for the adoption of international plans for people-centred smart cities, to facilitate the sharing of best practices and the harmonization of policy interventions across borders. A good practice in this area is represented by the *Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa*, which included the development of 'technology and innovation cities' among the objectives and actions to boost the digital economy in Africa's Continental Free Trade Area²⁴.

Overall, whereas additional efforts are required to harmonize and coordinate smart city initiatives at national levels, it must be stressed that the strategic agendas set by national governments should always be seen as a complement to the vision and plans set by municipal governments and their stakeholders. This is crucial to ensure that smart city initiatives remain place-based and people-centred. As highlighted by a German municipal leader, it would be detrimental to have "national smart city programs defined by people that don't know the local context and have never dealt with local politics on a small scale" (Interview 87).

Furthermore, both scholars²⁵ and policymakers²⁶ have been endorsing the coordination of smart city plans and initiatives across local authorities belonging to the same province or region. In France, for instance, the *Direction générale des Entreprises - Ministère de l'Économie* has promoted "smart territories" as a distinctive model for the digital transformation of French communities²⁷. French interviewees explained that their municipalities have adopted joint digital roadmaps with other local authorities belonging to the same metropolitan area or province to coordinate the deployment of critical digital infrastructures and adopt harmonized regulations concerning, for example, transport intermodality and citizens' engagement.

This territorial approach is expected to generate synergies in the implementation of digital technologies but has also the potential to reduce existing digital divides between urban and rural areas by enhancing the inclusivity of smart city initiatives. As remarked by an expert from Mauritius, to be people-centred, "smart city solutions should really benefit everybody, not only immediate residents within a predefined boundary" (Interview 103).

1.2 Participatory planning

Smart city scholars and professionals have agreed that the strategic and operational planning of smart city projects should draw on participatory processes, open to and inclusive of all local stakeholders involved in and affected by smart city development. The Global Review has confirmed that this is already a widespread practice worldwide. Out of 128 municipal governments with a smart city plan, only 14% had not involved any external actor in the definition of their strategy. Similarly, only in 19% of the 177 cities with a smart city vision, this strategic guidance has been set up by the municipal governments without any external contribution. This tendency was more frequently reported by Asian and Latin American respondents.

As shown in Figure 5, universities resulted as the most involved actors in the definition of vision statements for smart city development (being cited by 60% of the respondents), but their participation appeared much lower in African (36%) and Asian (40%) cities. Conversely, the involvement of local and non-local enterprises emerged as higher in African and Latin American countries, respectively.



Figure 5: Participation of different stakeholders in the definition of vision statements for smart city development

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

As to citizens and civil society organizations, their contribution to the setting of smart city visions was confirmed by 43% and 40% of the respondents, respectively. The participation of residents was more significant in North America (63%), while Latin American respondents reported the highest level of engagement for civil society organizations (62%). On the contrary, Asian cities showed lower levels of involvement for these actors (23% for residents and 14% for civil society organizations).

Similar patterns emerged on the definition of smart city plans. Universities were the most frequently involved actors (in 62% of the sampled municipalities), but only 50% of the respondents from Africa and Asia listed them among the contributing actors to the strategy-making of local smart city initiatives. African and North American cities showed the highest levels of involvement for local enterprises (83% and 100%, respectively), against a global average of 52% (and Europe lagging behind the other continents, with only 40% of respondents listing local enterprises among the contributors of smart city strategies). The involvement of non-local enterprises was more homogeneous (on average 37%).

The interviews explained that participatory planning relies on a wide range of tools and mechanisms, similar to those utilized by municipal governments to foster the engagement of local stakeholders in the collaborative ecosystem (see Section 4.3). As an example, field visits and face-to-face interactions with local stakeholders were at the core of the participatory process that led to the definition of a smart island plan for South Malekula, an island of Vanuatu²⁸. In Bogota (Colombia), instead, the Mayor's Office leveraged on a virtual assistant, Chatico, to engage more than 140,000 residents in the development of the

District Development Plan 2024-2027. The user-friendliness and accessibility of Chatico, which can be accessed via any smartphone with WhatsApp contributed to the success of this initiative.

AAnother methodology specifically used in the context of smart city planning is participatory budgeting, which allows local stakeholders to propose projects and initiatives for public budget allocation²⁹. According to the *UN-DESA e-government survey*, 31% of the municipalities have already used this tool³⁰, According to the UN-DESA e-government survey, 31% of the municipalities have already used this tool³¹.

Several sources, however, have questioned the inclusivity of the current methods applied for the participatory planning of smart city initiatives. Many interviewees reported that citizens often do not have time to engage in in-person events or are not confident enough to use digital tools for online participatory activities (as further discussed in Section 4.3). A study focusing on participatory budgeting also questioned its effectiveness in fostering the participation of disabled people and members of ethics minorities³². More broadly, the literature has warned against the risk of reducing participatory planning to a formal exercise, with no effective impact on decision-making processes³³. In this context, as stressed by a smart city leader from the US, it becomes crucial to "close the loop", that is, "to inform the residents at the beginning and then at the end and show them how their feedback was used" (Interview 148) to shape local strategies, their implementation and their revisions.

To overcome the limitations of existing approaches to participatory planning, municipalities worldwide are experimenting with novel methods to make participation more appealing to their citizens: these include, for example, citizen science methods, citizen advisory boards, facilitated dialogues, and living labs. Regardless of the tools deployed, local governments should always implement ad-hoc measures to explicitly promote the involvement in strategy-making processes of those groups that are usually excluded, such as migrants and homeless people. As remarked by a German expert, to achieve truly participatory planning, it is fundamental "to integrate all the people that are part of the city, not just the businesses or the civil society" (Interview 75)

1.3 Implementing and monitoring people-centred smart cities

Strategic agendas need to be translated into implementation plans guiding the delivery of smart city projects and ensuring their alignment with the overarching objectives of the city. 55% of the cities partaking in the Global Review declared to have implementation plans in place. As shown in Figure 6, the adoption of formal implementation plans has been more common in Asian municipalities (57%), and less common in African countries (43%). The interviews clarified that these action plans are often structured around thematic areas (e.g., climate change and social inclusion) or sectors (e.g., housing, mobility, and e-government), encompassing multiple projects with their own objectives and roadmaps.

Figure 6 also shows the different extent to which municipalities consider maintenance costs when planning their smart city initiatives. The evidence from the Global Review suggests that cities with a formalized action plan are more likely to properly estimate the maintenance and implementation costs of new technologies: a trend observed globally, although the gap with the cities without formalized plans is broader in Africa and North America. The interviews clarified that these plans could help improve the cost-effectiveness of smart city projects, by ensuring that both upfront and recurring costs are considered when selecting the technological solutions to be implemented.

Figure 6: Percentage of cities with formalized action plans for smart city development and considering maintenance costs in the planning phase



Cities with formal action plans

Consideration of maintenance costs (cities without action plans)

Consideration of maintenance costs (cities with action plans)

(Source: Global Review, 2022).

In general, implementation plans should include clear and consistent guidance for the selection of the technologies and applications to be adopted as part of different smart city projects³⁴. The interviewees confirmed that this is a common approach, although they also expressed doubts about its effectiveness. On the one hand, the criteria set in the plans may ultimately reinforce technological path dependencies, by prioritizing solutions already in use and existing suppliers within the local administration. On the other hand, private partners may still make most of the decisions regarding the technologies to be implemented in specific projects, as contractual agreements do not necessarily align with the orientations and criteria set in the strategic agendas.

The enforcement of implementation plans is an aspect of people-centred smart city development that deserves further scrutiny to fully understand how municipal governments can best leverage these strategic tools. This also calls for an enhancement of monitoring practices and processes in the context of smart cities, which currently remain underdeveloped. Survey data confirmed that only 37% of cities have been monitoring the overall impact of their smart city initiatives.

As shown in Figure 7, based on the Global Review, Latin America wass the only continent where more than half of the sampled municipalities hada monitoring process in place. Conversely, only 39% of the respondents in Europe and North America reported that the impact of smart city initiatives is monitored in their municipalities. The percentage was even lower among African and Asian participants (21% and 35%, respectively). Nevertheless, the survey reassured on the ability of local communities to monitor public decisions on smart city development: overall, 62% of the sampled municipalities confirmed to empower local stakeholders to monitor smart city projects, with a higher incidence in Latin America (72%) and a lower incidence in Africa (43%).





(Source: Global Review, 2022)

The challenges that monitoring smart city plans and projects entails are well debated in the literature³⁵, which has identified both methodological and operational shortcomings hampering the ability of municipal governments to assess the outputs and outcomes of their initiatives. This was confirmed by the interviewees, who mentioned the lack of established metrics, systematic indicators, and granular data as major limitations to the evaluation of smart city projects, aggravated by the lack of data analytics skills within the municipal administration. Furthermore, disclosing the outcomes of smart city projects may sometimes be perceived as risky by municipal leaders and elected officials, discouraging the implementation of rigorous monitoring processes.

According to survey data, monitoring processes cover different types of outcomes, with societal impacts being the most commonly assessed by municipalities (94%), followed by economic (86%) and last, environmental impacts (81%). However, great disparities were observed across the world regions, with environmental impacts being tracked in North American and African by only 40% and 50% of the sampled cities, respectively. In both regions municipalities have prioritized the monitoring of social outcomes, which also appeared as the most likely to be monitored in Asian countries (in 93% of cases, versus 71% for economic benefits and 79% for environmental impacts). Latin America and Europe, instead,showed lower levels of variance. The interviewees further highlighted the risk of overseeing and underestimating the impacts that smart city technologies may have on the environment, thereby urging for the definition of ad-hoc indicators to measure the environmental sustainability and resilience of smart city projects. Indeed, at both national and international levels, public organizations and research institutions have already been developing frameworks and metrics for the assessment of smart city projects: examples include the *OECD Smart City Measurement Framework*³⁶, the standard *ISO37120*³⁷, and the KPIs set by U4SSC, based on the ITU standard Y.4903³⁸.

These frameworks and indices, however, have yet to be enforced locally, as several obstacles to their application remain in place. As highlighted by a municipal expert from Slovakia, "very few people know how to implement these tools to the local level" (Interview 123): this is a consequence of the broader skills gaps observed in the public sector (and further discussed in Section 3.2). Additionally, the interviewees reported that, in most cases, municipal governments and their partners lack harmonized methods for data collection and data analytics, and this undermines the consistency, comparability, and meaningfulness of monitoring and reporting processes.

To ensure rigor and transparency in the evaluation of smart city projects and policies, clear roles and responsibilities for monitoring should be established, along with accountability mechanisms for to make detailed and updated information available to the public. In 83% of the municipalities responding to the Global Review, the administrative units coordinating smart city initiatives (hereinafter, "smart city units") is have also been tasked with monitoring and evaluation responsibilities: a trend observed across all the world regions. The literature has agreed that a centralized monitoring prevents the production of fragmented evaluations built on diverse methods and metrics³⁹. However, the interviewees highlighted that the effectiveness of this approach largely depends on the extent to which smart city units possess the skills and autonomy required to carry out impartial evaluations. These aspects are further examined in Section 3.1.

Alternatively, in some cases the monitoring of smart city initiatives has relied on the independent scrutiny of third parties, either internal or external to the public sector. An example is the committee purposely established by the national government of Brunei to monitor and assess the development of smart city initiatives across the country. Civil society organizations are another key actor in this domain: for instance, in India, local authorities have worked with Janaagraha, a nationwide grassroots movement, to define bespoke metrics to assess the performance of public infrastructures and services⁴⁰.

The academic literature⁴¹ has also suggested that open data platforms could become a powerful tool to enable both internal and external evaluations of smart city initiatives. This is testified by the experience of *De Olho na Metas*, an online platform that uses data from public organizations in Sao Paulo (Brazil) to help civil society track the progress and performance of urban projects⁴². However, as discussed in Section 5.3, the limited data literacy of local stakeholders inhibits their involvement in monitoring processes relying on open data platforms.

A successful example of citizen-led monitoring is rather represented by *Citizen Eye* and *Secret Shopper*, two smartphone applications developed by Aswan City (Egypt). Through the former residents can submit a complaint and then track and assess the interventions put in place by the municipal administration. The latter enables the users of public services to rate their delivery, providing the local governments with real-time insights into the performance of different units and processes. The experience of Aswan City also proves that the engagement of local communities with these monitoring tools largely depends on their perceived privacy and trustworthiness. These issues are further elaborated on in Sections 2.4 and 3.4.

All the monitoring approaches discussed so far consist of ex-post evaluations of outputs and outcomes of smart city projects. Academic research, however, has underlined that people-centred smart cities could also benefit from systematic ex-ante impact assessments, to preemptively estimate the risks and benefits of technological and infrastructural developments⁴³. For instance, Data Protection Impact Assessments have been advocatedas a tool to enhance the fairness and privacy of digital services⁴⁴, although they may not be sufficient to boost the equity and inclusivity of smart cities⁴⁵. Human rights impact assessments can also enhance the transparency, accessibility and inclusivity of digital urban projects⁴⁶, while environmental impact assessments should be performed to assess the environmental impacts of urban digital infrastructures over their lifecycles⁴⁷.

Indeed, recent regulatory decisions, such as the AI Act, further endorse the usage of risk assessments in the context of digital transformations (see Section 2.5). Data Protection Impact Assessments are also mandated by the General Data Protection Regulation of the European Union (EU). Yet concerns were raised among scholars on the implementation of these regulatory measures at a local scale . The economic and technical feasibility of Data Protection Impact Assessments in smart city projects featuring several data streams has been questioned by a recent study focusing on Flemish cities⁴⁸. Other researchers have emphasized that these tools have the potential to enhance the protection of fundamental rights in smart cities, only if members of the local communities, including the most marginalized ones, are involved and consulted in the process to include their diverse perspectives in the evaluation of data practices⁴⁹. Overall, the evidence available suggests that additional guidance is required to improve the enforcement of ex-ante impact assessments in urban contexts and adjust these overarching evaluative frameworks to the local contingencies of people-centred smart cities.

SECTION 2: Policies and regulations

This section reviews current trends in the policymaking of five areas (digital infrastructures, technical standards, data governance, digital human rights, and environmental sustainability) critical for the development of people-centred smart cities.

Alongside traditional national and municipal initiatives to foster the supply of digital infrastructures, cybersecurity is becoming a key priority for policymakers. Cybersecurity laws have been adopted by 71% of the world's countries, but they have been difficult to enforce according to 23% of the municipal governments.

Likewise, local administrations worldwide are struggling to enforce the technical and data standards purposely established to enhance the interoperability of smart city services. Meanwhile, only 51 countries are mandating the use of opensource technologies (with a higher concentration in Europe and the Americas).



Cities worldwide are also finding it difficult to deal with digital rights and ethics of technology. National and international institutions are increasingly intervening in this domain. Meanwhile, 74 cities across the globe have launched 216 initiatives to enhance the fairness and ethical use of Al.

Finally, new regulations and policies are being established to tackle the environmental impact of digital technologies. Consistently, 89% of the smart city initiatives already included environmental objectives, with a lower incidence in African countries.



Major challenges

- Local governments lack the skillset and expertise to enforce complex technical regulations and deal with the ethics of technology.
- Limited coordination among regulators and legislators at different administrative levels results in fragmented policy frameworks.
- Local governments and their partners struggle to enforce existing technical and data standards.
- There is a lack of integration between digital and environmental policies.

Key priorities

- Build local capacity, within and outside the public sector, to tackle the ethical and security challenges posed by emerging technologies.
- Reinforce public oversight over critical digital infrastructures.
- Develop national and international guidance on digital human rights and the ethics of technology..
- Develop national and international guidance on digital human rights and the ethics of technology.
- Harmonize environmental and digital regulations to facilitate the embedding of environmental objectives in people-centred smart cities.

People-centred smart cities are place-based and locally driven but are also inevitably affected by policymaking decisions made at the national or international levels. These decisions are becoming even more crucial as emerging technologies potentially pose new societal, ethical, and environmental threats that could offset their benefits, as further discussed in Sections 5 and 6.

This section presents policy-making trends in five critical areas for the development of people-centred smart cities,

namely regulations and policies for digital infrastructures, technical and data standards, data protection laws and data governance regulations, digital human rights frameworks, and environmental regulations and policies. For each of these areas, we discuss the effects of existing policy and regulatory intervention (or the lack thereof) on both the development of people-centred smart cities and their impact on urban communities.



2.1 Regulating urban digital infrastructures

Primary references for the implementation of digital technologies in urban contexts are the policies and regulations adopted nationally or locally to govern digital infrastructures, such as broadband and sensor networks. According to the ITU, by 2020, 66% of the world nations had already adopted national broadband plans (see Figure 8), whose primary goal is to expand the provision of digital infrastructures and to promote the adoption of digital services among the general population⁵⁰.

These policies often integrate nationwide Information Communications Technology (ICT) plans, aimed at fostering the digital transformation of traditional sectors through the development of the digital economy: such measures are in place in 70% of countries around the globe, based on the latest data made available by the ITU Data Hub⁵¹.

Figure 8: Countries with a national broadband plan



(Source: ITU Data Hub, 2020).

At the local level, municipal authorities have also promoted the development of digital infrastructures through a variety of policy measures. Local regulations incentivizing the reuse of existing poles or ducts and the coordination of engineering works between utility and broadband providers have been recognized as the most cost-effective remedy to expand the supply of broadband in urban contexts⁵². Across the world regions, there have been several cases of municipal governments directly involved in the supply of broadband through the deployment of networks funded and owned by local utilities or other local entities belonging to the public administration⁵³. These initiatives have been praised for expanding the supply of capillary, affordable digital infrastructures in urban areas, thereby contributing to reducing the digital divide⁵⁴. However, they have also been contested for discouraging private investment in digital infrastructures and not being financially sustainable in the long term⁵⁵.

Beyond the specificities of municipal broadband networks, the public control of digital infrastructures has lately returned a central topic in the debate over the regulation of digital transformations⁵⁶. Public control over these facilities is expected to boost their inclusivity and adherence to the needs of local communities, but it is also seen as a way to safeguard democracy and national security, given the strategic role that digital infrastructures have assumed in the political and economic life of all nations⁵⁷.

In 2022, 82% of the world's countries had a public independent regulatory authority overseeing digital infrastructures and ICT markets^{s8}. These authorities have normally been established after the liberalization of the telecommunications sector, safeguarding both market competition and consumers' rights

through the enforcement of non-discrimination principles, transparency requirements and cost-control measures⁵⁹. Lately, a push for the re-nationalization of digital infrastructures has been observed, especially in Europe, in the attempt to obtain technological sovereignty and guarantee public control over critical facilities, such as broadband networks and data centers⁶⁰.

The benefits of state ownership have, however, been questioned by some activists and academics, seeing it as a potential threat to democracy and freedom of expression⁶¹. IIndeed, the latest statistics showed that, between 2016 and 2021, Internet shutdowns have been used by the governments of 74 countries to stop protests and censor online speech⁶². CConsequently, both scholars and non-government organizations have advocated for the creation of communityled digital infrastructures, whose ownership and scrutiny remain within local communities⁶³. International institutions are also increasingly acknowledging the potential of communityowned networks and platforms to boost digital inclusion and address distortions in digital markets, although raising concerns over their security and sustainability⁶⁴.

In general, policymakers at different administrative levels have stressed the issue of digital infrastructures' security for people-centred smart cities (as explained in Section 5). This has resulted into the elaboration of dedicated regulations. Data from ITU⁶⁵ showed that, in 2022, 71% of the world countries had enforced cybersecurity laws (see Figure 9) concerning multiple areas, such as cybercrime (in 62% of the cases), child online protection (50%), network security (49%), critical infrastructure protection (48%) and online frauds (45%).



Figure 9: World nations with cybersecurity legislations or regulations

(Source: ITU Data Hub, 2022).

However, the implementation of these laws appears to be still difficult for 38% of African respondents to the Global Review, while North American participants were the most confident with the enforcement of cybersecurity laws and regulations (13%). African (36%) and Latin American (45%) cities also appeared to be the least likely to include specific requirements on cybersecurity as part of their procurement processes, which instead emerged as a common practice in 65% of the sampled cities. When only countries with national cybersecurity laws and regulations are considered, the percentage of cities including cybersecurity requirements in procurement processes surges to 77%, globally, and it also increases significantly in Latin America (59%) and Africa (62%), although both regions still lag behind compared to the rest of the world.

Overall, the evidence available shows that policymaking for digital infrastructures remains heterogeneous worldwide, although a convergence can be observed with regard to cybersecurity policies and the adoption of national broadband plans. A one-size-fits-all approach for the regulation of these infrastructures would be anyway hardly achievable and is not recommendable, given the variability of local contexts, even within the same country. However, providing overarching guidance to local administrators is of paramount importance to harmonize regulatory interventions and facilitate the successful implementation of people-centred smart cities. In the words of a smart city expert from Malaysia, "some projects cannot scale up until we actually resolve the policy and regulatory matters that reside between different public authorities" (Interview 102).

2.2 Technical and data standards

Technical and data standards, defined as formal documents outlining the specifications and operation of agreed technical solutions and data-driven applications, play a critical role in facilitating the deployment of digital infrastructures and services in urban areas. These standards enable technological and data interoperability, reduce the risk of vendor lock-in and help lower the maintenance and operational costs of urban digital services. As of August 2024, the EU Observatory for ICT Standardization listed 22 standards specifically established internationally to norm the design and monitoring of smart city technologies⁶⁶. These included, for example, a comprehensive set of indicators defined by the IEC and ISO to assess the adoption and use of ICT in urban environments⁶⁷ (ISO/IEC 30146:2019), and the Recommendation ITU-T Y.4905, which provides a holistic impact assessment framework to evaluate the socio-economic and environmental impact of digital innovation in cities68.

Alongside these global standardization bodies, multiple local, national and international initiatives are promoting technical standards for the interoperability of smart city services and infrastructures. Since 2015, several municipalities across Europe, South America, Asia, and Oceania have joined the Open and Agile Smart Cities (OASC) network, whose mission is to develop technical specifications and practical capabilities for the adoption of minimal interoperability mechanisms⁶⁹. Similarly, standardization organizations from different

regions (Japan, China, the EU, the US, Korea, and India) have teamed up to set a global standard for machine-to-machine communications across multiple application domains, including smart cities⁷⁰.

Nonetheless, 73% of the Global review espondents indicated the lack of technical standards as a significant barrier to developing people-centred smart city development, especially in regions such as Latin America (81%) and North America (92%). Although existing standards have been beneficial for managing smart city initiatives, only 17% of the sampled municipalities found it easy to enforce technological interoperability, with North America reporting the highest difficulty (77%). Interviews further clarify that proprietary solutions often impede interoperability, as these solutions are not designed for integration with third-party systems. Indeed, countries with policies and regulations promoting open-source and interoperable technologies are still a minority. According to the *Government Open-Source Software Policies* repository curated by the Center for Strategic and International Studies, as of 2022, only 51 nations had enacted laws and regulations on the use of open-source technologies and 38 had made it compulsory to prioritize open-source technologies over proprietary solutions in public procurement. As shown in Figure 10, the adoption of open-source regulations remains uneven across the world regions. In Africa, Kenya stands out as the only country to have adopted such legislation





(Source: author, using data from Centre for Strategic and International Studies, 2022)

Timeliness and complexity of standardization processes emerged as another major issue from the interviews . Creating global standards is a protracted process and implementing them at national and municipal levels can be even more challenging. According to a smart city expert from Morocco, "the challenge is to find the right alignment between the local genius and international standards for smart cities" (Interview 108). Coordination among various standardization bodies was also cited as a concern, particularly in developing data standards crucial for data sharing and interoperability in people-centred smart cities. Multiple initiatives have already been launched globally to bridge existing gaps in the standardization of data formats. The Open Data Standards Directory⁷¹ curates a repository of data standards developed by diverse local, national and international institutions in different domains, from real-time transit to road construction and building permits. The Open Geospatial Consortium⁷² is devoted to the design of standards for various types of geospatial data. The Open Contracting Partnerships⁷³ has developed data standards for public procurement in order to facilitate the sharing and transparency of information on public contracts. Nevertheless, 30% of cities partaking in the Global Review admitted s that no data standards are in use within their smart city initiatives. The incidence was significantly higher among North American participants (62%), while Latin American municipalities emerged as being the most likely (53%) to enforce such standards. The *Global Assessment of Responsible AI in cities* provided even more negative figures on the use of data standards, which have reportedly been adopted by only 32% of the municipalities included in their survey.

Interviewees emphasized the need for policies that stimulate data sharing and ensure that data collected by different partners in smart city initiatives is interoperable and accessible. They called for the creation of standard templates and protocols to provide a legal and practical framework for data sharing between municipalities and their partners. These efforts should aim to harmonize local practices rather than impose uniform standards globally. As a national expert from the US stated, "we can build international level standards but with some level of alignment around local values and local cultures" (Interview 154).

2.3 Data protection and data governance

As most smart city services rely, at least to some extent, on personal and non-personal data from citizens and public spaces, it has become of paramount importance to ensure that the collection, storage, access and usage of such data are aligned with the principles and rules set by data protection and data governance regulations⁷⁴. The development of these policies is, however, heterogeneous at the global level., as shown in Figure 11.

According to the Commission Nationale de l'Informatique et des Libertés (CNIL)⁷⁵, as of 2023, there were still 58 countries without any data protection law: the majority of these were small island developing states (SIDS) in the Caribbean and Oceania, and low-income countries in Africa and Asia. Furthermore, the CNIL dataset evidenced that most African, Asian, and North American countries have approved a data protection law but have yet to establish an independent authority to oversee its implementation.



Figure 11: National adoption of data protection laws and authorities

(Source: author, using data from CNIL, 2024)

With regard to the application of data protection laws at municipal levels, the Global Review provided a mixed picture. According to 35% of participants, the application of such regulations did not entail significant challenges, but the percentage of respondents who found it easy to enforce data protection laws dropped to 14% among African cities (as shown in Figure 12). The interviews clarified that the red tape imposed by data protection laws is particularly burdensome for municipal governments, especially when they are understaffed and lack the resources to hire professionals with expertise in this domain. Indeed, the Global Review confirmed that smaller cities, on average, struggle more to comply with data protection laws.

Figure 12: Percentage of municipalities that find it easy to enforce data protection in smart cities



(Source: Global Review, 2022).

Data governance is another crucial policy area for peoplecentred smart cities that remainSunderdeveloped from a regulatory standpoint. Only recently have national and regional institutions started to address this issue through legislation. The European Commission *Data Governance Act*⁷⁶, approved in 2022, regulate and incentivize the sharing of personal data while safeguarding the rights of data subjects. In the same year, Brazil federal government incorporated specific provisions on data governance as part of its broader strategies for digital transformation⁷⁷. Overall, policy interventions on this matter remain limited worldwide, with only 5.6% of nations having a data governance policy as of 2024, according to the ITU⁷⁸.

In the absence of general frameworks for data governance, some municipalities have taken the initiative to establish their own rules. The **UN-DESA e-government survey** reported that, as of 2024, 33% of their sampled municipalities had open data policies. Such policies were also in use in 56% of municipalities covered by the Global Review, with a higher incidence in North America and Latin America where they had been adopted by 92% and 66% of the sampled municipalities, respectively. Their presence, instead, appeared more limited in African (39%) and Asian cities (47%).

Despite these global advancements, both the existing literature and the interviews highlighted the urgent need for more comprehensive policy efforts across different administrative levels. Strengthening the enforcement of current regulations and promoting equitable data-sharing practices remain top priorities. Scholars have called on national and international regulators to address emerging challenges requiring additional safeguards, such as the handling and sharing of non-personal data and the governance of data utilized to train and sustain Alpowered systems. Furthermore, interviewees emphasized that national governments should bolster their support to municipal governments, which often face difficulties in enforcing data protection and governance regulations. This could include creating ad-hoc training programs to build the capacity of data professionals within local administrations.

2.4 Human rights and ethical considerations

Besides the technical regulations and standards concerning digital infrastructures and data, the development of peoplecentred smart cities requires policy and regulatory interventions to promote and safeguard human rights in the digital space. Such interventions have become even more urgent since the advent of new technologies, such as AI and facial recognition, which pose new ethical and societal challenges. In this context, ethics is a useful vehicle to flag and address potential harms and unintended consequences concerning the use of emerging technologies in contexts where regulation is still lacking.

On this matter, the Global Review provided quite a worrying picture, with only 25% and 16% of the respondents declaring it easy to comply with digital human rights and ethics of technology, respectively. No significant differences were observed across the world regions, except for Northern American countries where digital rights and ethics were described as difficult to enforce by 62% and 58% of respondents, respectively. The survey data also evidenced the persistence of legal and regulatory voids in this area, especially in North America and in low-income countries. Likewise, it emerged that, across the world regions, ethics of technology and human rights considerations have yet to be fully integrated into procurement processes, as this is still an emerging policy field. The interviewees lamented the limited awareness of these crucial ethical and legal matters, both within and outside the public administration. Municipal governments as well as local communities were described as often unfamiliar with these concepts and not fully equipped to assess and mitigate the negative impacts of digital technologies on human rights. The lack of clear, coherent policy guidance has made it even more difficult to instruct effective measures and to properly address these issues in the strategies and operational plans underpinning smart city development.

Nonetheless, worldwide we are witnessing a surge of initiatives to reinforce digital human rights and promote an ethical use of digital technologies. These practices are pioneered at both local and national levels, offering a wide range of promising approaches that can be integrated into national or international legislation, as well as translated and adapted to local contexts. For instance, the *Global Assessment of Responsible AI in Cities* reported that 36% of the municipalities included in their sample have defined ethical guidelines for the use of AI.

Privacy is certainly the area where legislators and regulators have been the most proactive, drawing on the data protection laws discussed in Section 2.3. Additional measures have recently been adopted to address privacy concerns associated with the proliferation of sensor networks and surveillance technologies (see Section 5.2). The Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) has developed a toolkit to protect human rights in the context of peaceful protests, providing guidance for law enforcement officials on the compliance of digital technologies with human rights legislation and ethical principles. This document explicitly bans the use of facial recognition and biometric identification technologies to track individuals⁷⁹. Likewise, the European Commission *AI Act* has identified facial recognition and biometric identification as high-risk AI systems subject to exante fundamental rights impact assessments⁸⁰.

Protecting privacy and boosting transparency have also been prioritized by the municipal and national interventions undertaken so far to enhance the fairness and ethical use of Al. As of October 2024, the Atlas of Urban Al⁸¹ counted 216 such initiatives, spread across 74 cities (mostly in Europe, North America, and South-East Asia as shown in Figure 13). Privacy protection was central to 107 of them, while 40 also aimed to enforce fairness and non-discrimination principles. As an example, Vicente López (Argentina) has adopted an AI Ethical Principles Declaration that sets out a list of guidelines for the implementation of AI in the city, emphasizing the protection of equality and inclusion⁸². In Dubai, a toolkit has been created to guide the development of ethical AI-based applications, identifying fairness, transparency, accountability, and explainability as core principles for the design and implementation of AI systems⁸³.



Figure 13: Cities that have adopted initiatives to rule the development of AI

Source: Atlas of Urban AI, 2024

Additionally, a growing number of local and national initiatives are attempting to enhance the transparency and explainability of AI systems and algorithms, in order to make these technologies more accountable and respectful of human rights. Algorithmic transparency is at the core of a project coordinated by the Eurocities' Digital Forum Lab and involving seven European cities (Amsterdam, Barcelona, Brussels, Eindhoven, Mannheim, Rotterdam, Sofia): it aims to identify what information municipalities should provide to their citizens to enable their understanding of the usages and purposes of algorithms within the municipal administration⁸⁴. Similar initiatives have been launched by the government of the Netherlands⁸⁵, as well as the Asociacion Espanola de la Economia Digital⁸⁶.

Finally, increasing regulatory efforts are being directed towards the protection of human rights in online spaces through the enforcement of individual freedoms in cyberspace and the repression of online antisocial behaviors. Holistic legislation and guidelines to govern digital markets⁸⁷ and digital services⁸⁸ have been adopted by the EU and intergovernmental organizations, such as the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)⁸⁹ and the International Labor Organization (ILO)⁹⁰. Additional measures have been defined to address specific issues affecting the users of digital platforms, including, online speech⁹¹, the transparency of online intermediation services92, and the proliferation of misinformation⁹³. As of 2022, ITU also counted 85 countries with child online protection laws, 105 with specific norms on cybercrime, and 52 regulating online gambling and gaming⁹⁴. These pieces of legislation are of crucial relevance in the context of people-centred smart cities, as they are pivotal to reinforcing participatory democracy and safeguarding the transparency, safety and fairness of online interactions.

Equally important are those policy measures, adopted at different administrative levels, which aim to boost the inclusivity and accessibility of online services. The World Wide Web Consortium is at the forefront of enhancing digital accessibility by developing standards and supporting materials for the design of inclusive technologies⁹⁵. Nonetheless, the *UN-DESA e-government survey* revealed that only 5% of city portals included in their sample are aligned with these standards⁹⁶. The need for equality impact assessments in smart cities has also been emphasized by recent research, calling for the application of intersectional perspective and disaggregated data to evaluate the potential impact of digital technologies on different groups of users⁹⁷.

Overall, digital human rights are being tackled from different angles and through a variety of regulatory and policy interventions, but these remain fragmented and fail to provide a coherent, holistic framework applicable to a global scale. Furthermore, the lack of coordination between local, national and international decision-makers risks broadening the gaps already existing within and across countries with regard to the protection of digital rights and ethical use of technology. The interviewees, therefore, urged for the definition of global guidelines to set universal principles, which can be later translated into local contexts and adapted to the local circumstances. To sustain this process, municipal governments can already rely on knowledge-exchange networks, such as the Cities *Coalition for Digital Rights*, which are playing a pivotal role in supporting the capacity-building of local authorities and favoring the dissemination of best practices in the policymaking of digital human rights.

2.5 Environmental regulations and policies

National and local agendas around smart city development are also influenced by policies and regulations, adopted at different administrative levels, to protect the environment and promote more sustainable modes of production and consumption. Two major trends can be observed worldwide. On the one hand, smart city projects are increasingly conceived and designed as public interventions to mitigate the effects of climate change and minimize the environmental impact of urban activities⁹⁸. On the other hand, policy measures are being adopted to prevent or counteract the potentially detrimental consequences that digital transformation processes may have on the environment, for example, in terms of the production of e-waste, rise in the consumption of power⁹⁹ and water¹⁰⁰, and growth of mining and extraction activities¹⁰¹.



The first trend is well documented in the Global Review, wherein 89% of the respondents declared that, at least to some extent, environmental objectives are already included in the smart city plans of their municipalities. As shown in Figure 14, though, significant differences can be observed within and across the world regions. 100% of the participants from North America reported environmental objectives to be pursued by the smart city initiatives of their municipalities, compared to 64% of the African respondents. At the same time, within North America, in 23% of the cases, environmental objectives were embedded in smart city initiatives only to a small extent. Europe, instead, emerged as the region where smart city strategies are more likely to give high importance to environmental outcomes.





(Source: Global Review, 2022)

Multiple sources agree that the integration and fulfillment of environmental objectives within smart city projects are largely driven by the presence of overarching environmental policies setting clear goals and directions in this domain¹⁰². The interviewees noted that, once climate and environment are embedded as key policy priorities in citywide or national strategies, all parties involved in smart city development also "have to look at how their decisions in the long term will affect the different climate issues and energy use", as remarked by a municipal expert from Estonia (Interview 63). A recent academic study focusing on China has further demonstrated that sustainable urban innovation flourishes in metropolitan areas where environmental policies and digital policies co-exist and complement each other¹⁰³.

Indeed, the integration of digital and green policies is an ongoing but slow process. Of the 1,159 initiatives listed in the portal on Science, Technology, and Innovation Policies for Net Zero¹⁰⁴, only 8% were explicitly linked to digital transformation and 1% specifically focused on the implementation of smart cities. These initiatives are mostly taking place in Europe or

in ASEAN countries, two regions where the interplay between digital and green transitions has been at the center of recent key policy decisions, such as the *European Green Deal*¹⁰⁵ and the *EU-Asean Global Gateway*¹⁰⁶.

Additional guidance from international organizations could ultimately help emerging economies forge new policies and regulations recognizing the strict interplay between green and digital transitions. Global institutions could also contribute to reaching a higher level of harmonization in the regulation of environmental impacts of digital transformation processes, which are currently the objects of national and local interventions with little or no coordination at a international level.

According to the Global E-waste Monitor, as of 2023, 81 countries had implemented laws and regulations on e-waste, but the number of nations adopting such policies every year is reducing¹⁰⁷. European countries are currently at the forefront of regulating e-waste; an example is the law approved by the French Parliament in 2020 to promote the circular economy,



which also banned the planned obsolescence of technological products¹⁰⁸. Additional policies have been adopted at the EU level, such as *the Right-to-repair Directive*¹⁰⁹ and the *EU-wide scheme for rating the energy performance of data centers*¹¹⁰. The former aims to reduce e-waste by obliging manufacturers to provide spare parts and repair information, while the latter identifies a set of sustainability indicators to assess the energy efficiency and climate impact of data centers.

Again, these policy interventions represent important steps forward but may not be sufficient to provide a cohesive approach to assessing and regulating the environmental impact of digital technologies at local, national and international level. This affects also the evaluation of smart city projects, as it emerged from the Global Review, where one-third of the sampled municipalities admitted that the environmental impact of their smart city initiatives is not monitored (see Section 1.3 for further details). Without a proper monitoring system in place, it proves hard to appraise the contribution of smart city projects to climate change mitigation and other environmental challenges, with the risk of undermining the vision driving people-centred smart cities. Having said so, people-centred smart cities are showing their potential as a means to enact environmental policies and promote sustainable practices. For example, UNECE¹¹¹ has noted that more and more local communities and non-governmental organizations are developing their own smartphone applications and digital tools to collect data on environmental issues and use such information to advocate for their right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment, a principle recently recognized by the United Nations General Assembly¹¹².

Ŷ

SECTION 3: Public sector capacity and leadership

Worldwide, municipal governments are orchestrating the development of people-centred smart cities in collaboration with numerous local and non-local partners. To strengthen their leadership, they have often established dedicated entities (hereinafter, smart city units) to oversee and coordinate smart city projects. According to the Global Review, smart city units were in place in 56% of the sampled cities (with a lower incidence in Africa and Asia).

Scholars and practitioners generally agree that these units are pivotal to overcoming organizational silos within the public sector and boosting the implementation of smart city projects, by streamlining the coordination among multiple partners. Nonetheless, their effectiveness may be undermined by broader resource constraints in the municipal administration.

Across the world regions, city budgets and national funding remain the primary sources of funding for smart city projects. Attracting private investment has proved difficult so far, potentially due to a lack of sustainable business models for smart city services, as emerged from the interviews. Public organizations also face digital skill gaps, as highlighted by 70% of the respondents to a global survey from Deloitte. In this context, the contribution of academic institutions is crucial to support the capability-building efforts of local administrations.

Organizational culture is equally important to reinforce public sector leadership in urban projects. 42% of the Chief Information Officers responding to a survey from Gartner identified resistance to change as a primary barrier to the implementation of digital solutions in the public sector. Alongside multiple initiatives to nurture a culture of innovation among public employees, the entrepreneurial mindset of political leaders emerged from the interviews as a major driver of cultural change within the local administration.



Major challenges

- Skills shortages in the public sector remain a global issue and are destined to grow, as emerging technologies pose new technical, ethical, and societal challenges.
- Budget constraints in the public sector and the lack of sustainable business models undermine the economic feasibility of smart city projects.
- Resistance to change discourages public organizations from embracing a culture of innovation.

Key priorities

- Partner with educational institutions to develop ad-hoc curricula and lifelong training for public employees.
- Promote inclusive education programs to increase diversity within public employment.
- Develop new funding programs and fiscal policies to sustain smart city projects in the long term.
- Build a culture of digital innovation that is people-centred and aligned with public values.
There is widespread agreement, among researchers and practitioners, that the development of people-centred smart cities should be led by municipal governments, acting as orchestrators of the collaborative ecosystems (see Section 4) in which smart city services and infrastructures are designed and implemented¹¹³. To successfully exert their leadership, however, municipal governments are required to adapt and

renovate their internal organization, with a focus on their structure, capabilities, financial resources, and culture. The following sections discuss how each of these four dimensions is affecting people-centred smart city development at the global level, and how they are being tackled both locally and nationally.



3.1 Administrative structures and processes

To effectively govern smart city transitions, municipal governments worldwide have renovated their structures and processes to become more agile, efficient, and effective in the governance of urban innovation. This has usually entailed the establishment of dedicated entities in charge of coordinating and supervising smart city projects across multiple stakeholders and application areas, in close collaboration with existing (digital) policy departments. 56% of the participants in the Global Review declared that their municipality already had such an entity (often referred to as 'smart city unit'), although the percentage dropped to 36% in African countries and 40% among Asian respondents, as shown in Figure 15.



Figure 15: Percentage of cities with a smart city unit

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

In 71% of cases, the functions of the smart city unit have been assigned to a pre-existing municipal department or agency, a trend observed across the world regions with no significant differences. The interviews further clarified that the Information Technology (IT) and Urban Planning departments are the most likely to be tasked with this role.

Alternatively, 25% reported that, in their municipality, the functions of the smart city unit have been assigned to a new organizational entity still belonging to the local administration. These entities have taken the form of either cross-functional teams (6%) or purposely established municipal departments (19%). As shown in Figure 15, the former became more common in African cities. For instance, interviewees from Kumasi (Ghana) and Durban (South Africa) reported that in their metropolitan areas, the coordination of smart city projects is the responsibility of working groups including managers and officers from different municipal departments. Conversely, the establishment of new departments acting as smart city units emerged as a more widespread practice in European municipalities it is the case, for example, of Sofia (Bulgaria) where smart city projects are under the remit of a new municipal structure specifically created to oversee and manage digital transition processes. Some European cities, such as Porto (Portugal) and Genova (Italy), have followed a third approach, which consists of delegating the coordination of smart city projects to a multi-stakeholder association formed by the municipal government, and multiple partners from the private sector, academia and the civil society.

A crucial aspect to be considered in the configuration of smart city units is who these organizational entities respond to. From the interviews, it emerged that they are usually under the remit of apical managerial positions within the municipal government (for example, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Innovation Officer, as observed in many US cities) or even to the mayor or deputy mayor (as in the case of Bogota, Colombia, and Gdynia, Poland). In line with previous studies¹¹⁴, interviewees have agreed that establishing a direct and strict connection between the smart city unit and the leading figures within the municipal government is vital to building political consensus around people-centred smart cities and ensuring their successful development over time. In the words of a municipal expert from Portugal, "when you have municipal leaders that understand innovation, it is easier to make things happen because this creates the conditions so that all the municipality departments and all the municipal entities work together to reach better results" (Interview 94).

Overall, the gualitative and guantitative data underpinning this study have evidenced the variety of configurations, functions and responsibilities that smart city units may assume, even within the same country. This variance largely reflects either local circumstances (such as the human and financial resources available within the municipal government, and the vision of smart city development shared by local stakeholders) or path dependencies in public administrations (for instance, pre-existing distributions of powers among municipal departments, or long-standing governance arrangements in place between municipal, regional and national governments). Therefore, prescribing a specific approach for structuring and governing these coordinating entities would probably backfire, as smart city units inevitably need to be tailored to the specific needs, objectives and contexts shaping the development of people-centred smart cities.

Nonetheless, data confirms that establishing a smart city unit is fundamental to ensure accountability, coordination, and ultimately improve the orchestration and oversight of smart city projects. In addition to the positive experiences reported in the literature¹¹⁵ and discussed by our interviewees, the Global Review has confirmed that the municipalities with a smart city unit clearly show higher levels of cooperation. Within the sample, the coordination among different municipal units was described as effective by 77% of the respondents whose municipality has set up a smart city unit, with no significant differences across the world regions. This percentage, instead, dropped to 56% of the municipalities without such an entity. Likewise, the active participation of municipal departments in smart city projects was 15% lower in the local authorities without a smart city unit. It must be noted, though, that these discrepancies were more significant in some regions than others. Among African and North American respondents, the levels of participation and coordination were more than twice as high in the presence of smart city units, while the contrast was less wide in the other regions.

At the same time, many cities expressed concerns about the resources available to their smart city units: 40% of them indicated that these entities did not have sufficient financial resources, while 46% also deemed their human resources as suboptimal. North American participants expressed the most pessimistic views, while Asian respondents appeared less concerned about the resources available to the smart city units of their municipality.

The survey data also showed that these resource constraints affect cities of all sizes. The interviews clarified that in small municipalities the limited allocation of human resources to smart city units may be driven by efficiency considerations. As noted by a Dutch expert, "in a small municipality, if you only have 500 full-time equivalent members of staff, you are not going to spend one full-time equivalent on a smart city officer" (Interview 111). In larger cities, instead, the limited resources available to smart city units reflect the broader skill shortages within the municipal administration, as further discussed in Section 3.2.

3.2 Competences and capacity needs

Skills gaps within the public sector are a well-known challenge to the development of people-centred smart cities. It must be underlined that these initiatives do not only require technical and managerial competencies: many commentators have emphasized the need for municipal governments to hire qualified staff with complementary skills and expertise. For instance, the *Digital Competency Framework* by UNESCO has identified three competency domains for civil servants to effectively deal with digital transformation and AI: digital planning and design, data use and governance, and digital management and execution¹¹⁶. The Urban Learning Centre¹¹⁷ has added community engagement, sensemaking, foresight, and monitoring competencies to its list of critical skills for urban innovation.

As shown in Figure 16, 88% of the respondents to the Global Review have confirmed that skill gaps within the local administration are, at least to some extent, a constraint to smart city development in their municipality. African respondents were the most concerned, with 64% of them reporting skills shortages as a major constraint always or most of the time. Conversely, although 87% of European and 92% of North American cities included in the sample identified skills shortages as a barrier to smart city development, only 27% and 31% of them, respectively, have dealt with such a challenge with a regular frequency.



Figure 16: Percentage of municipalities experiencing skill shortages as a barrier to smart city development

(Source: Global Review, 2022).

These figures are in line with a survey of government officials conducted by Deloitte, wherein 70% of the participants shared the view that public sector organizations are lagging behind private organizations in terms of digital capabilities¹¹⁸. Additional insights on the extent and nature of these skills gaps can be derived from a recent study conducted by the OECD¹¹⁹, which identified digital skills, ethics or integrity, teamwork, and communication as the main learning and development priorities for non-managerial civil servants. When focusing on senior managers in the public sector, leadership competencies emerged as the top priority, followed by digital skills, change management, ethics, and innovation.

Regarding the implementation of AI in urban contexts, the *Global Assessment of Responsible AI* recently conducted by UN-Habitat has highlighted significant skill shortages in awareness of AI risks, model development skills, and knowledge of AI and data regulations among municipalities. Such AI-related skill shortages were reported by 72% of the respondents, with a higher incidence in Africa and Latin America.

The interviews shed further insights into the causes of these capability gaps. The lack of advanced competencies within the public sector was often associated with budget constraints, uncompetitive salaries compared to the private sector, and lengthy, rigid recruitment processes that make it difficult for municipal governments to attract and retain professional experts. This issue is particularly severe for smaller municipalities: as highlighted by a smart city expert from Israel, "small cities are not able to hire high-level or good quality staff because the salary levels that they can offer are very low due to their size" (Interview 33).

The mainstream mindset within the public sector was also cited as an obstacle to capacity building, as municipal staff may not have enough incentive and time to engage with continuous learning and development: indeed, 19% of the respondents to the Global Review agreed that their municipal government does not provide its staff with sufficient opportunities to improve their capability to manage smart city initiatives (with no significant differences across the world regions). Finally, the skill shortages observed within the public sector arguably reflect broader societal challenges, as ongoing technological advancements make it challenging for educational institutions to provide adequate training and up-todate curricula.

Nonetheless, the aforementioned study by the OECD showed that public sector organizations are engaging with a plurality of tools to deliver capability-building programs. Almost the totality of the respondents to their survey have reported that online or in-person training is being provided, along with regular seminars. eLearning platforms and mentorship programs were also in use in more than 80% of cases, while job shadowing programs and mobile learning apps were utilized in less than half of the organizations partaking in this study. The same survey has highlighted that about 40% of the OECD member states have no strategy for reskilling within the public sector, although more than 10% have training programs and official guidelines for the reskilling of public employees.

The interviews have also provided evidence of promising practices to address the existing skills gap in the public sector, by either enhancing the attractiveness of public employment or expanding the capabilities of existing staff. The former category includes graduate programs purposely designed to attract young professionals with advanced skills (as experimented in the Netherlands by the government of the province of Gelderland) or joint projects with academic institutions that enable local administrations to, at least temporarily, access the expertise of early-career researchers. As an example, a smart city leader from the US explained that "two research fellows from Harvard are working with our procurement team to revamp our procurement practices, and this has been an immense help to develop new pilot programs in a way that abides by procurement policies" (Interview 148). In addition to addressing existing skills shortages, these measures could help mitigate the age divide existing within the public sector as worldwide young people represent only 6% of the public sector workforce (while they account for 16% of employees in the private sector)¹²⁰.

In addition to these ongoing efforts to attract skilled professionals and upskill public employees, some interviewees predicted that the diffusion of no-code and low-code solutions could further contribute to mitigating skills constraints in the public sector. Thanks to their intuitive and standardized interfaces, these solutions are expected to reduce the need for advanced technical competencies. Their potential is testified by the experience of the government of Kobe (Japan). During the COVID-19 pandemic, the local administration applied a lowcode development approach to rapidly launch a new integrated dashboard and an automated phone inquiry line. Both services enabled the local community to promptly access up-to-date information, resulting in a 90% reduction in calls to the city's contact center¹²¹.

Nevertheless, the ethical and societal challenges posed by the advent of AI and other emerging technologies will still require local governments to expand their competencies and expertise in non-technical domains, such as the governance and protection of personal and non-personal data. Accordingly, any effort to boost the know-how and competencies of public sector employees cannot succeed without the development of a long-term vision and innovative culture sustaining lifelong learning approaches, both within and outside the public sector.

In particular, to sustain a people-centred digital transformation of cities, it is crucial to promote STEM education among those

demographics traditionally excluded from these careers, such as women and ethnic minorities¹²². Likewise, it is fundamental to address gender and racial biases still existing in labor markets, especially for managerial and leadership roles. As evidenced by the latest *Gender Equality in Public Administration* report by the University of Pittsburgh, although women averagely count for 46% of the public sector workforce, only 30% of top leaders and senior managers in the public sector are female¹²³.

3.3 Financing mechanisms

Alongside adequate human capital, the development of peoplecentred smart cities also requires sufficient financial resources to cover the capital investment and operational expenses associated with the design, delivery, and maintenance of digital infrastructures and digital services. The Global Review has revealed that city budgets remain the predominant sources of funding. As shown in Figure 17, 65% of the respondents declared that their smart city initiatives most largely rely on municipal resources, with a higher incidence in North American (92%) and Latin American (77%) countries. In African countries, the weight of the municipal budget in funding people-centred smart cities was lower than the average (50%). National funders have also been indicated as a significant source of capital in 46% of cases, although this percentage drops to approximately 30% if we only consider African and North American countries. Furthermore, intergovernmental organizations were described as significant sources of funding by about one-third of the respondents, but none of the Northern American respondents identified them as crucial funders for smart city projects.

From the interviews, it emerged that the reliance on diverse funding sources largely reflects path dependencies in the financing of local administrations. Accordingly, smart city projects in some European cities have benefitted from the cohesion funds that the EU allocates to support regional development. In African municipalities, instead, crucial has been the contributions of international donors, including both intergovernmental agencies and philanthropic organizations. Nationwide funding schemes for smart city development have been common in Asia, while most North and Latin American cities have struggled to obtain financial support from their federal governments.



Figure 17: Percentage of municipalities relying largely on funding from city budgets, national agencies, private investors, and intergovernmental organizations

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

Private capitals were identified as a prominent source of funding by only 13% of the respondents, but their incidence tripled among Latin American municipalities (32%), as outlined in Figure 17. Such a limited reliance on private capital can only partially reassure the independence and impartiality of smart city initiatives. The literature has underlined that corporate vendors still exert a significant influence on smart city development, given their market power in the supply chain of technological solutions¹²⁴. About 25% of respondents to the Global Review confirmed this, reporting that municipal governments still find it difficult to ensure that the interests of technology providers align with the development needs of their cities. As remarked by a municipal expert from the US, "many companies tend to see the community as a business" (Interview 150), hence their priority remains to sell technological solutions regardless of whether these are effectively addressing the needs of local users.

Consequently, the survey data on the distribution of funding sources could be interpreted as further evidence that taxpayers currently bear most of the costs associated with smart city projects, although large corporations hugely benefit from citywide deployments of digital technologies and services. In people-centred smart cities, these considerations assume even higher relevance, given their commitment to prevent and discourage extractive business models potentially undermining the privacy of end-users.

About 24% of the survey participants also lamented that national and international funders may set conditions that negatively influence the planning and/or implementation of smart city initiatives. As clarified by the interviewees, the resources made available by these funders are often tied to the execution of temporary projects or limited to the implementation of infrastructural investment and predefined technological solutions. As a result, municipal governments still need to provide for the long-term operational expenses associated with digital services and infrastructures, including maintenance and upgrade costs, which are often overlooked in the planning phases.

These extra costs are to be covered by municipal budgets, and this raises additional challenges to the development of people-centred smart cities. Not only has the funding available to local governments drastically reduced worldwide as a consequence of ongoing austerity policies¹²⁵ but existing rules on public spending and public budgeting have also emerged as a constraint to urban innovation projects (as reported by 25% of the respondents to the Global Review). In particular, the interviewees lamented the excessive red tape associated with public procurement, which inevitably entails additional costs for municipal governments. As explained by a smart city leader from Spain, local authorities have "to justify and verify all the expenses they make, and this requires a lot of time and resources" (Interview 129).

To overcome these ongoing issues in the financing of people-centred smart cities, a change of paradigm would be necessary. Rather than relying on piecemeal funding schemes, these initiatives would benefit from comprehensive long-term funding programs informed by wide-ranging and forward-looking visions. A good example is the *Vision for a Digital Garden City Nation*, launched by the government of Japan to foster rural-urban integration by leveraging digital transformation¹²⁶. The program is organized around four strands (digital infrastructures, digital skills, digital services, and measures to leave none behind) to tackle multiple obstacles to rural-urban integration through a long-term cohesive plan articulated in a series of complementary holistic place-based interventions.

Furthermore, the interviewees advocated for the development of international financial instruments prioritizing sustainable finance¹²⁷ and place-based partnerships to support the piloting and scaling of people-centred smart cities, with the support of private funders. In the words of a national expert based in Germany, "each place will have to figure out what are the right funding mixes for smart city projects and when private investment is [...] acceptable and desirable by people" (Interview 74).

The financial constraints experienced by municipal governments also emphasize the urgent need to develop sustainable business models for smart city solutions. Regulatory and business model sandboxes can help in this regard, as further explained in Section 4.2. City-to-city collaborations are also fundamental to developing scalable and replicable business models: a good example is provided by the *Smart Cities Marketplace*, a project funded by the European Commission, which has entrusted 120 cities to pilot sustainable business models for innovative solutions in the context of smart mobility and clean energy¹²⁸.

3.4 Organizational culture and values

Finally, to successfully govern people-centred smart cities and benefit from their opportunities, municipal governments need to adopt a culture favorable to innovation and open to experimentation. The grey and academic literature indeed tends to depict the public sector as risk-averse and less prone to embrace technological innovations, even though a recent stream of research has emphasized the leading role played by public agencies in the development of digital technologies¹²⁹.

The Global Review also provided a mildly optimistic picture. Only 34% of the respondents described their municipality as reluctant to change, although 52% reported that resistance to change in the public sector is oftentimes a constraint to smart city development. Asian respondents tended to be more optimistic about the attitude to change of both their municipal governments and the public sector, in general. Conversely, as shown in Figure 18, North American participants were more inclined to describe their municipality as resistant to change, while the attitude to change of the overall public sector emerged as a major concern among Latin American (74%) and African (61%) respondents.

Nonetheless, local governments were praised for nurturing a culture of innovation by 70% of the survey participants, with no significant regional differences. An entrepreneurial mindset, however, emerged as a more common feature of Latin American and Asian municipal governments (79% and 60% of the sampled cities, respectively), compared to other regions (approximately 46%), as outlined in Figure 18.



Figure 18: Percentage of municipal governments showing an entrepreneurial mindset, resistance to change, or a culture of innovation.

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

Similar figures resulted from the aforementioned survey administered by Deloitte to 1,200 civil servants. According to 19% of them, the lack of entrepreneurial spirit in the public sector is a major barrier to digital transformation. The limited sharing and collaborative culture of public organizations was, instead, identified as a barrier by only 13% of the respondents¹³⁰. Nonetheless, 85% of the organizations partaking in the study cited culture as a challenging aspect of managing digital transformation processes. Likewise, citing data from Gartner, UNESCO concluded that the reluctance to change of public organizations remains a major challenge to implementing digital solutions in the public sector, as remarked by 42% of the Chief Information Officers responding to their survey¹³¹.

Generating and maintaining a positive attitude toward innovation within the public sector is pivotal to encouraging lifelong learning, supporting capacity building, and creating an environment favorable to cross-sector collaborations. The interviews showed that this cultural shift can be facilitated by two main factors. First, having political leaders with an entrepreneurial mindset or a professional background in innovation and creativity: their vision and support are key to maintaining smart city transitions as a priority in the political agenda of the municipal government. Being located in a city or region characterized by a high presence of innovative companies was also recognized by the interviewees as an enabler and stimulus to adopt an innovative culture within the local administration.

Furthermore, gualitative data have indicated a plurality of measures and initiatives that have helped global cities nurture the creative and innovative mindset within the public sector. These include knowledge exchange initiatives involving external partners and other local administrations, coaching programs for public managers, and the recruitment of experts from the innovation sector. The interviewees, however, also agreed on the importance of adapting internal procedures and strategies to incentivize their staff to take on risks and engage with uncertainty. In this context, the importance of change management was underlined to sustain the digital transformation of both the processes and the culture of local administrations: although this transformation may be hampered by "the very limited capacity for change management in municipal governments", as highlighted by an Estonian expert (Interview 65).

It must be underlined that, when developing a pro-innovation culture, municipal administrations should refrain from uncritically embracing the narratives normally associated with digital transformation processes. As such narratives are primarily framed and shaped within the private sector, they may not align and integrate with the values and mission of public organizations. In the Global Review, 10% of the respondents admitted that their municipality struggled to balance economic and social interests in smart city development and to ensure that the objectives of smart city projects are consistent with the overall urban development goals. The incidence of this trend was higher among participants from African countries, with 25% of them reporting such issues. A primary challenge for municipal leaders is, therefore, to integrate a pro-innovation culture in the public sector without losing sight of its core values, principles, and mission. Peoplecentred smart cities go naturally in that direction by leveraging data and digital technologies to pursue public values rather than just focusing on the deployment of digital services and infrastructures. Nonetheless, additional guidance is needed to help cities identify the best approaches to develop and sustain this cultural shift, especially in those national contexts where the mainstream culture is less open to innovation and experimentation. Furthermore, municipal governments could benefit from the definition of guidelines and best practices for the governance of urban innovation ecosystems. This would ensure the mainstreaming of innovative and collaborative practices into the ordinary urban development process, and the alignment of urban innovations with the municipality's overarching needs and priorities.



SECTION 4: Collaborative ecosystem

For the development of people-centred smart cities, municipal governments are expected to collaborate with a wide range of local and non-local actors: private enterprises, citizens, universities and research centers, and civil society organizations. The effectiveness of these collaborations is affected by a plurality of factors, often reflecting idiosyncrasies of the ecosystem in which these actors operate.

With regard to private partners, the data available show that local enterprises tend to be more engaged than non-local companies, especially in the implementation phases. The rigidity of procurement processes and the lack of sustainable business models emerged as a major deterrent to the participation of private enterprises: an issue experienced by 64% of the Global Review respondents (with a higher proportion in Africa and Latin America).

The low engagement of local communities recurred as another key challenge. Despite the broad variety of participatory tools deployed to boost citizens' engagement in people-centred smart cities, only 20% of the Global Review respondents described citizens as active or very active in smart city



Major challenges

- The complexity of existing procurement processes discourages the participation in smart city projects of small and innovative enterprises.
- The limited digital literacy of citizens and their lack of trust in governments undermine the engagement and participation of local communities in people-centred smart cities.
- How to structure the collaboration with universities and civil society organizations beyond single projects remains unclear.

development (with no significant differences across the world regions).

As to universities and civil society organizations, both have provided municipal governments with complementary expertise to manage specific aspects of smart city projects (such as their monitoring or the inclusion of local communities). However, the contribution of these actors generally appeared lower in African and Asian cities, compared to the other world regions.





Key priorities

- Revise procurement regulations, drawing on innovative practices being globally experimented with.
- Establish ad-hoc programmes to support entrepreneurial efforts to tackle urban challenges through social and digital innovation.
- Create a dynamic, comprehensive strategy to boost both the digital literacy and the trust of local communities.
- Devise innovative mechanisms to build trust-based, long-lasting cross-sector partnerships.

It is well established that people-centred smart cities result from and rely on the collaboration of municipalities with a multitude of local and non-local actors from different sectors. Whereas the contribution of public organizations to the strategy-making and policymaking of digital technologies has already been discussed in Sections 1 and 2, this section focuses on the cooperation of municipal governments with four types of non-public actors: local and non-local private companies, citizens, universities and research centers, and civil society organizations. For each of these collaborative relationships, current and emerging trends are outlined, followed by an examination of major challenges and opportunities emerging from the empirical evidence available to date.



4.1 Community engagement and participation

The active participation and inclusion of people are key tenets of people-centred smart cities. To ensure that these initiatives are aligned with the needs and values of local communities, municipal governments are expected to continuously engage with them through a variety of channels and in various phases of smart city development.

The Global Review provided an in-depth overview of the levels of citizen engagement and participation in smart city projects worldwide. The survey revealed that local communities have been involved in the planning and implementation of smart city projects in 58% and 48% of the sampled municipalities, respectively. However, noticeable cross-country differences also came into sight, as shown in Figure 19. With regard to the participation of citizens in the planning phase, respondents from North America and Europe reported much higher rates than those from Asia and Africa. As to the implementation phase, European municipalities again showed higher levels of engagement than the world average, while Asian and African cities lagged behind.



Figure 19: Percentage of municipalities where citizens are involved in smart city development

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

It must be added, though, that only 20% of the respondents described citizens as active or very active in smart city development, and this trend recurred across the world regions with no significant differences. In fact, in most cases, the contribution of citizens was limited to giving feedback on the quality of urban services, a practice already in place in more than 70% of the sampled municipalities, although with a lower incidence in African countries (55%). These data align with recent statistics from UN-DESA, confirming that in 66% of the countries covered by their survey, citizens can leave feedback through public portals .

Another issue clearly highlighted by the Global Review is how difficult it can be for cities to effectively involve citizens in smart city development. 51% of the participants admitted that their local government has encountered some challenges in engaging local communities, with a higher incidence in North America (62%) and Asia (61%). Furthermore, 87% of the sampled cities confirmed that, at least to some extent, their citizens have shown little willingness to participate in smart city projects: a trend observed across all world regions.

To stimulate the participation of local communities in peoplecentred smart cities, cities worldwide have employed a variety of instruments. The analysis of city portals conducted by UN-DESA revealed that online deliberation processes have been implemented in 40% of the sampled cities, but e-voting is only available in 18% of them . From the Global Review, instead, public workshops emerged as the most common type of engagement tool (employed in 72% of the municipalities partaking in the survey), followed by public meetings (58%), public consultations (56%), the testing of prototypes (43%) and hackathons (40%). The diffusion of these tools, however, varied significantly across the world regions, as shown in Figure 20. Asian and African municipalities generally lagged behind the world average while North American local governments were the most likely to use all tools, except for public workshops.



Figure 20: Diffusion of different public engagement activities across the world regions

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

The use of other instruments appeared less widespread, with bootcamps, app contests, and crowdsourcing techniques being applied in less than 20% of the municipalities covered by the survey. As reported in Figure 21, app contests have been particularly popular in Latin America (36% of the sampled cities), while crowdsourcing techniques have been used in 31% of the North American cities covered by the survey, and less frequently in Europe and Asia (19% and 18%, respectively).



Figure 21: Diffusion of app contests, bootcamps and crowdsourcing techniques across the world regions

⁽Source: Global Review, 2022)

The interviews shed additional light on the advantages and disadvantages of the alternative participatory tools employed in people-centred smart cities. The inclusivity and representativeness of in-person events have been questioned, as members of low-income households and peripheral communities may have limited time to attend these meetings, especially when hosted in locations far from their neighborhoods. The interviewees also noted that people with caregiving responsibilities tend to be excluded from these events, unless the organizers provide them with on-site childcare or compensation for temporarily hiring a caregiver. Furthermore, simultaneous translation and interpretation services should also be offered to ensure that non-native speakers and individuals with hearing impairments can effectively partake in these events.

Compared to in-person interactions, online tools for citizen engagement offer the advantage of being remotely accessible from multiple locations at the same time, thereby incentivizing the participation of peripheral communities or individuals with mobility constraints. Their effectiveness and inclusivity, however, are still subjects of debate. A major criticism emerging from the literature and the interviews is that online participatory platforms remain accessible only to people who have necessary skills, technical resources, and time to engage in participatory bottom-up policymaking processes. Others have highlighted the risk of tokenism in citizens' participation, reflecting the fact that they may be allowed to express their opinions or advance ideas, but without really being empowered to change the status quo.

Data from the *UN-DESA e-government survey*, indeed, confirmed that, at the global level, the engagement of vulnerable groups in online consultations had been suboptimal: as of 2022, only 42 countries had offered e-consultation mechanisms tailored to youth and people with disabilities. Similar measures in favor of women's and older people's participation were observed in 36 and 29 countries, respectively. Nonetheless, the same report highlighted that, as of 2022, specific measures to support the e-participation of vulnerable groups had been adopted in 61% of the countries included in the sample, with a higher incidence in Asia (70%) and Africa (63%) compared to Europe (58%), the Americas (59%) and Oceania (29%).

Regardless of the engagement tools employed by municipalities, both the literature and the interviews have stressed the importance of promoting the media literacy and digital skills of local communities to maximize their engagement with smart city applications. The digital skills of individuals condition the extent to which they can use and benefit from access to digital technologies (as further discussed in Section 5.1). Additionally, media and information literacy are also crucial for building informed, resilient, and empowered communities, able to evaluate and use information responsibly as well as to understand evolving communication technologies and their social and environmental implications . This understanding is crucial to fostering a fruitful collaboration between local governments and their citizens, as remarked by a municipal leader from Cameroon: "when the population is really made aware of smart city projects and what they imply, they work together to provide as much useful data as possible" (Interview 26).

In addition to digital literacy gaps, trust was also highlighted by the interviewees as another major determinant of citizens' participation in smart city projects. On the one hand, some groups, such as migrants and LGTBQIA+ people, may be reluctant to partake in public engagement activities because they have little trust in what the local government is going to do with their data. On the other hand, the willingness of citizens to collaborate with local governments may be frustrated by the common belief that their input will be neither taken seriously nor translated into effective actions. One-third of the respondents to the Global Review, indeed, admitted that their municipalities do not always act upon the feedback of people, with a higher incidence among low-income countries. Similarly, the UN-DESA e-government survey reported that only 25% of the cities covered in their analysis provided feedback about the results of public consultations .

In this context, communication plays a vital role in both raising awareness and building a relationship of trust with citizens. A major challenge, however, remains to forge a language that is clear enough for all local stakeholders. As underlined by a smart city expert from Mexico, "municipal governments need to make sure that the residents understand what they are trying to do" (Interview 105), avoiding technical jargon and building shared narratives of what smart city means in the local context. Working with community leaders and civil society organizations also contributes to building and reinforcing a relationship of trust between citizens, municipal governments and other smart city partners, as further explained in Section 4.4.

4.2 Collaboration with private sector organizations

Private organizations from the smart city technology market (whose global annual turnover is expected to grow from USD 121 billion to USD 301 billion between 2023 and 2032¹³²) are key contributors to the development of people-centred smart cities. Examples of these organizations include global companies supplying critical technological components for digital services, national infrastructure providers, local start-ups and social enterprises developing place-based technological solutions, and consultancy firms with expertise in urban planning and the design of user-centric applications¹³³. The Global Review showed that local and non-local private companies were involved in the planning of smart city projects in 66% and 62% of the sampled municipalities, respectively. As shown in Figure 22, their involvement was slightly higher in the implementation phase. Overall, the participation of private enterprises was lower in African countries and higher in Northern American cities.

Figure 22: Percentage of municipal governments partnering with local and non-local enterprises in smart city development



⁽Source: Global Review, 2022)



Across the world regions, respondents from small cities reported much lower levels of engagement, with less than half of them counting private companies as partners in both the planning and implementation phases. As explained by a municipal expert from Spain: "smaller cities are not a priority for private companies, no matter how big the project is" (Interview 134). The literature has, indeed, highlighted that technology suppliers have a lower incentive to partner with small-sized local authorities because their limited scale undermines the economic sustainability of smart city projects and their ability to generate positive returns in the short and medium term¹³⁴. To overcome this issue, municipal governments could partner with each other when negotiating with bigger private companies, although this could limit their ability to procure technological solutions tailored to their local context and needs.

In general, the Global Review confirmed that the unwillingness of private companies to participate in smart city initiatives remains a significant constraint, experienced – at least to some extent – by 64% of respondents, with a higher proportion in Latin American (79%) and African (75%) countries. From the interviews, two major deterrents emerged with regard to the participation of private enterprises in people-centred smart cities: shortcomings in existing procurement processes and regulations, and the lack of sustainable business models for smart city services and applications.

As shown in Figure 23, 58% of the respondents to the Global Review agreed that public procurement processes represent a major challenge to the engagement of private companies in smart city projects, with the highest incidence among North (85%) and Latin American (72%) respondents. These figures are in stark contrast with those captured by UNESCO, drawing on survey data from Gartner, showing that only 13% of the sampled Chief Information Officers considered inadequate procurement approaches as a primary challenge to the implementation of digital solutions.

Figure 23: Percentage of respondents agreeing that public procurement poses a major constraint to the engagement of external partners in smart city initiatives



(Source: Global Review, 2022)

Nonetheless, both the UNESCO report and the interviews conducted for this study stressed the importance of overcoming the rigidity of existing procurement processes for digital transformation projects. Across the world regions, interviewees reported that small businesses and start-ups are struggling to partake in public tenders for smart city projects because they do not have enough resources to prepare all the documentation mandated by public procurement regulations. The timeliness of procurement processes was also considered by many interviewees as not compatible with the fast pace of innovation and the uncertainty associated with the development of cutting-edge urban solutions.

To address such issues and sustain the participation of small enterprises and start-ups in smart city projects, municipalities worldwide have been trialing innovative approaches to procurement with encouraging results. These approaches often entail a competitive contest or problem-based challenge, in which small ventures can advance their ideas and solutions rather than just respond to a public tender. It is the case, for example, of the outcome-based procurement applied in Singapore, which enables government agencies to source digital applications without specifying the underlying technology by stating what problem they need to address and setting the key performance indicators that potential suppliers need to meet with their proposed solution¹³⁵. An alternative approach to public procurement, endorsed by the European Commission, consists of first aggregating the demand of multiple public buyers and then communicating to market players the intention to source a large amount of innovative services or products. This stimulates scale-up processes on the supply side, reducing uncertainties and costs in the production of novel technological solutions¹³⁶.

Furthermore, local authorities can support the development of local enterprises through a variety of measures, including but not limited to financial subsidies or a local public innovation fund, focused on the specific challenges of a city and facilitating purposeful public-private partnerships, as in the case of the City of Oakland¹³⁷. Another best practice in this context is the Cordoba Smart City Fund, a public venture capital initiative set up in Cordoba (Argentina) to sustain civ-tech and smart city start-ups. Every year, the municipal government allocates 1% of its commercial and industrial tax revenues to this Fund, which is also supplemented by capital coming from institutional investors, such as the CAF. Since its inception, 16 start-ups from Argentina, Colombia, and Chile operating in multiple industries (such as urban farming, inclusive education, and civic participation) have received support from the Fund, for a total investment of USD 1.7 million¹³⁸.

More frequently, municipal authorities have undertaken specific initiatives to promote entrepreneurship, in general, or within specific groups (such as women and migrants). Incubation and acceleration programs, offering nascent entrepreneurs mentoring, seed funding, and physical spaces for collaborative practices, have long been a cornerstone of people-centred smart cities. Empirical evidence from 157 European cities has confirmed a positive correlation between business incubation and smart urban development¹³⁹, yet the inclusiveness and openness of incubators and accelerators have been questioned by scholars, as these spaces tend to be less accessible to people from deprived backgrounds¹⁴⁰.

Accordingly, promoting entrepreneurship among traditionally disadvantaged groups has become a priority for public institutions, often in partnership with civil society organizations. For instance, the Ministry of Science and Technology in China, along with the All-China Women's Federation and the China Association for Science and Technology, has adopted a set of measures to support female entrepreneurship in Science, Technology, and Innovation¹⁴¹, while the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), the International Organization for Migration (IOM) and the United Nations Institute for Training and Research (UNITAR) have launched an e-learning entrepreneurship program for migrants and refugees¹⁴². Similarly, between 2017 and 2021, , three cities in the UK (Coventry, Birmingham, and Wolverhampton) ran a capacity-building program for refugees and migrants which led to the creation of 16 start-ups, across different sectors, from arts and creativity to translation services and IT development¹⁴³.

Another major issue emerging from the interviews concerned the lack of sustainable business models for people-centred smart cities, affecting both digital infrastructures and digital services. The former, like any other infrastructure, is characterized by externalities that make it difficult to capture and capitalize on the value generated. As explained by a German expert: "cities have to understand how to measure the potential value of a digital infrastructure but often they do not have the right cost-benefit analysis tools to systematically map its impact" (Interview 74).

As to the digital services, the interviewees agreed on the need to develop new models for funding their scale-up and operations in the medium-long term, beyond the start-up phase. Regulatory and business model sandboxes, allowing for the testing of technological solutions and regulatory measures in protected environments, were identified as promising tools to "resolve the policy and regulatory challenges that constrain the scalability of smart city applications", as underlined by an expert from Malaysia (Interview 102). Alternatively, to enhance the scalability and financial sustainability of their digital services, municipal governments could adopt a federated model, enabling the sharing of development costs as well as the adaptation of digital applications to local contexts¹⁴⁴. This is the approach followed, for instance, by car-sharing cooperatives across Europe, which have established a common digital platform (The Mobility Factory), which is then adapted and implemented locally to adjust to the needs and habits of local users145.

Finally, the interviewees highlighted the difficulties that municipal governments encountered in forming effective and flexible partnerships, where the interests of public and private parties are aligned and mutually adjusted over time. Cities worldwide have experimented with a variety of legal forms and organizational structures, consistent with the importance of designing place-based, bespoke cooperation agreements that best leverage the resources and characteristics of local partners¹⁴⁶. Nonetheless, intellectual property rights and data governance emerged as major sources of tensions between local administrations and their partners, partially reflecting the lack of overarching policies and regulatory guidance on these matters.

4.3 Collaboration with universities and research institutions

Other players playing an active role in people-centred smart cities are universities and research institutes; as seen in Figure 24, data show that these entities have been involved in both planning and implementation phases in 77% and 68% of the sampled cities, respectively. Their participation, however, was considerably lower in African and Asian countries. African respondents also were the least likely to describe universities and other research institutions as active or very active (45%). In contrast, in the other regions, these actors were indicated as active or very active partners by 71% of the participants.

Figure 24: Percentage of municipalities partnering with universities and research institutions in smart cities development



(Source: Global Review, 2022)

The interviews provided in-depth insights into the role played by these organizations in the context of people-centred smart city development. In addition to directly contributing to the design and prototyping of smart city solutions, universities and research institutions often act as knowledge intermediaries, supporting the capacity-building of municipal governments (as examined in Section 3.2) and providing advanced technical expertise in various domains of smart city development. For instance, in North America, academic partners have been tasked by municipal governments with the writing of grants and project proposals, while in some European cities, they have been leading the monitoring of smart city projects.

Across the world regions, research institutions have also helped local and national governments to devise ad-hoc policy guidelines on crucial matters, such as data protection and the ethical use of facial recognition. More than 60% of the cities analyzed in the *Global Assessment of Responsible AI* confirmed that universities and research centers are very important partners in the definition of AI policies¹⁴⁷.

The collaboration between local authorities with these organizations has generally been perceived as fruitful, with 86% of the participants in the Global Review agreeing that universities and research institutes contribute to expanding public sector capabilities . This trend was consistent across the world regions and across cities of different sizes. Yet both the survey data and the interviews highlighted that such cooperation is less effective in low-income countries, where universities tend to be underfunded and "do not have a common agenda to work together with local governments and enterprises", as highlighted by a smart city expert from Bangladesh (Interview 13). In high-income countries, some interviewees rather lamented a lack of collaboration between universities and private enterprises due to the lack of shared incentives between academic and industry players, especially with regard to the protection of intellectual property rights and the diverging timeframe of research and commercial activities.

Another issue emerging from the interviews concerned the short-term nature of public and private collaborations with academic institutions. These partnerships are often tied to the completion of specific projects, and they are normally discontinued once the related funding is used up. This tendency is detrimental to knowledge sharing and the generation of sustainable innovation: hence, building long-term R&D alliances remains a key challenge and priority for people-centred smart cities.



4.4 Collaboration with civil society organizations

Municipalities worldwide are also forming partnerships with civil society organizations, such as local charities, neighborhood associations, grassroots collectives, and other community groups. According to the Global Review, these actors have been involved in the planning and implementation of people-centred smart cities in 62% and 56% of the sampled municipalities, respectively. As shown in Figure 25, their participation has been higher in North American and European cities, whereas it remained limited in Asian and African municipalities.

Figure 25: Percentage of municipalities partnering with civil society organizations in smart city development



(Source: Global Review, 2022)

From the interviews, it emerged that the contribution of local charities and associations has primarily focused on supporting people's' participation and their digital inclusion through various approaches. The most common involves the joint promotion of digital skills (an issue further discussed in Section 5.1): municipal governments worldwide have outsourced digital skills training to local associations already working with digitally divided communities and therefore better positioned to identify their skills gaps and educational needs. Additionally, many cities - especially in the Americas - have contracted civil society organizations as facilitators of public engagement activities. Their involvement in the design of public consultations or the delivery of public events is expected to encourage the participation of residents, given that these organizations "have the ability to establish trust with local people", as highlighted by an expert from Canada (Interview 30)

Whereas there is no doubt that the partnership between municipal authorities and civil society organizations can significantly benefit the development of people-centred smart cities, how to structure, sustain, and continue these collaborations remains unclear. Often, the partnerships between civil society and public sector organizations are limited to single projects and depend on temporary funding sources. This tendency undermines the contribution of community groups, charities, non-profit organizations, and foundations to the implementation of people-centred smart cities.

The interviews have also clarified that the effective participation of these organizations is largely affected by structural characteristics of the civil society at the city and national level. Some interviewees noted that in their country, civil society is not developed enough to qualify as a relevant partner. As explained by a smart city expert from Azerbaijan, "in many cases, civil society is not even present because the governance system is different (...) and citizens are not believing in that" (Interview 12). In other countries, instead, the third sector was described by some as too vast and fragmented, making it difficult for smart city leaders to identify reliable partners in civil society. Across the world regions, these organizations are constantly under-resourced, which compromises their ability to participate in public tenders and build stable relationships with other smart city partners.





SECTION 5. Urban digital infrastructures

Broadband networks, sensor networks, and data platforms are a critical part of the development of people-centred smart cities, contributing to the merger of digital and physical layers of urban environments across a wide range of domains. The diffusion and usage of these infrastructures, however, remain heterogeneous across the world regions, reflecting the uneven distribution of technical resources and competencies as well as the persistence of policy gaps and regulatory voids.

To date, the coverage of fixed broadband networks remains circumscribed to the most advanced economies, but the availability of 4G networks is also considerably lower in Africa (64%) compared to the rest of the world (90%). Furthermore, in Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia, more than half of the population served by mobile broadband is still not using Internet services. The limited affordability of connectivity services and the lack of digital skills among the population contribute to this adoption gap, with both issues disproportionately affecting low-income countries and vulnerable social groups over others.

URBAN DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURES

Mobile network



of the global population. African countries are lagging behind (84% coverage).

4G networks availability is lower in Africa (64%) compared to the rest of the world (90%)



of the world population has a fixed broadband subscription, while only

>0/0 in Africa

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

Data centers use 1-1.5% of global electricity, with 1% of global emissions



83 billion sensing devices estimated to be installed globally in 2024 Adoption Rates by Region:

- North America: 929 Europe: 82%
- Africa: 43%



SECURITY AND PRIVACY **CONCERNS**

- Risks of cyberattacks on critical infrastructures
- Privacy issues due to increased surveillance
- Need for policies to enforce data protection and human rights

ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER CONCERNS

- Maintenance and sustainability concerns due to short lifecycles and high costs
- Sensor networks contribute to e-waste, with 5 billion kg generated in 2022

In Europe, data centers

consume up to 5% of energy in the Netherlands and 19% in Ireland

DATA PLATFORMS

of cities use data for decision-making (2022)

Main Data Sources:



Challenges:

- 84% of municipalities lack integrated dashboards
- Only 57% use open data platforms (Africa: 32%, Asia: 44%)
- Data silos, lack of standards, and limited data sharing hinder effectiveness

Open Data Portals:



of countries have an open data portal (2024)

To address affordability barriers, 63% of the municipalities partaking in the Global Review have been offering public Wi-fi, while monetary subsidies for devices and broadband services have only been offered by 26% of them. More than half of the sampled cities have also been promoting digital literacy through training and IT workshops, complementing nationwide measures in support of digital inclusion (which, according to UN-DESA, are already offered by 80% of the world nations).

As to sensor networks, these infrastructures have been implemented in 73% of the cities included in the Global

Review, with a higher incidence in North America and Europe (82%). Their implementation, however, is oftentimes affected by security, environmental, and privacy concerns, undermining their acceptance among local stakeholders.

With regard to data platforms, existing evidence confirms the growing adoption of open data portals at both local and national levels. Nonetheless, data siloes remain in place within the public sector, hampering the potential of big data analytics for people-centred smart city development.



Major challenges

- The availability and adoption of broadband services remain uneven both within and across countries.
- Cities may not be fully equipped to guarantee the resilience and security of digital infrastructures.
- Sensor networks may pose risks to data protection and data security.
- Data platforms and data visualization tools often do not comply with global accessibility standards.

Key priorities

- Reinforce ongoing interventions to bridge ongoing and emerging digital divides.
- Develop a new mindset and know-how about cybersecurity in the public sector.
- Define local guidelines and national regulations to boost the security and privacy compliance of digital infrastructures.
- Establish standards for the sustainable design of digital technologies.

Digital infrastructures refer to the physical and virtual facilities that enable the storage, processing, and transmission of data: broadband networks, sensor networks, data platforms and data centers. For each of these types of digital infrastructure, this section illustrates current and upcoming trends captured by multiple datasets and discusses the main benefits and risks associated with their deployment in urban contexts. Drawing on our global dataset of best practices, we also identify promising approaches to better manage the opportunities and challenges posed by these infrastructures.

5.1 Broadband networks

In the context of people-centred smart cities, both fixed and mobile broadband networks are of crucial relevance to providing access to the Internet and the connectivity that underpins the delivery of digital services. A wide range of technologies are currently applied in the deployment of broadband, with optic fiber offering the best performances for fixed networks and 4G and 5G representing the latest generations of mobile communications¹⁴⁸.

Based on ITU's latest figures¹⁴⁹, 19% of the world population had a fixed broadband subscription, as of 2023, but the adoption rate varied significantly across the countries, as shown in Figure 26. In fact, the penetration of fixed broadband in Europe (36%) is twice the global average, while only 0.8% of people in Africa had a fixed broadband subscription as of 2023.

Figure 26: Fixed broadband subscription per 100 inhabitants



(Source: ITU, 2023)

Cross-country gaps are even broader when we only consider very -high capacity networks offering the fastest connections (above 100 Mbit/s) and relying (mostly or entirely) on optic fiber. In the EU, the overall coverage of very-high-capacity networks reached 79% in 2023, but the percentage of connected households varied from 100% in Malta to less than 38% in Greece¹⁵⁰. In Latin America, five countries (Trinidad and Tobago, Chile, Uruguay, Barbados, and Brazil) had reached coverage of very high-capacity networks higher than 75%, as of 2022, while in eight states full-fiber broadband was available to less than 50% of the households¹⁵¹. In the Asia-Pacific region, Singapore and the Republic of Korea are global leaders in the diffusion of full fiber networks¹⁵², while the availability of fixed broadband remains limited in small island developing states and South and South-West Asian countries, where only 10% of the population has fixed broadband subscriptions¹⁵³.

In addition to these regional differences, significant variations in the coverage of fixed broadband also persist between rural and urban areas within the same country or region. Detailed data on the rural-urban digital divide for fixed broadband is not available for most countries, but the latest statistics show that in the US, 17% of the rural population did not have access to a fixed broadband connection providing at least 25 Mbit/s in download¹⁵⁴. In the EU, as of 2023, the coverage of very-highcapacity networks in rural areas was limited to 56% of the premises (that is, 23% below the average coverage across the 27 Member States)¹⁵⁵.

Overall, the data available confirms that, at the global level, the coverage of fixed broadband networks remains heterogeneous.

Hence, in most countries mobile broadband is still to date the main (if not the only) source of internet access for the vast majority of the population. According to the ITU¹⁵⁶, mobile networks offering at least 3G were available to 95% of the global population, as of 2023. African countries were lagging behind (with a coverage of 84%), but significant differences persisted within the continent (as shown in Figure 27), with South Africa and Ghana having coverage rates higher than the global average. A wide gap can also be observed within Latin America, where Paraguay and Colombia have reached a 3G coverage close to 100%, while Venezuela (82%) and Nicaragua (85%) lag behind compared to the rest of the world.





Figure 27: Population covered by mobile networks offering at least 3G

(Source: ITU, 2023)

These regional divides are even broader when we consider the availability of 4G and 5G networks. As of 2023, 4G was available to 64% of the African population, against a global average of 90%. In the least developed countries (LDCs), the coverage was even lower and equal to 56%. Within Africa, South Africa showed coverage rates comparable to Europe, while in most countries in Central and Eastern Africa, more than 50% of the population had yet to be reached by 4G. As to 5G networks, in 2023 they were already available to 38% of the world population, but their coverage was eleven times higher in Europe (68%) compared to Africa (6%)¹⁵⁷. As noted by GSMA, the uneven diffusion of these networks is broadening the quality divide between world regions, as the high-income countries are now recording average speeds that are twice those available in medium and low-income countries¹⁵⁸.

Beyond the coverage gaps discussed so far, GSMA has also reported that 38% of the world population with access to mobile networks have yet to adopt mobile internet, and 95% of them reside in low- and middle-income countries¹⁵⁹. This usage gap is broader in Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia, where more than half of the population covered by mobile broadband is not using mobile Internet. The percentage drops to 19% in Europe and 14% in North America. Even within the same region, though, some divergences can be observed. For example, mobile Internet adoption in Southern Africa (33%) is twice the adoption rate in Central Africa (17%).

Furthermore, data from the ITU show that a rural-urban digital divide also persists with regard to the adoption of Internet connectivity. As of 2022, the use of the Internet was 1.8 higher

in cities compared to rural areas, where the percentage of dwellers using the Internet remained limited to 46% (while in urban areas it totaled 82% of the population). This gap was even broader in Africa, where only 23% of the rural dwellers were online, compared to 64% of the individuals residing in urban areas¹⁶⁰. With specific regard to mobile broadband, the GSMA reported that in low and middle-income countries, rural communities are 29% less likely to use mobile Internet¹⁶¹.

In addition to cross-country and rural-urban divides, several sources have documented the tendency of some social groups to display lower levels of Internet usage and broadband adoption. ILO¹⁶² and GSMA¹⁶³ have found evidence that the adoption of digital devices is lower among disabled people, and this applies to both low-income and high-income countries. UNHCR has estimated that 57% of refugees were unable to use e-learning services during the pandemic¹⁶⁴.

A gender digital divide has also been observed by multiple sources. As of 2023, worldwide the percentage of women using the Internet (65%) was 5% lower compared to the percentage of Internet users among the male population (70%). Such a gap, however, increased to 10% in Africa and the Arab States, while it was limited to 2% in Europe and the Americas. The gender divide in the use of the Internet was even broader in low-income countries, where only 20% of the female population was an Internet user, compared to 34% of men¹⁶⁵. Additionally, according to the GSMA, across the world regions, women are 13% less likely than men to own a smartphone; in middle and low-income countries, they are 19% less likely to use mobile Internet¹⁶⁶. A study by UNICEF also found that in low-income countries, as of 2021, for every 100 young men using the Internet, there were only 44 young female Internet users¹⁶⁷.

Contributing to these adoption gaps are multiple factors of diverse nature. Some of these reflect the uneven distribution of critical infrastructures – both digital and non-digital. Others are correlated with demographic variables that influence both the affordability of broadband access and the digital skills that individuals possess.

In addition to broadband networks, the usage of connectivity services is dependent on the availability of reliable infrastructures for the provision of electricity, which is essential for the functioning of both broadband connections and digital devices. Consequently, the poor quality of energy infrastructures has been identified as an additional cause of the rural-urban digital divide, especially in Sub-Saharan Africa, which, as of 2022, accounted for 80% of the world population without access to electricity¹⁶⁸. However, interviewees from African and Asian countries also discussed how power cuts and energy blackouts affect the reliability and quality of digital infrastructures in their smart cities. Furthermore, recent research has found that the negative impact of energy poverty on Internet use is higher among middle-aged and young individuals¹⁶⁹.

Another major barrier to Internet usage is the affordability of digital devices and broadband connections, an issue affecting some world regions more than others. For instance, GSMA reported that in the Middle East. North Africa and Sub-Saharan Africa more than 30% of the total population cannot afford a smartphone. Likewise, the ITU¹⁷⁰ estimated that fixed broadband basket prices amounted to 18.5% of the gross national income per capita in LDCs, while, globally, the average ratio is 3%. For data-only mobile broadband, the incidence on the gross national income per capita reduced to 1.3% worldwide, and 6.5% in LDCs.

Finally, the limited adoption of connectivity services reflects the lack of digital skills among certain groups of users and within certain regions. Although granular data on digital literacy levels are lacking at the global level¹⁷¹, recent estimates suggest a 20% gap in the percentage of the population with basic computer skills between developed and developing countries¹⁷². Other sources noted that even in the EU, 45% of the citizens aged between 16 and 74 years old lacked basic digital skills¹⁷³ as of 2023. The percentage rose to 72% of the population aged between 65 and 74 years old.

Indeed, age has long been identified as a major determinant of Internet adoption along with income, as older people and less affluent households are less likely to possess digital skills due to their lower levels of education¹⁷⁴. A youth digital divide, however, also exists; it has been estimated that during the COVID-19 pandemic, one-third of the students across the world were excluded from remote learning because their households did not have access to the Internet or to proper digital devices¹⁷⁵. The reliance of young people on smartphones has also been identified as a factor potentially affecting their digital skills and causing new digital inequalities¹⁷⁶.

As to the gender digital divide, the correlation with digital skills is more complex and heterogeneous. In Europe, the percentage of males and females with basic digital skills is comparable, as of 2024, but only 20% of ICT specialists are females¹⁷⁷. In the Global South, the gender skills gap remains generally broader, but with significant cross-country variations. In 10 out of 12 nations covered by the Mobile Gender Gap Report¹⁷⁸ by GSMA, women showed lower levels of confidence in their digital skills, with a gap between males and females higher than 10% in Senegal, Bangladesh, and Pakistan. In India and Guatemala, conversely, women were more confident than men in their ability to perform digital tasks. Similarly, in the aforementioned study by UNICEF, female youth were found to have more digital skills than young males in seven countries (Tunisia, Suriname, Turks and Caicos Islands, Fiji, Tuvalu, Cuba, and Tonga), while in the other 21 low and lower-middle income countries included in their sample, male youth resulted more skilled¹⁷⁹.

Tackling the digital divide has long been a priority for policymakers, at both local and national levels. The expansion of broadband supply has been at the core of both national and municipal interventions (as discussed in Section 2.1). Furthermore, the Global Review revealed that a variety of measures have been put in place by local governments to promote digital inclusion by addressing both affordability and skills barriers.

63% of the sampled municipalities have been offering public Wi-fi to make internet access available to residents who cannot afford their own broadband connection. As shown in Figure 28, this measure was present in 100% of the North American cities participating in the survey and 79% of the Latin American municipalities. African and Asian respondents suggested a lower rate of adoption (54%), although municipal Wi-Fi was reported as a recurring practice in South Africa, Mozambique and China. North American municipalities resulted as the most inclined to offer subsidies for devices and broadband services, a measure otherwise adopted by only 26% of the sample cities.

With regard to the promotion of digital literacy, digital skills training and IT workshops have been provided by 59% and 46% of the local governments covered in the Global Review. The proportion was higher among Latin American participants, as shown in Figure 28. At national levels, UN-DESA reported that 80% of the world nations have adopted specific measures to boost the digital literacy of vulnerable groups, although the incidence of these initiatives has been much lower in the LDCs (68%) and small island developing states (41%)¹⁸⁰.

As discussed in Section 4.4, civil society organizations play a vital role in promoting digital literacy in cities worldwide. Interviewees from Latin America clarified that the civil society partners supporting these efforts vary significantly, from "community associations that work on basic digital competencies" (Interview 42) to "foundations providing training on software development, robotics, and 3D printing" (Interview 5). However, from the interviews, there also emerged a clear need to get educational institutions at different levels involved in the delivery of digital literacy training. As emphasized by an expert from Nigeria, "we need to bring digital training in schools and universities, to integrate digital transformation in their curricula" (Interview 112).





(Source: Global Review, 2022)

All the public interventions in support of broadband supply and usage are justified by the significant benefits and opportunities that these infrastructures are expected to generate for both the economy and society. Recent evidence from 1,348 regions across the EU indicated that expanding the provision of broadband can accelerate annual per capita growth in both urban and rural areas¹⁸¹. Similarly, a study on 10 African countries showed that a 1% increase in ICT led inclusive growth to rise by 0.066%¹⁸², while a 10% increase in the speed of mobile broadband was found to generate a 0.2% productivity increase in low-income countries¹⁸³. At municipal levels, it has been estimated that broadband expansion can boost export trade (up to 19%, based on data from Chinese cities)¹⁸⁴, attract innovative businesses, and increase the value of properties¹⁸⁵.

In addition to its economic returns, it is undoubted that broadband connectivity also generates important social benefits by enabling access to the Internet and to the opportunities that digital innovation provides to both individuals and businesses. Fast broadband is nowadays vital to access educational resources, with recent studies showing that higher rates of broadband adoption correspond to better student performances, especially in low-income households belonging to ethnic minorities¹⁸⁶. Access to broadband also propels digital entrepreneurship¹⁸⁷, which, in turn, has been found to promote female empowerment and gender inclusion¹⁸⁸. Finally, broadband networks have paved the way for new modes of delivery for public services, making them more cost-efficient and accessible from remote locations¹⁸⁹.

However, concerns have recently been raised with regard to the environmental impact of these infrastructures as well as their security and resilience. Recent estimates suggest that broadband infrastructures can account for up to 24% of the greenhouse emissions of the ICT sector¹⁹⁰, although fixed networks tend to be less energy-hungry than mobile networks, which account for 60% of the energy consumed by telecommunications operators¹⁹¹. Another study, based on data from 181 countries over 18 years (2002-2020), has confirmed that the introduction of mobile broadband initially increases CO_2 emissions but, over time, its impact on the environment becomes positive. Specifically, it was found that a 10% increase in mobile broadband penetration could result in a 7% reduction of CO_2 emissions per capita, although this relationship was only significant for high-income countries¹⁹².

Our interviewees have also emphasized the resilience and security of broadband networks as increasingly crucial matters for the digital transformation of urban communities. With many essential services being increasingly interconnected and relying on networks potentially exposed to cyberattacks, natural disasters, and power outages, the maintenance of these infrastructures is expected to become a crucial priority and a challenge for most municipal administrations. To address these risks, local governments cannot only rely on additional technical and human resources: they also need to develop a new mindset around cybersecurity. As highlighted by a smart city expert from the UK, "cybersecurity is totally undervalued at the moment in local governments" while it should be treated as an essential requirement: "not at the end of the list, but something vital like the air that we breathe" (Interview 147).

5.2 Sensor networks

Sensor networks are digital infrastructures dedicated to real-time data collection through sensing devices. These devices capture signals from the surrounding environment and convert them into a digital format. Examples include Closed-Circuit Television (CCTV) cameras utilized for security purposes, aerials for the monitoring of weather conditions, accelerometers to measure the speed of street vehicles, and Internet-of-Things (IoT) applications deployed both in public and private space, such as smart bins, real-time trackers of public transport and streetlights controlled remotely to minimize energy consumption¹⁹³.

It has been estimated that by the end of 2024, there will be 83 billion sensing devices¹⁹⁴ installed globally. The Global Review clarified that these infrastructures have already been implemented in 73% of the cities included in the study, with a higher incidence in North America (92%) and Europe (82%), as shown in Figure 29. The use of automated data sources, however, was lower in Africa (43%), where it was limited to South Africa, Tunisia, and Rwanda.



Figure 29: Usage of different data sources across the world regions

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

It must be stressed that sensing devices are not the only instrument to gather data in cities. Non-automated data sources, such as surveys and censuses, play complementary roles in data collection. Indeed, the usage of these alternative data sources was more common across almost all world regions, as evidenced in Figure 29. The crowdsourcing of data, instead, emerged as a secondary practice, although its diffusion was quite prominent in North American and Asian cities, especially in China.

Compared to non-automated data sources, sensor networks have the advantage of allowing for the ongoing collection of real-time large datasets, which are expected to conduct more effective and efficient decisions in smart city contexts¹⁹⁵. The interviews particularly emphasized that the implementation of sensor networks is proving helpful in tracking environmental outcomes in urban contexts, by combining data coming from multiple sources, such as outdoor systems monitoring the air quality and sensing devices tracking traffic congestions. More examples of smart city applications leveraging sensor networks to tackle environmental issues are presented in Section 6.

Furthermore, on-time data collection through sensors is enabling municipal administrations to augment their understanding and knowledge of urban areas characterized by high levels of informality, which are normally overlooked by official censuses and statistics. For instance, in eThekwini (South Africa), the municipal government is collaborating with the United Nations Innovation Technology Accelerator for Cities (UNITAC) to develop a machine-learning application using data from on-ground monitors, satellite images, and aerial photographs to complement census information on informal settlements¹⁹⁶.

Nonetheless, both the academic literature and the experience of local and national smart city experts confirm that deploying and managing sensor networks entail several significant challenges, concerning both the maintenance of the sensing devices and the governance of the data collected by them. The economic and environmental sustainability of these infrastructures has also been questioned, along with the social, political, and ethical implications related to their installation in public spaces¹⁹⁷.

From the interviews, it emerged that the costs of operating and maintaining sensors in smart cities can quickly escalate, possibly outweighing their benefits. Empirical studies from the railway and automotive sectors further support this trend, highlighting that the installation and maintenance costs of sensors can drastically reduce their convenience compared to conventional manual inspections¹⁹⁸ and alternative data sources¹⁹⁹. Additionally, the interviewees noted that exposure of sensors to external agents and variable weather conditions can significantly increase their fault rate, suggesting the necessity for frequent replacements.

The short lifecycle of sensing devices has raised concerns about their environmental impact. Whereas specific data on the e-waste associated with sensor networks are not available. these devices and infrastructures contribute to the e-waste produced by small telecommunications equipment, which amounted to 5 megatons in 2022 according to the latest Global E-waste Monitor²⁰⁰. Most of this waste is informally disposed of and illegally dumped in developing countries: the European Environment Agency has estimated that 60% of the e-waste generated in Europe does not get collected or recycled. and 15% of it is exported, mostly to West Africa and Asia²⁰¹. Furthermore, the diffusion of sensor networks is contributing to the growing demand for lithium and other rare earth minerals, whose mining is causing conspicuous environmental damage in low-income countries²⁰². Finally, the excessive energy consumption of sensor networks has also been highlighted by interviewees and scholars²⁰³.

To mitigate the mentioned challenges, national institutions are adopting regulations on e-waste and the reuse of critical raw materials (see Section 2.5), while technology suppliers and researchers are developing protocols and algorithms that maximize the energy efficiency of sensing devices²⁰⁴. Likewise, much emphasis is being placed on developing standards for interoperable sensor networks²⁰⁵, which could boost their sustainability as well as their security²⁰⁶. The latter is another major preoccupation in the context of people-centred smart cities. As sensors are often connected with strategic infrastructures, such as power grids and water mains, their security is of paramount importance to prevent cyberattacks that could impinge on the safety and delivery of critical public services²⁰⁷.

Enforcing cybersecurity is also crucial to protect the data of citizens and other urban actors from malicious attacks aimed at unlawfully acquiring sensitive information from sensor networks²⁰⁸. This echoes broader concerns about the privacy impacts of these infrastructures. The proliferation of sensing devices in urban spaces has been criticized for favoring the excessive surveillance of citizens and for enabling commercial suppliers to control large volumes of personal data²⁰⁹. A recent study confirmed that privacy concerns around the use of IoT applications have a direct impact on the acceptance and adoption of smart city services²¹⁰. The Sidewalk Toronto project in Canada further exemplifies how the adversity of local communities towards pervasive sensing technologies can lead to the failure of smart city projects²¹¹.

To enhance the security and privacy of their sensor networks, municipal governments are cooperating with technology suppliers and academic institutions to develop resilient and privacy-safe devices and infrastructures. These technological developments, however, may not be sufficient to counteract the public's negative perception of sensing devices. As emphasized by a national expert from the US, it is crucial to find "a more holistic view of the responsibilities around these technologies and how they are governed, to determine what happens if someone, either legally or illegally, gets access or controls over sensor networks" (Interview 154). This reiterates the importance of specific policies and regulations to enforce data protection and protect human rights in digital spaces (discussed in further detail in Sections 2.3 and 2.4).

Data from ITU, indeed, confirms that the regulation of sensor networks is still in its infancy. As of 2024, only 12 countries have adopted specific regulatory frameworks for IoT, but 20% of the world nations are undertaking policy reviews on this matter²¹². Local governments in Europe and North America are addressing these policy voids by defining their own policy guidelines and local regulations for the governance of these infrastructures. For instance, in Portland (US), the municipal government has adopted a set of privacy and information protection principles to norm the collection, analysis, and use of data²¹³. Local communities were also consulted through a series of public engagement events to develop a citywide policy on surveillance technologies²¹⁴. In Amsterdam, instead, the municipal administration has created an online map²¹⁵ reporting the position, ownership, and usage of all sensors installed by public and private entities. The creation of a national sensor registry has also been endorsed by Dutch researchers and professionals, as a tool to keep track of the proliferation of sensing devices in public spaces and encourage the participation of residents in the governance of these infrastructures²¹⁶.

5.3 Data platforms

Within people-centred smart cities, municipal governments are called to collect, govern and analyze diverse types of data sourced from multiple actors. Data platforms encompass all the physical (such as data centers and servers) and virtual infrastructures (such as cloud services, data lakes, and data warehouses) enabling the storage, integration and maintenance of multiple datasets, whose analysis is expected to enhance decision-making processes at the local level. Indeed, both the Global Review and the UN-DESA e-government Survey reported that 80% of the cities were using data to inform decision-making, as of 2022, with the first shedding light also on the type of data local governments rely on. National governments and universities have been cited among the data sources for smart city projects by 80% and 72% of the sampled municipalities, respectively, with no significant differences across the world regions. As shown in Figure 30, the use of data from private companies and residents was less common but still a widespread practice occurring in 63% of the sampled municipalities (with Europe lagging behind the other regions). Data from residents were also utilized by 64% of the municipalities partaking in the Global Review, with a higher incidence in Latin and North America.



Figure 30: Reliance of municipalities on data from alternative partners

(Source: Global Review, 2022)

The interviewees agreed that managing and integrating data platforms can prove challenging, especially due to the limited diffusion of data standards, the lack of holistic regulations on data governance (as discussed in Section 2.3), and the persistence of a siloed approach to data storage within the public sector. Within municipal administrations, it is not rare to find units and departments employing data platforms that are neither interoperable nor integrated. Likewise, public organizations at different administrative levels tend to use data standards and platforms that are not interoperable. These behaviors undermine the potential of big data in cities, stifling synergies in both data analytics and data visualization. Consequently, "the majority of the data that is collected in smart cities is not being used" (Interview 76), as remarked by a smart city expert from Germany.

Municipalities adopting a single dashboard for the visualization of data are a minority (only 16% within the sample). Even smaller municipalities reported the co-existence of multiple dashboards and data visualization tools. More common appeared the use of open data platforms, which was reported by 57% of the participants, although, with a lower incidence in Africa (32%) and Asia (44%). On the same matter, less optimistic figures resulted from the *UN-DESA e-government survey*, according to which open government data sharing is implemented in 37% of the municipalities responding to their questionnaire, as of 2024.



However, 81% of countries also had an open government data portal. As shown in Figure 31, nationwide open data initiatives are more common in Europe and Oceania. Worldwide, most of these portals offer open data on national government expenditures and geospatial data, while only a minority offer participatory budgeting features or other mechanisms for residents' engagement.



Figure 31: Percentages of countries with open government data portals and various aspects of open data governance

The interviews shared some examples of how open data are being leveraged locally to inform new academic research (as reported by smart city experts in Teheran, Iran, and Porto, Portugal) and improve city operations, especially in relation to mobility services (such as in the case of Milton Keynes, UK). Nonetheless, the interviewees also highlighted that the effectiveness of open data initiatives is undermined by the persistence of data silos in the public sector as well as the reluctance of other smart city partners to open their data. Regulatory voids regarding data governance (previously highlighted in Section 2.4) further inhibit the use and potential application of open data. As explained by a municipal leader from Switzerland, "we are not in the Open Data business because we do not have a clear vision of what can be effectively shared in terms of security, infrastructure risk and the protection of personal data of residents or others" (Interview 139).

Additionally, the interviews stressed the importance of the quality and reliability of the public datasets underpinning people-centred smart city applications. Continuous engagement with local communities has been advocated for to ensure that the data possessed and shared through data platforms are up-to-date and representative of the actual population. This is to prevent incomplete and inaccurate data from eventually reinforcing existing biases in decision-making processes and undermining the inclusivity and equity of people-centred smart cities²¹⁷.

In this context, promoting data literacy and data analytics becomes crucial to leverage the potential of big data in cities while safeguarding the privacy of residents and enforcing the security of data platforms. As noted in Section 3 and Section 4, digital literacy is underdeveloped both within the public sector and among the general population. Studies have warned that, without advanced data analytics skills, neither civil servants nor citizens can take full advantage of the benefits of open data platforms, particularly undermining their potential application for the monitoring of urban projects²¹⁸ and the launch of datadriven entrepreneurial ventures²¹⁹. Specific attention, however, must also be paid to the design of data visualization tools. Municipal governments should ensure that their dashboards and data portals are user-friendly and accessible to all urban stakeholders.

A final matter to be further considered is the environmental impact of data platforms. Whereas the shift towards cloud computing has enhanced the energy efficiency of data storage²²⁰; the land, energy, and water consumption of data centers has recently raised significant concerns²²¹. The continuous expansion of big data, further boosted by the diffusion of AI, is requiring the construction of a growing number of data centers, especially in rural areas, which have considerable impacts on the local landscape and the consumption of land²²². In addition, these facilities require vast quantities of water for air-conditioning (up to 1.5 billion liters per day, according to US-based estimates²²³), which is causing extra stress on the water supply of the communities hosting these facilities.

Overall, the International Energy Agency (IEA) has estimated that data centers account for about 1-1.5% of global electricity use and are responsible for 1% of greenhouse gas emissions²²⁴. The environmental impact of these infrastructures, however, is not homogeneous across different countries and is expected to grow exponentially. Within Europe, it has been noted that data centers account for 1.8-2.6% of the overall energy consumption, but this percentage rises to 5% in the Netherlands and 19% in Ireland²²⁵. TThe interviewees, instead, emphasized that the energy consumption of data centers and digital infrastructures, with the risk of undermining the stability, resilience, and security of both power provision and digital services.

To address these issues, specific regulatory interventions are being adopted nationally and internationally, as discussed in Section 2.5. Additionally, at the municipal level, the creation of clean energy zones has been proposed as a solution to mitigate the environmental impact of data centers by limiting their installation in urban areas purposely planned to ensure access to cost-effective renewable energy²²⁶.



SECTION 6. Smart city applications for public services

This section examines how smart applications can enhance urban services and address challenges across nine key public domains: urban and spatial planning, housing, mobility, energy, water management, waste management, prevention and management of natural disasters, safety and security, and welfare. Based on the evidence available from primary and secondary data sources, it offers a comprehensive assessment of the benefits, risks, and impacts of these services and applications, focusing on how they contribute to boosting the quality of life and sustainability of urban areas globally.

Across the above-mentioned domains, a wide array of technological and non-technological innovations are complementing traditional modes of public service delivery. These solutions often combine digital technologies with participatory approaches to harness data effectively and foster inclusive, collaborative practices in urban governance. Current findings indicate that these innovations enhance both predictive and corrective interventions across different urban sectors. However, concerns about the data privacy, security, and affordability of smart city applications are frequently highlighted, alongside an uneven distribution of these services across regions. Additionally, assessing the long-term impacts of these solutions remains challenging, as many implementations are still limited to small-scale projects and localized trials.

The analysis suggests that the success of smart applications for city services hinges on both technical capabilities and local socio-economic and cultural contexts. This reiterates the importance of involving local communities in the design and governance of smart city services, to improve their outcomes, mitigate their risks and establish public trust which is essential for the broader adoption of these technologies.



Major challenges

- The environmental and social impacts of smart city applications remain unclear, requiring more in-depth assessment.
- Without careful design and implementation, these technologies risk amplifying existing inequalities.
- Municipalities and their partners struggle to develop sustainable and scalable business models for people-centred smart city applications.
- Fragmented pilots and experiments lead to duplications and hinder scalability.
- Siloed approaches across urban services and a lack of integration in digital governance knowledge hinder cohesive development.

Key priorities

- Develop robust frameworks to evaluate the social, environmental, and economic impacts of people-centred smart city services.
- Implement regulatory standards to guide the responsible planning and deployment of new technologies in cities.
- Nurture collaborative partnerships enabling cities to co-create adaptable urban solutions across different services.
- Reinforce global knowledge-sharing platforms by leveraging expertise and know-how gained through local pilots and experiments.

This section examines smart applications implemented in nine urban sectors: urban and spatial planning, housing, mobility, energy, water management, waste management, prevention and management of natural disasters, safety and security, and welfare. These sectors were selected based on their responsiveness to both current and anticipated urban challenges, where innovations-both technological and nontechnological-are having a meaningful impact²²⁷. For each sector, the analysis explores the innovative applications most

commonly adopted in people-centred smart cities, as well as those demonstrating significant growth potential. Drawing on a comprehensive dataset of best practices and case studies (listed in Annex 3) this review presents evidence of both positive and negative impacts. Where available, it also identifies regional differences in the adoption of these applications, along with the primary drivers and barriers to their broader implementation.

SECTOR-SPECIFIC USE OF SMART CITY APPLICATIONS

Urban Planning: Growth in GIS tools and digital twins; high

transport mix by 2030

adoption in North America, Asia-Pacific, and Europe



Housing: 3D printing and digital twins reduce costs and environmental impact



Mobility: LEVs make up 18% of vehicle sales in 2023 (60% in China); shared mobility services projected to reach 7% of urban

Energy: 100+ cities generate 70% of electricity from renewables; Europe leads in solar and wind energy



meters reduce leakages; Water ATMs expand access in the Global South



Waste Management: Smart bins reduce pickups by 80%; urban mining and circular economy practices gaining traction



Disaster Management: Al for prediction and response; drones aid in damage assessment





● ● **O Welfare:** E-learning and e-health expanding; 38% e-learning adoption in China



6.1 Urban and spatial planning

Urban and spatial planning shapes how cities function and has been acknowledged as playing a key role in the sustainable development of metropolitan areas²²⁸. Its formulation is becoming even more critical in the context of vast urbanization, as 68% of the world's population is expected to live in cities by 2050²²⁹. As a result, urban areas are increasingly exposed to several environmental and societal pressures, such as periurbanization²³⁰, the growth of informal settlements²³¹, and the consequences of climate change²³².

Despite its significance, urban and spatial planning expertise remains limited in many regions: in African countries, there is less than one accredited planner per 100,000 people²³³. Innovative approaches are, thus, being utilized and experimented with worldwide to support and complement the work of urban planners, as outlined in Figure 32.

Figure 32: Innovative approaches to urban and spatial planning



Public Participation Geographic Information Systems tool (PPGIS) is among these innovative approaches, specifically applied to enhance public engagement in planning processes by combining geographic information systems (GIS) with participatory methods²³⁴. Spatial Group Model Building (SGMB) also leverages GIS so that different stakeholders can communicate and work directly on physical maps for model development²³⁵. This makes SGMB particularly promising for tackling challenges associated with peri-urbanization by developing solutions at urban-rural interfaces. For instance, in Bihar (India), participatory GIS tools enabled farmers and traders to visualize market locations and transport routes, leading to an improvement in their decision-making processes²³⁶ (Case 1).

Compared to traditional tools (e.g. public hearings and written statements), PPGIS and SGMB facilitate citizens' engagement across various scales and planning phases²³⁷ and foster a more inclusive design of urban spaces²³⁸. Its impacts on urban planning outcomes, however, remain in question as

their implementation is still affected by the barriers to public engagement already discussed in relation to other participatory tools (Section 1.2 and Section 4.3), the lack of well-established data governance practices and the unavailability of participatory GIS tools at various locations, as evidenced by the experience of six Indonesian cities (see Case 2)²³⁹. Whereas the data on the global diffusion of PPGIS and SGMB remain limited, recent estimates suggest that the global market of GIS tools, valued at approximately USD 11 billion in 2023, will double by 2032²⁴⁰. North America, Asia-Pacific, and Europe are currently the most mature markets for these services²⁴¹, but the Asia-Pacific region is expected to have the most rapid growth in the next decade.

Other technologies that have shown potential in enhancing urban and spatial planning are digital twins and very –high resolution (VHR) satellite images. The former creates a virtual representation of physical systems using IoT, extended reality, and Al²⁴². They have been endorsed by researchers, practitioners, and policymakers as promising tools to optimize urban planning by leveraging real-time data and advanced analytics for the comparison and assessment of alternative simulations of real-life scenarios^{243,244}. Their potential is being currently explored by many public administrations, such as the government of Bavaria (Germany), which has developed a guidance framework to help municipal administrations apply digital twins in the planning of several infrastructural interventions, from energy efficiency to flood prevention (Case 3). The implementation of digital twins, however, poses some challenges concerning data governance and analytics, as further detailed in Section 6.2.

As to VHR satellite images, they have proved to enhance spatial planning by improving the mapping of informal settlements, which currently host around a billion urban residents worldwide (with Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa harboring 80% of these dwellings)²⁴⁵. Satellite images are enhancing their detection and tracking, thereby paving the way for targeted urban planning interventions²⁴⁶. For instance, in Badoa (Somalia), the data from VHR images and on-field surveys have allowed the creation of a local cadaster, which is, in turn, helping enhance tax collection for the delivery of new urban services²⁴⁷. Overall, though, the application of this technology remains limited due to the high costs of acquiring and storing VHR satellite images. To address this challenge, open data from volunteer geographic information (such as crowdsourced maps or user-generated geo-referenced data) have emerged as a valid, complementary source to boost the accuracy and quality of slum detections²⁴⁸.

6.2 Housing

With the ongoing urbanization trends, an estimated 3 billion people may require decent and affordable housing by 2030, exacerbating the existing housing deficit²⁴⁹. This crisis affects both developing nations and developed countries, where housing prices vastly exceed the median family income²⁵⁰. Furthermore, environmental regulations are adding further pressure on the construction industry in an attempt to curb its significant impacts on CO_2 emissions, land use, and waste production²⁵¹. In this scenario, technological innovation has become a necessity to boost both the productivity and the sustainability of construction companies. 3D printing and digital twins, in particular, have emerged as the most promising applications to deliver affordable housing solutions while mitigating environmental harm²⁵².

3D printing technology (3DP), initially used for prototyping, is now being utilized to construct entire buildings. As outlined in Figure 33, the application of this technology offers multiple benefits. Not only does 3DP increase productivity by shortening construction time²⁵³ and lowering costs²⁵⁴ but it also enables complex designs that are impractical for traditional methods and offers tailored housing solutions. For example, in Nacajuca (Mexico), non-profit organizations and companies used 3DP to build 500 earthquake-resistant houses in a region with high seismic risk and half of the population living below the poverty line²⁵⁵ (see Case 5). Additionally, 3DP promotes sustainability, with 3D-printed polymers reducing carbon emissions by 80% compared to common types of cement²⁵⁶ and cutting construction waste by 30-60%²⁵⁷.

Figure 33: Benefits and shortcomings of 3D printing and digital twins applied to the construction industry



As to digital twins, it has been estimated that 57% of real estate firms globally were already adopting these solutions by 2023, with 15% of them using it operationally, 22% in the early planning stages, and 30% in the piloting phase²⁵⁸. As summarized in Figure 33, digital twins have proved to optimize construction processes by reducing waste, generating cost savings and improving decision-making²⁵⁹. Their application can also lead to energy efficiency improvements²⁶⁰, as seen in the *+CityxChange project* in Limerick, Ireland (refer to Annex 3, Case 6), where digital twins were used to analyze the environmental footprint of the Georgian Innovation District, resulting in energy savings comprised between 5 and 13%²⁶¹. Additionally, digital twins can be leveraged to improve the design and resistance of 3D-printed houses, preventing faults in the construction process²⁶².

Despite their advantages, both 3DP and digital twins face several adoption challenges. For 3DP, these include outdated regulations²⁶³ and limited compatible materials²⁶⁴. Exemplary is the experience of Muscatine (US), where 3D-printed houses were demolished due to concerns over the resistance and durability of the concrete utilized in the building processes²⁶⁵. Digital twins, instead, face issues with data integration, accuracy, security, and privacy^{266,267}, which may eventually hinder their application on a large scale. For both technologies, ongoing digital divides represent a major obstacle to their diffusion and implementation worldwide. On the one hand, the global construction industry is facing a widespread shortage of digital skills, which is even more difficult to bridge because of its high turnover rates²⁶⁸. On the other hand, urban communities in low-income countries may particularly struggle to take advantage of both 3D printing and digital twins because of the high costs of these technologies and gaps in the availability of the digital infrastructures supporting their implementation²⁶⁹.

6.3 Mobility

Improving urban mobility is a key priority to create environmentally sustainable and socially equitable cities²⁷⁰. Transportation is the second sector after electricity and heat to contribute the most to greenhouse gas emissions, responsible for approximately 23% of greenhouse gas emissions from fuel combustion²⁷¹ and 28% of energy consumption²⁷². Cities worldwide are also coping with growing levels of air and noise pollution due to traffic congestion²⁷³, especially in emerging economies with a rising number of private vehicles. Globally, the number of cars is set to double to 2 billion by 2040²⁷⁴. On the other hand, the increasing demand for mobility, fueled by rising urban populations, has made it difficult for public authorities to optimize urban transportation systems²⁷⁵.

To address these challenges, local, regional and national governments have experimented with a wide array of technological innovations to promote greener and smarter mobility services. These include real-time traffic management systems, low-emission vehicles, mobility-as-a-service, shared mobility, and active mobility programs.

Real-time traffic management systems have long been used by local authorities worldwide to monitor and control traffic flows and prevent road congestion. Relying on sensor networks, these systems continuously gather data on traffic conditions, including vehicle speeds, congestion levels, and traffic volumes. This data can then be used to optimize traffic flows, especially during peak hours, by dynamically adjusting signal timings and the duration of traffic lights.

The experience of the *Barcelona Urban Lab* (Spain) shows that smart management systems can reduce traffic jams by 30% and increase the efficiency of public transportation by 15%²⁷⁶ (refer to Annex 3, Case 4). Similarly, in several Indian cities like Greater Hyderabad and Warangal, the setting up of an Adaptive Traffic Signal Control system, which adjusts signal timings in real-time based on traffic density, has reduced congestion with a 15% increase in travel speed²⁷⁷. However, the benefits of real-time traffic management can go beyond improved traffic control: they also encompass improvements in the urban economy and a reduction of the environmental impacts of cities²⁷⁸. The **Automated Traffic Surveillance and Control System** implemented in Los Angeles (US) has contributed to reducing fuel consumption by 12.5% and air emissions by $10\%^{279}$ (refer to Annex 3, Case 7).



A successful adoption of traffic management systems, however, requires addressing various challenges, including high implementation costs, reliability issues, and privacy concerns²⁸⁰. Particularly in lower-income countries, the effective implementation of traffic management solutions is hindered by the high costs associated with these systems, inadequate infrastructures, and a lack of governmental coordination. To address these hurdles, prioritizing public transport has emerged as the most feasible, cost-effective, and sustainable approach to real-time traffic management²⁸¹, as exemplified by the Amman Bus project launched in 2019 in Amman (Jordan). Al technology and real-time data have been integrated into a smartphone app that allows public transportation users across the Greater Amman Area to locate nearby stops, identify the quickest routes, and settle their fares online before boarding²⁸² (refer to Annex 3, Case 8).

To directly curb CO₂ emissions and air pollution, both local and national governments are also gradually pushing for the replacement of public and private vehicles with Low-Emission Vehicles (LEVs), such as biofuels, hybrids, and electric vehicles. Despite variations, LEVs generally emit fewer pollutants than conventional vehicles, with electric vehicles (EVs) like electric buses, cars, and scooters, notably producing zero direct emissions. Furthermore, LEVs contribute to reducing noise pollution and promote energy security (by lessening reliance on volatile fossil fuels²⁸³).

Despite their promising effects, the penetration of LEVs remains limited worldwide, as shown in Figure 34. The IEA reported that 18% of all vehicles purchased in 2023 were electric cars (up from 14% in 2022) but the vast majority of these were sold in China (60%), Europe (25%), and the US (10%)²⁸⁴. Nonetheless, based on current policy orientations, IEA estimated that the sales of LEVs will reach 55% of total car sales worldwide. Many countries, such as the Dominican Republic, Rwanda and Pakistan, are also incentivizing the electrification of two and three-wheelers: according to IEA, electric two- and three-wheelers could account for 60 to 75% of global sales by 2035²⁸⁵.



Figure 34: Global electric car stock (2013-2023)

(Source: IEA, 2023)

Likewise, the diffusion of electric buses remains predominantly circumscribed but is projected to grow globally. As of 2023, as shown in Figure 35, China accounted for 50% of the global sales of electric buses, followed by Europe (13%)²⁸⁶. Within Europe, however, some significant differences could be observed, with Belgium, Norway, and Switzerland reaching a sales share of electric buses above 50%. In the Global South, the adoption of electric buses is being driven by large capital

cities (such as Dakar, Bogota and Santiago) that have recently invested to electrify their bus fleets. National governments – for instance, in Ecuador, Nepal and the Solomon Islands – have also launched specific policies to decarbonize their public transportation systems. Based on current trends, IEA estimated that by 2035 electric buses will represent 30% of the buses sold globally²⁸⁷.



63

Figure 35: Electric bus registrations and sales share by region

⁽Source: IEA, 2024)

One of the major obstacles to EV adoption is the lack of adequate infrastructure for the recharging of these vehicles, especially in densely populated cities where access to private charging points is usually more limited. To address this challenge, municipalities worldwide are actively supporting the rollout of public charging points, which represented 90% of the EV charging points installed globally, as of 2023²⁶⁸. Furthermore, local administrations have leveraged digital technologies to optimize the usage of power grids for recharging EVs, as experimented in Kyoto (Japan), where the *EV Charging Management Centre* has been using real-time data to minimize grid congestions and improve the experience of EV drivers (refer to Annex 3, Case 9).

Other strategies implemented locally to sustain the LEV market growth include the integration of these vehicles into urban logistics systems and the creation of low-emission zones (LEZs). The first approach consists of combining electric trucks and electric cargo bikes to reduce the pollution and traffic congestion deriving from freight transport. An initiative successfully conducted in Bogota (Colombia) exemplifies this approach, where solar-powered e-bikes have been deployed for last-mile deliveries, contributing to minimizing CO₂ emissions (refer to Annex 3, Case 10). Overall, it has been estimated that cargo bikes and electric bicycles can contribute to cutting CO₂ emissions by 71%²⁸⁹. Likewise, LEZs also have a direct impact on the air quality of metropolitan areas: in London (UK), they have been found to curb the emission of air pollutants by 12%²⁹⁰ from 2008 to 2019, with a potential reduction of up to 40%²⁹¹.

Nonetheless, when assessing the lifecycle environmental impact of LEVs and associated measures, it is crucial to remember that these vehicles are among the major ones responsible for the increasing consumption of rare earth minerals, such as lithium and cobalt, whose mining is causing severe environmental damage in several low-income countries²⁹². Additionally, battery recycling, particularly for lithium-ion batteries, is emerging as a critical challenge as improper disposal poses significant environmental hazards²⁹³ and can cause both water and land pollution²⁹⁴. Localizing the production of LEVs could be an answer to these environmental concerns, as demonstrated by the *Net Zero Accra* project in Ghana (refer to Annex 3, Case 11), which promoted the local manufacturing of electric cargo bikes, using recycled materials.

The complex and ambiguous impacts of LEVs have urged municipal leaders to also experiment with mobility-as-a-service (MaaS) and shared mobility, two innovative paradigms for urban mobility that could potentially lead to a reduction in the total number of private vehicles circulating in cities. MaaS has become a widespread tool to incentivize the use of public transportation by integrating multiple transport options into a single platform, serving as a unique access point to collect information and pay for intermodal mobility services²⁹⁵. Shared mobility, instead, proposes to downsize the reliance of urban residents on privately owned vehicles by giving them access to shared vehicles that can be easily rented through a smartphone app.

The latest evidence shows that the diffusion of both innovations is not homogeneous across the world regions. Most MaaS pilot projects and schemes have so far taken place in Europe²⁹⁶, where the success of MaaS has been driven by the presence of supportive regulations, and strong public-private partnerships²⁹⁷. In contrast, in North America, the large-scale adoption of Maas has been hindered by the dominance of private cars, combined with fragmented public transit and limited political support²⁹⁸. In the other world regions, MaaS is gradually gaining attention after a slow take-up, with an emphasis on revisiting its core characteristics to better adapt to local contexts²⁹⁹, for example by exploring alternative offline access methods or utilizing a low-tech approach that minimizes the need for platform integrators³⁰⁰.




Figure 36: Diffusion of shared mobility services

As to shared mobility, a report by the International Association of Public Transport (IAPT) focusing on 46 metropolitan areas across five continents (see Figure 36), noted that bike-sharing is the most common among these services (available in 43 cities), followed by shared e-scoters (39), car-sharing (38)³⁰¹, and shared mopeds (15). Within their sample, Casablanca (Morocco), Johannesburg (South Africa) and Bangalore (India) were the only global cities lacking any shared mobility offering, while 13 of them were offering all four services (Beijing, China; Berlin, Germany; Brussels, Belgium; Budapest, Hungary; Istanbul, Türkiye; London, UK; Madrid, Spain; Milan, Italy; New York, US; Prague, Czech Republic; Sao Paulo, Brazil; Taipei, Taiwan; and Wien, Austria). Overall, shared mobility is projected to account for 7% of the urban transport mix by 2030 (from 3% in 2023), while the weight of personal vehicles is expected to decrease from 54 to 28%³⁰².



⁽Source: IAPT, 2022).

It must be noted that, based on a recent literature review, the environmental outcomes of shared mobility remain ambiguous³⁰³. Whereas car-sharing has been found to produce less CO_2 emissions and air pollutants when compared to private cars, its overall impact may turn negative, if the availability of shared cars disincentivizes the utilization of public transport and active modes of traveling. The lifecycle emissions of bike-sharing are even higher than those produced by private bikes, because of the CO_2 associated with the smartphone applications, sensors, and docking stations enabling shared bike use³⁰⁴. Furthermore, the economic sustainability of shared mobility has raised concerns, as both public and private providers are struggling to identify robust and resilient business models to make these services profitable³⁰⁵. To ultimately enhance the environmental sustainability of urban systems, many municipalities worldwide have also launched active mobility programs to incentivize those transportation modes that do not entail the usage of any motorized vehicles, such as walking or cycling for personal use, and cargo bikes for the movement of goods³⁰⁶. In addition to reducing traffic congestion and CO₂ emissions, these initiatives have the advantage of promoting healthier lifestyles and potentially improving the mental and physical well-being of urban communities³⁰⁷. For example, the cycle-to-work scheme implemented in Jönköping (Sweden) has reduced the rates of absenteeism among the public employees joining the program (refer to Annex 3, Case 12). In Brisbane (Australia), instead, the *Active School Travel* initiative has contributed to reducing car trips to schools by 35% (refer to Annex 3, Case 13).

6.4 Energy

In addition to curbing the pollution and emissions caused by traffic congestions and legacy transportation systems, cities worldwide are pressured to embrace energy transitions, that is, a systemic shift in how energy is produced, distributed, and consumed within urban areas³⁰⁸. According to recent estimates, more than 100 global cities (over a sample of 620) are already generating 70% of their electricity from renewable sources,

as of 2022³⁰⁹. Yet, other datasets evidenced the uneven distribution of such sources across the world regions³¹⁰. As shown in Figures 37 and 38, most of the solar and wind power plants near cities are located in Europe, North America and Asia. These three regions account for approximately 95% of the total installed capacity for energy production from solar plants and 99% of the wind power plants located in urban contexts.





(Source: IRENA, 2020).

As to hydropower plants near cities, Europe is again leading the ranking (39% of the global distribution of hydropower generation capacity), followed by Asia (36%) and North America (14%). A similar pattern is observed in the generation of energy from biomass and waste³¹¹, as shown in Figure 39.

Smart cities represent the ideal environment for the experimentation and implementation of renewable energy sources³¹². At the same time, renewable energies have been recognized as a cornerstone of people-centred smart cities, consistent with their commitment to promoting sustainability and improving livability in urban contexts³¹³. For instance, the usage of renewable energies has become the main focus of smart city interventions in four cities in Taiwan (Chiayi, Taoyuan, Tainan and Taipei), which have leveraged alternative strategies to fulfill a wider strategy to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050³¹⁴. While Chiayi³¹⁵ and Taoyuan³¹⁶ focused on the installation of solar panels on public buildings, Tainan prioritized the employment of renewable energy in their R&D activities³¹⁷. In Taipei, the *Green Energy Districts* project led to the full integration of smart energy solutions into residential

and commercial areas, which led to a decrease in energy costs by up to 40%. In China, instead, municipal governments have been offering both fiscal and non-fiscal incentives to promote the development of relevant technologies and infrastructures functional to the production of energy from green hydrogen³¹⁸, which represents a novel clean and versatile energy source to be potentially utilized in a wide range of urban application domains, from fuel cells to electric vehicles³¹⁹.

In addition to these municipal interventions, to successfully support the energy transition, collective efforts are also required from the supply and demand sides, combining both technological advancements and social innovations³²⁰. An example of the former are smart grids and smart meters. Smart grids are electricity networks that use real-time data and IoT technologies to reliably and efficiently control the flow of electricity generated from various sources³²¹. Smart meters, instead, combine sensors and connectivity networks to collect and visualize real-time data on the energy consumption of individual users³²².



Figure 38: Power density and geographic distribution of wind power plants near cities

(Source: IRENA, 2020).

A report by Fortune Business Insights (2024) paints a bright picture of the global IoT market for energy management, projected to grow from USD 71 billion in 2023 to USD 223 billion by 2030³²³. In 2022, the Asia-Pacific region dominated the global market with a share of 36%, as a result of broader initiatives promoting the large-scale deployment of smart meters to improve energy efficiency³²⁴. By 2030, Europe, the Middle East, Africa and South America are also expected to show notable growth rates driven by an increasing focus on local and national policies on efficient energy usage.

Another factor crucial for the expansion of smart grids and smart meters is the development of comprehensive frameworks for the governance and protection of energy data³²⁵. The EU has been a pioneer in this: the *Electricity Directive* (EU/2019/944) and *Regulation 2023/1162* have recently been introduced to enforce data protection and data interoperability in the energy sector³²⁶. Despite this common framework, however, some EU Member States have yet to start a large-scale rollout of smart meters³²⁷. A recent study focusing on France has highlighted that, in some provinces, municipal governments are even resisting the implementation of these sensing devices, due to concerns over their ownership and their risk to health and data security³²⁸.



Figure 39: Distribution of bioenergy and waste-to-energy plants by region

⁽Source: IRENA, 2020).

Alongside these ongoing technological advancements in the production and transmission of energy, local communities worldwide have also been experimenting with community energy initiatives³²⁹ (also known as local/citizen energy communities). These projects entail the construction and installation of energy infrastructures partially or entirely owned by local communities³³⁰. A typical example is represented by the collective ownership of solar panels, usually installed in public spaces, such as in the case of Rau Kūmara Solar Farm in Ōtaki (New Zealand)³³¹. This community energy initiative produces clean energy from community-owned solar panels installed on the local college and wastewater treatment plan. The profits originating from the sales of electricity are then reinvested in the community to tackle energy poverty and foster environmental education (refer to Annex 3, Case 14). Indeed, the final purpose of community energy initiatives goes beyond the mere production of clean, affordable energy: they also aim to enhance the efficiency and resilience of energy systems³³² as well as to promote the participation of local communities in the governance of green transitions³³³.

These initiatives have been endorsed by academic researchers as a promising avenue to boost the development of smart, sustainable cities³³⁴. Yet, to date, their global diffusion remains, limited. Most of these projects have been launched in Europe³³⁵, with Germany³³⁶ and Denmark being at the forefront of the community-led production of renewable energy³³⁷. Some communities in Brazil and Costa Rica have also experimented with this innovative model: but these experiences remain limited in their coverage and relevance³³⁸. Furthermore, the evidence available suggests that these projects may struggle to survive in the long term due to a mix of internal and external factors³³⁹. These include the lack of practical support to integrate community energy into local operations, the bureaucracy associated with setting up cooperative projects, as well as their limited attractiveness to external investors and local users (who may not be willing or capable of paying a premium for renewable energy)³⁴⁰. Accordingly, some local authorities have launched specific measures, such as cocreation events or sustainability festivals, to stimulate public interest towards community energy and place-based green transitions³⁴¹.



6.5 Water management

Water management is another critical area for sustainable urban development, where cities worldwide are facing growing challenges, due to a rapid increase in their population³⁴² combined with climate change impacts, like droughts and floods³⁴³. These issues are further exacerbated by aging and undersized infrastructure leading to water leaks³⁴⁴ and contamination³⁴⁵, particularly in some regions of Africa. As a result, around 25% of the global population still lacks access to safe drinking water, with informal settlements being the most affected^{346,347}. Despite improvements in rural areas, the UN's 2023 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) report showed stagnation or even a decline in urban water access³⁴⁸. This reinforces the need for technological advancements in the management of water in urban areas, through multiple applications, as summarized in Figure 40).

Figure 40: Smart city applications for the management of water resources.

Water smart meters

- The collection of real-time data on water consumptions can help detect water leaks and improve water loss assessments, enabling a more efficient and sustainable usage of water resources.
- Their global market is expected grow from USD 24 bn to USD 53 bn by 2032.

Water ATMs

- Water ATMs offer an accessible and affordable alternative to municipal water supply, especially in informal settlements and periurban areas.
- Their diffusion is limited to some Asian and African countries, where the need to involve local communities in the design and management of Water ATMs as emerged as a necessity to boost their beneficial impacts.

IoT systems for quality monitoring

- IoT monitoring systems can be integrated with data and observations collected from citizens to boost the monitoring of aquatic ecosystems.
- Data interoperability and digital skills, however, may hamper the effective contribution of local communities to citizens science.

Water smart meters are increasingly being adopted worldwide to monitor water consumption in urban areas. Utilizing IoT technologies³⁴⁹, these meters enable remote readings and realtime recording of water usage³⁵⁰. Their piloting in global cities is already proved their potential benefits for urban communities as these applications have been found to enhance water leak detection³⁵¹, improve water loss assessments³⁵², and induce behavioral changes that result in reduced water consumption³⁵³. For instance, the rollout of smart water meters in Seosan City (South Korea) has led to a decrease in water leakages by 190,000 m³ per year, which in turn helped the city to better contrast the consequences of droughts (refer to Annex 3, Case 15).

Despite their potential, the widespread adoption of water smart meters is not without challenges. Concerns have, in particular, been raised with regard to their high installation costs and risks to data privacy³⁵⁴. Furthermore, their diffusion may be affected by the availability of digital infrastructures and the existence of bespoke government policies³⁵⁵. Indeed, numerous governments across the globe are increasingly endorsing their large-scale adoption and implementation. For instance, in the United Arab Emirates, both the Abu Dhabi Water Security Strategy 2036 and Dubai's Integrated Water Resource Management Strategy 2030 have promoted the integration of smart technologies to ameliorate the distribution and management of water resources³⁵⁶. Likewise, the government of Botswana has recently launched a nationwide plan to roll out smart prepaid water metering solutions, starting in urban areas³⁵⁷. Overall, recent forecasts estimated that the market size of water smart meters will more than double between 2023 and 2032, from USD 24 billion to USD 53 billion³⁵⁸.

Water ATMs, also known as 'any-time water kiosks', are another innovation that addresses issues concerning water supply³⁵⁹ mostly used in the Global South India, Pakistan, Kenya, Ghana, South Africa, and Tanzania leading their implementation in both urban and rural areas³⁶⁰. These automated water vending machines are digitally monitored (most commonly through smart cards and IoT-based systems) and self-contained with clean water. They represent a promising alternative to municipal water supplies, contributing to expanding access to drinkable water for vulnerable and marginalized communities, such as residents in slums, informal settlements and peri-urban areas. An example of this is provided by Yawkwei, a growing peri-urban community in the Ashanti region of Ghana³⁶¹, where water ATMs have been the most used water source for residents, who particularly their reliability compared to traditional modes of water provision (refer to Annex 3, Case 16).

Being a relatively new development, the usage of water ATMs is still subject to further evaluation. Recent case studies have shown that their implementation may generate different outcomes in different geographical and social settings. For instance, a study comparing the experience of Nairobi (Kenya) and Delhi (India) showed that the location of water ATMs and the availability of alternative cheaper options determined the extent to which poorer households benefitted from these resources³⁶². The introduction of new digital water delivery systems has also been found to result in a redistribution of costs, risks and benefits across the different parties involved³⁶³, thereby suggesting that geographical, social and institutional factors should be considered when designing these initiatives³⁶⁴.



In addition to the aforementioned innovations in water supply and distribution systems, substantial efforts have lately been directed towards developing innovative solutions to control and improve the quality of both domestic water and aquatic ecosystems (seas, rivers, and lakes). The health and biodiversity of the latter are crucial for both wildlife and human well-being but are increasingly exposed to many risk factors, including (but not limited to) water pollution caused by human activities³⁶⁵.

In this context, data-driven and IoT technologies have been successfully leveraged to enhance the accuracy and pervasiveness of monitoring activities, through the collection of real-time data and their integration into ad-hoc data platforms. For example, an IoT-based monitoring platform has been deployed in Xuan Dai Bay (Vietnam) to track the conditions of the aquatic ecosystem³⁶⁶ (refer to Annex 3, Case 17).

As an alternative, citizen science offers a promising approach to enhance water monitoring through the involvement of local communities in the collection, analysis and dissemination of data³⁶⁷. The experience of Uzungöl, a lake in northern **Türkiye**, further exemplifies how the contribution of citizens in monitoring activities can be combined and enhanced with digital technologies³⁶⁸. In this specific case, an open-source mobile application was made available to integrate the data coming from sensors with the observations of citizens (refer to Annex 3, Case 18).). This initiative, however, also evidence that the success of participatory approaches to water monitoring is largely determined by the local availability of digital skills and digital infrastructures.

6.6 Waste management

Waste management is another critical component of environmental protection in urban areas³⁶⁹. In this domain, local and national governments have been combining environmental regulations (see Section 2.5) and innovative technologies to both improve the efficiency of waste collection in urban areas and foster a circular economy, where the majority of urban waste gets recycled to minimize its environmental impacts and maximize its economic value³⁷⁰.

Various technological solutions have been adopted worldwide to boost the efficiency and sustainability of waste management in urban areas. For example, the *Waste Wise Cities Tool*, developed by UN-Habitat, has been implemented in 74 cities across Africa and Asia, enabling them to design data-driven, place-based solutions for the optimization of solid waste management^{371,372}. Smart bins utilizing sensor networks and real-time data^{373,374} have also been deployed in several cities, in the attempt to minimize the costs and emissions associated with unnecessary pickups³⁷⁵. For example, it has been estimated that the solar-powered smart bins installed in Wyndham City (Australia) have reduced garbage truck trips by 80% in only six months, thereby generating both cost savings and environmental benefits (refer to Annex 3, Case 19).



The advantages of smart bins can be further enhanced by integrating machine learning and Al-based systems capable of classifying and sorting urban waste. As successfully experimented in Medellín (Colombia), combining machine learning techniques with high-resolution imagery and GIS data can help distinguish among various types of street litter with a very high level of accuracy (up to 95%)³⁷⁶ (refer to Annex 3, Case 20). A review of current smart city applications for waste management confirmed that Al-powered systems can contribute to reducing the costs of waste collection by up to 13% and generate time savings by up to 28%³⁷⁷. Nonetheless, another study noted that the implementation of these applications remains limited worldwide due to the lack of adequate standards for sensing devices³⁷⁸.

Despite the lack of detailed data on the current adoption of innovative waste management solutions, market growth estimates confirm that the diffusion of smart bins is destined to grow globally, with a forecast compound annual growth rate of 15% between 2022 and 2032³⁷⁹. As shown in Figure 41, North America is dominating the market of smart bins, followed by Europe, and this is not expected to change in the next decade, even though all world regions will be experiencing significant growth rates.





(Source: Polaris, 2022)

The promotion of the circular economy in waste management has been pursued globally through a combination of regulatory measures (see Section 2.5) as well as social and technological innovations. Examples of such practices include urban mining, a term encompassing a wide range of techniques to extract valuable materials from e-waste³⁸⁰, and digital sharing platforms, enabling the peer-to-peer or business-to-consumer sharing of recyclable and reusable goods³⁸¹.

Urban mining has long been an activity relegated to the informal economy, contributing to poverty alleviation in African and Latin American cities³⁸². More recently, cities in Europe have also started to explore the potential of these practices as part of their broader commitment to foster the circular economy. It is the case, for instance, of Rotterdam (the Netherlands), which has set the ambitious goal to halve the use of primary raw materials by recovering them from e-waste, unwanted vehicles and demolished buildings³⁸³ (refer to Annex 3, Case 21).

Overall, it has been estimated that urban mining techniques could potentially generate value for USD 54 billion at the global level, but their implementation remains constrained by logistics issues as well as concerns over the health risks associated with the disposal of electronic devices³⁸⁴. Some attempts have also been made to build partnerships between informal e-waste recyclers from metropolitan cities in the Global South with recycling companies in the Global North: but the impacts of these initiatives on vulnerable communities have been questioned³⁸⁵.

As digital sharing platforms, these include both global organizations, such as Olio³⁸⁶, and local initiatives, such as Swinga³⁸⁷ in Sweden. In both cases, the contribution and commitment of local communities are vital to the creation and continuation of these platforms, although the support of public authorities and other local actors has also been recognized as crucial for their upscale³⁸⁸. For example, in Freetown (Sierra Leone) the City Council has partnered with waste management companies, community groups and mobile operators to develop a smartphone app supporting the work and capacity-building of waste collectors (refer to Annex 3, Case 22).

Despite these encouraging experiences, recent research has warned that the diffusion of digital sharing platforms tends to be limited, especially in developing countries³⁸⁹. Nonetheless, it must be underlined that mapping the actual diffusion of these platforms remains arduous, as many of the circular economy initiatives taking place in global cities are led by grassroots efforts that are not necessarily formalized in stand-alone organizations.

6.7 Prevention and management of natural disasters

Cities worldwide have long been dealing with the aftermath of natural disasters, whose frequency and gravity are destined to increase as a result of climate change and global warming³⁹⁰. The impact of digital technologies in this domain could be

truly transformative, as big data and AI applications promise to significantly boost the capability of local and national governments to predict the occurrence of these hazardous events and minimize their consequences³⁹¹. Furthermore, AI applications are expected to boost decision-making for the management of natural disasters, while immersive technologies offer new opportunities for the reconstruction phases³⁹² (Figure 42).

Figure 42: Applications of smart city technologies before, during and after the occurrence of natural disasters



Al-enabled predictive technologies are being used to complement current forecasting models³⁹³ to compensate for the shortcomings of traditional disaster responses in five key areas: disaster analysis, target tracking and searching, highrisk rescue operations, assistant decision-making, and effect evaluation³⁹⁴. For instance, in the Far North region of Cameroon, a novel AI model combining machine learning with GIS and remote sensing has been tested to enhance the accuracy of flood predictions and create early warning systems and vulnerability assessments (refer to Annex 3, Case 23). Likewise, new AI techniques involving spatiotemporal correlations among historical earthquake data have been leveraged to improve the forecasting of earthquakes in Tabriz (Iran), where the AI-based system has also been applied to assess the vulnerability of each neighbourhood. This has allowed the municipal governments to develop prevention strategies bespoke to diverse groups of residents³⁹⁵ (refer to Annex 3, Case 24). Furthermore, predictive technologies are being applied to improve waste management after the occurrence of natural disasters. Using both historical and real-time data, AI models can forecast waste production and optimize collection routes, reducing operational costs and improving response times. These applications have been found to outperform traditional waste management models by 66%, offering considerable monetary and time savings³⁹⁶.

In addition to these predictive models, Al-powered technologies can enable rapid and effective decision-making during and after the occurrence of natural disasters, contributing to enhancing the effectiveness of mass evacuations and the

rescue of survivors. In particular, deep neural networks for image classification are expected to be more efficient than traditional search methods for the location of survivors trapped in earthquake rubble³⁹⁷. Similarly, deep learning techniques applied to big data on historical earthquakes and mobility patterns allow for a better understanding of human behaviours in mass evacuations during disasters with an accuracy rate of 88%³⁹⁸. To operationalize these AI technologies, drones play a key role by capturing aerial imagery and data in real-time, which can help effectuate comprehensive damage assessments, particularly in inaccessible areas, as recently experienced in Vietnam³⁹⁹ and Türkiye⁴⁰⁰. The information collected by the drones, once fed into AI systems, also enables more accurate decision-making for disaster response, further improving the speed and efficiency of rescue, evacuation, and waste management efforts.

Immersive technologies, such as Virtual Reality (VR), Mixed Reality (MR) and Augmented Reality (AR), offer another set of innovative applications for the management of natural disasters in urban contexts. By enabling the simulation of alternative disaster scenarios, they can be used for training purposes⁴⁰¹. Alternatively, they can be leveraged in postemergency phases to create virtual replicas of damaged buildings, reducing the need for on-site inspections, and to simulate alternative reconstruction scenarios⁴⁰².

Whether the potential of both Al-enabled and immersive technologies is extensively debated in academic research, their implementation often remains constrained to pilot schemes and research projects, hence making it difficult to assess their actual utilization in urban contexts. At the same time, studies have already highlighted several factors that may ultimately hamper their large-scale adoption. These include the lack of advanced digital skills among government officials, widespread concerns over data protection and security, and the upfront costs required to acquire and install the data platforms and digital infrastructures underpinning these systems⁴⁰³.

Furthermore, scholars have questioned the overall effectiveness of these techno-centric solutions due to their limited engagement with local communities, undermining the design of place-based responses to natural disasters⁴⁰⁴. Accordingly, to effectively minimize the consequences of these hazardous events, the application of predictive and immersive technologies cannot be decoupled from informative campaigns, training and other educational activities to boost the preparedness and awareness of local communities⁴⁰⁵.



6.8 Safety and Security

Recent estimates show that around 83 million urban residents worldwide suffer from the consequences of crime and violence⁴⁰⁶. Despite global efforts to enhance urban safety and security, many countries are still struggling with ineffective legislative frameworks and poor criminal justice responses. Technological solutions are, therefore, being developed by municipal governments and other local actors to improve crime prevention and detection, often generating mixed reactions in local communities.

Closed-circuit televisions (CCTVs) represent the most common technology for security enforcement in urban contexts, relying on public and private sensors for the real-time video monitoring of urban spaces⁴⁰⁷. Their implementation has contributed to generating negative sentiments towards smart city projects, due to concerns over their security, privacy and compliance with human rights (as previously discussed in Section 5.2).

Even more contested is the usage, in urban spaces, of Alpowered tools for surveillance and predictive policing. As of 2022, such systems have been implemented in approximately one-third of the world's nations⁴⁰⁸. Facial recognition was in use in 78 countries, with a higher prevalence in Asia, Europe and Latin America. A similar distribution could be observed concerning smart policing, which has been adopted in 67 countries (Figure 43).



Figure 43: Countries that have implemented facial recognition

(Source: author, using data from Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2022)

Although claims supporting these systems highlight a potential crime rate reduction of 30 to 40%⁴⁰⁹, legislators at different administrative levels are increasingly concerned about the use of predictive policing and other AI applications for surveillance purposes because of their potentially harmful impacts and incompatibility with human rights (see Section 2.4). For example, the Mayor of Chicago (US) has recently discontinued an AI-based gun-shot detection system that resulted biased towards ethnic minorities (refer to Annex 3, Case 25).

Indeed, the academic literature has long questioned the effectiveness of predictive policing and other digital applications for crime prevention because of biases and inaccuracies resulting in erroneous crime rate estimations⁴¹⁰. Initial studies suggest that these biases could be mitigated by introducing techniques to improve algorithm fairness⁴¹¹, enhancing the transparency and explainability of algorithms ⁴¹², and integrating AI with human supervision⁴¹³. However, it is agreed by scholars and practitioners that the implementation of surveillance technologies and predictive policing should remain subject to stringent policies to ensure their alignment with overarching frameworks for the protection of digital human rights⁴¹⁴ (see Section 2.4).

A more promising approach to enhance the safety and security of urban spaces through digital technologies is represented by crowd-sourced maps and smartphone applications developed by local communities to prevent gender-based violence. Examples of these initiatives have been reported worldwide over the past decade: for instance, in Quito, transport authorities and non-profit organizations have introduced a mobile app that facilitates the reporting of sexual harassment episodes on public transportation (refer to Annex 3, Case 26). In Delphi (India), the smartphone app *Safetipin* has been providing crowdsourced maps of various locations reflecting the safety scores given by local users (refer to Annex 3, Case 27).

Based on a systematic search of app stores conducted by a group of researchers, as of 2020, there were 171 smartphone apps addressing gender-based violence. Most of them had been launched in South Asia (26%) and Europe (25%), while their diffusion appeared more limited in Sub-Saharan Africa (10%) and in the Middle East (6%)⁴¹⁵. The same study identified data protection and security as critical weaknesses of these applications, along with the fact that they mostly leverage real-time data to tackle emergency solutions with little consideration for the prevention of gender-based violence, a limitation also observed by other analyses of these applications⁴¹⁶.

6.9 Welfare

Welfare encompasses societal efforts to ensure all individuals have access to basic needs, with education and healthcare being central pillars. Normally the competence of national governments, the availability and effectiveness of welfare services have also direct implications on the quality of life in urban areas and their sustainable development. Although the quality of schools is usually higher in cities rather than rural regions⁴¹⁷, barriers to education remain in place also within metropolitan areas, reflecting the persistence of social and

racial inequalities among neighborhoods and urban districts⁴¹⁸. Likewise, in healthcare the main problems involve unequal access to medical services⁴¹⁹, reflecting insufficient healthcare infrastructures, rising costs, and workforce shortages⁴²⁰. Digital technologies can help alleviate these challenges through a variety of innovative solutions, as summarized in Figure 44.

Figure 44: Digital applications in education and healthcare

Education

- eLearning platforms expand educational opportunities, especially for communities with limited access to schooling and low -income families.
- Intelligeting Tutoring Systems can assist learners with personalized educational plans.
- Globally, 1/3 of the population has expressed concerns on the application of AI in education.

Healthcare

- eHealth applications expand access to healthcare and help deal with shortages in the availability of health professionals.
- Al offer support for clinical decisions with advanced diagnostics.
- Both patients and health professionals often lack the digital skills required to fully harness eHealth and AI applications

E-learning platforms and digital resources are expanding educational opportunities, especially for remote communities and for individuals with low income who cannot afford to study full-time. Similarly, e-health applications are enhancing access to medical services and contributing to more efficient use of time for doctors and patients⁴²¹, especially in rural areas or lowincome countries, where the availability of health professionals is limited and can be compensated with remote consultations.

The diffusion of both innovations has surged during the COVID-19 pandemic⁴²², but regional differences persist. China is leading the e-learning adoption (38%), followed by India (22%), and the US (7%)⁴²³. As to e-health, a global review of current practices⁴²⁴ revealed that the usage of eHealth is more advanced in North America and Asia, compared to the other world regions. The same study also underlined that the implementation of these solutions is often driven by local initiatives, as only 26% of the countries included in their sample had a nationwide approach to telemedicine.

More recently, alongside e-learning platforms and e-health services, AI has been deployed to boost the delivery of both education and healthcare services. In the former case, AI offers opportunities to improve online courses, identify learning gaps, and personalize learning experiences⁴²⁵, such as in the case of Intelligent Tutoring Systems, which elaborate on individual students' data to assess their progress and develop personalized learning support⁴²⁶. Likewise, AI promises to improve the operational efficiency of healthcare services by fostering patient-centred care⁴²⁷ and supporting clinical decisions with advanced diagnostics capabilities⁴²⁸. For example, in Daegu (South Korea), a portable X-ray machine with instant AI diagnostic has been used during the COVID-19 pandemic to quickly diagnose lung diseases with an accuracy of 99% (refer to Annex 3, Case 28).



Despite their promising potential, these AI applications often encounter the resistance of local communities. A global survey captured that, on average, one-third of the world population is concerned about the potential negative impacts of AI in education, with Indonesians (66%), Argentinians (63%) and Portuguese (62%) being the most skeptica ones⁴²⁹. The perception of AI in healthcare is generally less negative, although significant differences have been observed between Latin America and the rest of the world, as 75% of health professionals in the former region have expressed doubts over the outcomes of digital transformation on the healthcare sector⁴³⁰. Indeed, researchers have warned that ongoing digital divides (as discussed in Section 5.1) will eventually undermine the extent to which certain groups and communities can benefit from e-learning and e-health⁴³¹. The shortage of digital skills in the public sector (see Section 3.2) also constrains the effective implementation of AI and other digital technologies in both the healthcare and the education sector⁴³². Finally, the digitalization of health records and medical consultations has raised concerns about the security and protection of personal data⁴³³.

Whereas these technological advancements require further scrutiny to fully assess their implications for

urban communities, local actors are also developing innovative applications to support welfare enhancement in local communities through data-driven, evidence-based interventions⁴³⁴. An example is the *Socio-Economic Vulnerability Information Management System* (SEVIMS) set up in Beni (Nepal), which combines different real-time and predictive analytics to track socio-economic vulnerabilities and human development progress within the local area. The information elaborated by SEVIMS then is leveraged by the local government to improve both the delivery of public services and the effectiveness of policy-making processes⁴³⁵ (refer to Annex 3, Case 29).

Conclusions

The factual findings outlined in the previous sections have highlighted that, overall, the maturity level of cities in terms of digital transformation and people-centred smart city development remains uneven within and across the world regions. Whereas European and North American municipalities have extensively experimented with a variety of smart applications, their Asian and African counterparts are still burdened with infrastructural gaps that undermine the implementation of digital technologies. Similarly, European and Latin American countries are usually at a more advanced stage in the definition of snational regulations on key sociotechnical issues, such as data protection, technological interoperability and ethical and human rights considerations, while regulatory voids persist in other world regions, leaving local governments with little guidance to address ethical and security challenges associated with digital technologies. As a result, local governments are tackling these policy gaps by defining their own guidelines and regulations on the use of emerging technologies. This approach could, in the long-term, generate new inequalities within and across the world regions if an attempt to harmonize emerging regulations is not made.

Previous sections evidenced a series of factors that hinder the ability of global cities to harness the potential of peoplecentred smart cities and maximize their positive impacts on urban communities. A major obstacle remains the lack of digital skills and other advanced competencies, both within the public sector and in the general population. Worldwide, local governments are struggling to source the skillsets required to manage digital transformation, while local communities are still affected by broad digital divides that impact their participation in the design and governance of digital technologies. Whereas several efforts are already in place to sustain the capability building of municipal governments and other urban actors, little can be achieved if resource constraints and barriers to knowledge exchanges are not tackled, both locally and globally.

Another recurring issue observed across the world regions and different urban sectors, is the chronic lack of updated, detailed data on the actual outcomes of smart city projects. Worldwide, cities are struggling to monitor the performance of their initiatives and measure their social and environmental impacts. Although monitoring frameworks and metrics have been developed by multiple organizations, their practical implementation remains limited due to both structural and legal impediments to data and knowledge sharing. These issues do not only affect the thorough assessments of smart city projects and impacts: municipalities across the world are struggling to identify sustainable models for the scalability of digital applications and infrastructures in urban environments.

Recommendations

Building on this evidence, some recommendations are made, for consideration by policymakers, urban practitioners and other actors in the city environment. These recommendations are grouped across seven thematic areas to promote integrated solutions and reduce silos in approaching cross-cutting issues related to people-centred smart cities.

Inclusion, Equity, and Human Rights

- 1. Devise and enforce comprehensive policy guidance for the design of inclusive smart city solutions: national governments, in consultation with local authorities and international institutions, should define cohesive regulatory frameworks and harmonized standards to reinforce the accessibility, fairness, transparency, and inclusivity of digital services and infrastructures.
- 2. Establish national and international regulatory guidance and oversight on digital human rights and the ethical use of technology: international institutions should harmonize and coordinate their policies on the ethical use of digital technologies and digital human rights to provide local governments with clear, consistent guidance. The local enforcement of digital human rights regulations should be sustained and monitored by national regulatory authorities.
- 3. Build local capabilities for the collection and analysis of granular, disaggregated data: to enhance the monitoring of smart city projects and their impacts on diverse groups and communities, municipal governments and their partners should develop skills and procedures enabling the collection and analysis of data disaggregated for specific categories (such as gender or age) in compliance with existing data protection regulations.
- 4. mplement ex-ante and ex-post human rights impact assessments at the local level throughout the technology development and implementation lifecycle: public entities at different administrative levels should cooperate with civil society organizations, academic institutions and citizens to build holistic frameworks for evaluating ex-ante the impacts of smart city projects in terms of inclusion, equity and fairness, and to enforce human rights diligence in public and private organizations.

Community Participation and Collaboration

- Develop context-specific strategies for citizens engagement, leveraging a mix of online and offline tools: municipal governments, in collaboration with representatives of the local civil society, should identify existing barriers to residents' engagement and identify the optimal mix of online and offline participatory tools to be deployed to maximize the participation of local communities in the different stages of people-centred smart city development.
- 2. Establish community partnerships to build a relationship of trust with residents: municipal governments should partner with other local public organizations (such as schools, community hubs, recreation centers and libraries), community groups, and civil society organizations to overcome the mistrust of citizens towards the public sector and digital technologies.
- 3. Build local capabilities to sustain participatory planning processes: local governments and civil society organizations should work with academic institutions to assemble the skills and know-how needed to implement participatory processes that are truly inclusive and capable of engaging those groups of citizens that currently do not engage in smart city initiatives.
- 4. Implement communications and feedback processes to ensure that local communities are always kept informed on the progress of smart city initiatives they contributed to: in order to enhance the transparency and accountability of smart city projects, municipal governments and their partners should commit to keeping residents regularly informed on the progress of the decisions that were made with their input. A mix of online and offline channels should be leveraged to ensure that all residents and other stakeholders are kept in the loop and can monitor the advancement of people-centred smart city development.

Digital Literacy

- 1. Establish metrics and processes to rigorously monitor the state of the digital divide in urban contexts: local businesses and educational institutions should be involved in the monitoring of digital skills to map their local diffusion and identify emerging capacity and skills' needs National authorities should also collaborate with local governments and research institutions to establish a systematic process for collecting and analyzing up-to-date data on digital services involving their availability, affordability and adoption.
- 2. Devise comprehensive strategies to address ongoing and emerging digital divides: local and national actors involved in the reduction of the digital divide and the promotion of digital literacy should define joint action plans to coordinate their interventions and ensure complementarity among their proposed measures, starting from a systematic recollection and measurement of the various sources of digital divide affecting local communities.
- 3. Create dynamic approaches to sustain the capacity-building of local communities: local governments should partner with civil society organizations and educational institutions to devise a long-term strategy for the lifelong learning of residents through a varied mix of educational resources aimed at enhancing the digital literacy, technical skills and ethical awareness of local communities.
- 4. Leverage alternative media to sensitize local communities on the multifaceted impacts of digital services and infrastructures: through communication campaigns, public events and training, municipal governments and civil society organizations should work together with local communities to increase their awareness of societal, economic and environmental impacts of digital technologies.

Shared Prosperity

- Develop detailed, data-driven assessments on digital transformations' impacts: governments at all levels should collaborate with universities and research institutes to create detailed, data-driven assessments that evaluate the impacts of digital transformations on urban economies. These assessments should focus on key areas such as sustainable economic growth, inclusive employment opportunities, and the creation of new market prospects.
- 2. Update procurement regulations to incorporate innovative practices to facilitate the participation of small and medium enterprises in public tenders for the sourcing of digital services and infrastructures: national and international policymakers should update the laws and regulations norming procurement processes to reinforce their flexibility and openness, by prioritizing interoperable technical formats and intellectual property rights arrangements that enable unrestricted flows of data and knowledge among public and private parties.
- 3. Create synergies with other local authorities to share and maximize the benefits of smart city development: to guarantee that the benefits of smart city projects are equally shared in neighbouring communities, local governments within the same province or territory should work together to develop joint action plans and projects spanning across multiple administrative borders, ultimately targeting economic inequalities in the territory.
- 4. Formulate a long-term financial plan to sustain both the experimentation and the sustainability and scalability of smart city projects: local and national governments should leverage alternative funding sources to guarantee the continuation of smart city projects beyond their piloting phase, while still supporting new entrepreneurial efforts (especially from communities usually under-represented).
- 5. Experiment with innovative mechanisms to build trust-based, long-lasting cross-sector partnerships: local and national policymakers with private companies and academic institutions should lead conjoint efforts to conceive new formal and informal mechanisms for the long-term coordination and collaboration of smart city partners from different sectors, with a specific focus on the safeguard of intellectual property rights, data sharing and data governance.

Environmental Sustainability

1. Harmonize environmental regulations to facilitate the embedding of environmental objectives in peoplecentred smart cities: national and international policymakers should coordinate and integrate their policies and regulations concerning the green and digital transitions to facilitate the definition and monitoring of environmental outcomes within smart city initiatives.

- Refine methods and metrics for the measurement of the environmental impacts of digital infrastructures and services: international institutions should work with universities, research institutions and community organizations to harmonize and streamline existing approaches to the collection, analysis and sharing of data on the environmental impacts of digital services and infrastructures.
- 3. Establish standards for the sustainable design of digital technologies: at the national and international level, policymakers should work with industry players to define and enforce universal standards for the design of sustainable digital technologies to regulate their direct and indirect emissions, minimize their impact on natural ecosystems, and make their recycling more efficient.
- 4. Include lifecycle impact assessments in the strategic planning of smart city projects: municipal governments should work with civil society organizations, industry players and academic researchers to develop rigorous methodologies for the lifecycle impact assessments of smart city services and infrastructures, to be embedded in their implementation plans and procurement processes.

Governance and Regulations

- Introduce coordination mechanisms for the alignment of local and national smart city agendas: local and national governments should identify a set of participatory procedures to coordinate and align their strategic agendas while ensuring that smart city visions and plans remain place-based, community-led and contextspecific.
- 2. Establish structural and procedural arrangements to enhance the multilevel governance of smart city initiatives: municipal and national administration should revise their multilevel configurations and processes to foster knowledge and data sharing among public organizations, enhance the coordination of complementary policies and regulations, and promote long-term programs in support of people-centred smart city development.
- 3. Experiment with innovative practices for the recruitment and exchange of talents from within and outside the *public sector*: to overcome existing skills shortages, municipal governments should be given the opportunity to implement innovative practices for the attraction of professionals with advanced expertise and the sharing of human resources with third parties, internal and external to the public sector.
- 4. Build a public sector culture of digital innovation that is people-centred and aligned with public values: change management techniques should be leveraged within local and national administrations to promote a cultural shift at both the organizational and the sectoral level, integrating public values with a pro-innovation and pro-collaboration mindset.

Digital Infrastructures and Smart City Services

- 1. Reinforce public oversight over critical infrastructures and essential services: to facilitate and guarantee the enforcement of cybersecurity and digital human rights, national regulatory authorities should be granted additional powers to oversee the governance of digital infrastructures and services, while local communities should be actively involved in their design and monitoring.
- Establish ad-hoc programmes to support local entrepreneurial efforts aimed at tackling urban challenges through social and digital innovation: municipal governments should employ a mix of financial and non-financial measures to sustain grassroots initiatives and entrepreneurial ventures harnessing digital and social innovation to develop place-based smart city applications.
- 3. Nurture collaborative partnerships among municipalities to facilitate the co-creation of scalable and adaptable urban innovations: municipal governments should partner with each other to collaboratively design technological solutions and innovative governance practices that can be transferred and adapted to diverse local contexts.
- 4. Leverage alternative business models for digital infrastructures and services: local and national governments should work with private suppliers and research institutions to devise, test and implement innovative business models for inclusive and people-centred digital services and infrastructures.

Annexes

ANNEX 1: SOURCES OF QUANTITATIVE DATA

Dataset	Source	Year	Description	Link
Atlas of Urban Al	Global Observatory of Urban Al	2024	Global repository of municipal initiatives to enhance the fairness and transparency of artificial intelligence.	https://gouai.cidob.org/atlas/
Government Open-Source Software Policies)	Center for Strategic and International Studies	2022	Repository of open-source software policies	https://www.csis.org/programs/strategic- technologies-program/resources/government- open-source-software-policies
Data Protection Around the World	Commission Nationale de l'Informatique et des Libertés	2023	Repository of national data protection policies	https://www.cnil.fr/en/data-protection-around- the-world
Global assessment of responsible AI in cities	UN-Habitat	2024	Global survey on the use of artificial intelligence in cities (Sample: 122 municipalities)	https://unhabitat.org/global-assessment-of- responsible-ai-in-cities
Global Review of Smart City Governance Practices	UN-Habitat	2022	Global survey on governance practices in smart cities (Sample: 289 municipalities)	https://unhabitat.org/global-review-of-smart- city-governance-practices
Mobile Gender Gap Report 2024	GSMA	2024	Global survey on gender gaps in the use of mobile services (Sample: 13,600 individuals across 12 low- and middle- income countries)	https://www.gsma.com/r/gender-gap/
The State of Mobile Internet Connectivity Report 2023	GSMA	2023	Global analysis on the availability and use of mobile services	https://www.gsma.com/r/somic/
ITU Data Hub	ITU	2024	Multiple datasets tracking the global progress of digital infrastructures' use and diffusion, and of the related policies adopted at national levels.	https://datahub.itu.int/
Global eWaste Monitor	ITU	2024	Global study on the management and policymaking of eWaste	https://ewastemonitor.info/global-e-waste- monitors/
UN-DESA eGovernment survey 2024	UN-DESA	2024	Global survey on national and municipal practices related to e-government (Sample: 193 cities, 151 municipal portals)	https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/ en-us/Reports/UN-E-Government-Survey-2024

ANNEX 2: SOURCES OF QUALITATIVE DATA

Interview Code	Role of the interviewee	Country
Interview 1	National expert	Argentina
Interviews 2-5	Municipal expert	Argentina
Interview 6	National expert	Austria
Interview 7-9	Municipal expert	Austria
Interviews 10, 11	National expert	Azerbaijan
Interview 12	Municipal expert	Azerbaijan
Interview 13	Municipal expert	Bangladesh
Interviews 14, 15	National expert	Belgium
Interview 16	Municipal expert	Belgium
Interview 17	Municipal expert	Bolivia
Interview 18	National expert	Botswana
Interview 19, 20	National expert	Brazil
Interview 21-25	Municipal expert	Brazil
Interview 26	Municipal expert	Cameroon
Interview 27- 29	Municipal expert	Canada
Interview 30	National expert	Canada
Interview 31-39	Municipal expert	China
Interview 40-45	Municipal expert	Colombia
Interview 46	Municipal expert	Costa Rica
Interview 47	Municipal expert	Czechia
Interview 48-55	National expert	Denmark
Interview 56,57	National expert	Denmark
Interview 58	National expert	Egypt
Interview 59	National expert	El Salvador
Interview 60-68	Municipal expert	Estonia
Interview 69	Municipal expert	Finland
Interview 70	National expert	France
Interview 71,72	Municipal expert	France
Interview 73	Municipal expert	Gambia
Interview 74-79	National expert	Germany
Interview 80-87	Municipal expert	Germany
Interview 88	National expert	Ghana
Interview 89	Municipal expert	Ghana
Interview 90	National expert	Iceland
Interview 91	Municipal expert	India
Interview 92	National expert	Indonesia

Interview Code	Role of the interviewee	Country
Interview 93	Municipal expert	Iran
Interview 94	Municipal expert	Israel
Interview 95	National expert	Israel
Interview 96-99	Municipal expert	Italy
Interview 100	National expert	Japan
Interview 101	National expert	Lithuania
Interview 102	Municipal expert	Malaysia
Interview 103	National expert	Mauritius
Interview 104	National expert	Mexico
Interview 105	National expert	Mexico
Interview 106	National expert	Moldova
Interview 107,108	National expert	Morocco
Interview 109	Municipal expert	Mozambique
Interview 110,111	Municipal expert	Netherlands
Interview 112	National expert	Nigeria
Interview 113	National expert	North Macedonia
Interview 114	National expert	North Macedonia
Interview 115	Municipal expert	State of Palestine
Interview 116	Municipal expert	Poland
Interview 117	National expert	Portugal
Interview 118, 119	Municipal expert	Portugal
Interview 120	Municipal expert	Romania
Interview 121	National expert	Russia
Interview 122	National expert	Senegal
Interview 123	Municipal expert	Slovakia
Interview 124-126	National expert	South Africa
Interview 127	Municipal expert	South Africa
Interview 128	National expert	South Africa
Interview 129-135	Municipal expert	Spain
Interview 136-139	Municipal expert	Switzerland
Interview 140	National expert	Tunisia
Interview 141, 142	Municipal expert	Tunisia
Interview 143,144	National expert	United Kingdom
Interview 145-147	Municipal expert	United Kingdom
Interview 148-153	Municipal expert	United States
Interview 154-155	National expert	United States

ANNEX 3: CASE STUDIES

Case 1 – Using SGMB to improve horticulture value chains in Bihar, India.

Bihar, located in Eastern India, is the country's third most populous state. The SGMB approach was used to map the fruit and vegetable value chain⁴³⁶. This helped to uncover location-specific barriers, such as toll booths and traffic jams, hindering market access. Different participants in the SGMB, including farmers and traders, had the opportunity to use participatory GIS tools to visualize market locations, transport routes, and other factors within quantitative system dynamic models, leading to an improvement in their decision-making processes. These tools also enabled open discussions on future scenarios for the value chains of fruit and vegetable markets.

Case 2 – Collaborative spatial data for urban planning in Indonesia.

To address urban challenges in Indonesia, the World Bank's City Planning Labs and CAPSUS team have proposed three interrelated urban planning tools: Urban Hotspots (UH), Urban Performance (UP), and CollabData437. These tools were tested using geospatial data from six Indonesian cities (Balikpapan, Bandung, Banjarmasin, Denpasar, Semarang, and Solo). These pilots demonstrated several advantages such as the effective identification of strategic locations for new urban services, the evaluation of spatial plans by developing scenarios, and the facilitation of public consultations and social monitoring. They also highlighted a major concern regarding the quality and maintenance of the datasets used for spatial planning. In this regard, it has been suggested that open data portals could help overcome such risks, by allowing data to be directly pooled and kept up to date.

CASE 3 – Digital twins as digital planning models for Bavaria.

Bavaria, located in the southeast of Germany, is the country's second most populous state. In 2023-2024, the Bavarian State Ministry for Digital Affairs launched the TwinBy program to support municipalities in creating digital twins. Funded projects benefited from consultancy services and utilized a common academic framework, the Smart District Data Infrastructure, developed by the Technical University of Munich. This framework is meant to enable municipalities to plan and implement projects in different urban sectors at lower costs and with reduced timeframes. For example, as part of the "Inter-municipal 3D Energy Planning 4.0" project, digital twins have been used to better estimate the costs of solar systems to install on individual buildings, improving their implementation efficiency⁴³⁸. Another project, simulating flooding scenarios in Schwabach, has demonstrated the advantages of digital twins in advancing the prevention and protection from natural disasters⁴³⁹.

Case 4 – Urban Lab: dynamic traffic forecasting in Barcelona.

Barcelona Urban Lab has implemented a smart traffic management system that combines video analytics and sensors installed at parking spots to gather real-time data on parking availability and current traffic conditions. This data is then used to optimize traffic flow in the city, one of the busiest in Spain. This initiative has led to significant positive outcomes, including a 30% reduction in traffic congestion, shorter commute times, improved air quality, and a 15% increase in the efficiency of public transport services. These improvements not only benefited residents and visitors but also had positive economic impacts, enhancing accessibility for businesses and improving delivery

services. Barcelona's experience, therefore, highlights the importance of traffic management systems in creating smarter, more sustainable cities, offering valuable insights for urban areas worldwide facing similar challenges amid rapid urbanization⁴⁴⁰.

CASE 5 – Mexico pioneering the first 3D-printed house community.

Nacajuca is a city in southeastern Mexico, in a jungle region where about half of its inhabitants live below the poverty line. A project involving non-profit and construction organizations delivered the construction of a neighborhood with 500 houses of 46 m2, making it the world's first community with 3D-printed houses. The construction is simple and fast: a tablet or smartphone controls the printer, requires only about three workers, and can finish a house in less than 24 hours without sacrificing quality. Also, the houses are adapted to local conditions: Nacajuca is in a seismic zone, and the houses there have already withstood a 7.4-magnitude earthquake.

CASE 6 – Limerick employing digital twins to promote urban energy sustainability.

Limerick, a city in Mid-West Ireland, is part of the EU Horizon 2020 +CityxChange project, whose aim is to establish a sustainable, zero-emissions urban ecosystem and create smart positive energy districts, generating more energy than they consume. Digital twin technologies, integrating data from Open Street Maps and other socio-economic sources, were utilized to create a model of the Georgian Innovation District, to analyze CO2 production and energy use within the district. Digital twins of each building were created, incorporating virtual energy models and an artificial intelligence algorithm where data was lacking. Simple operational measures

across the buildings led to collective energy saving ranging from 5% to 13%.

Case 7 – Traffic control system in Los Angeles.

The city of Los Angeles (USA) introduced an automated Traffic Surveillance and Control system (ATSAC) which leverages real-time data from sensors embedded in the roadways to adapt signal timings according to the current traffic demand. Through this dynamic optimization of signal timings, the ATSAC system performance concluded that stops were reduced by 35%, intersection delay by 20%, travel time by 13%, fuel consumption by 12.5%, and air emissions by 10%⁴⁴¹.

Case 8 - The "Amman Bus" project.

Amman Bus was launched in 2019 to modernize the public transport system of the Jordan capital by integrating AI technology and real-time data442. Operating along 27 planned routes spanning the Greater Amman Area, the service provides the passengers of public buses with real-time information on delays and schedule updates, delivered through a smartphone app. This app also enables bus users to locate nearby stops, identify the quickest routes, and settle their fares online before boarding. The success of the Amman Bus project demonstrates that Al-driven solutions can be both cost-effective and accessible to a wide demographic. By leveraging similar models, other cities within developing nations can potentially replicate this approach, showcasing that sophisticated traffic management systems need not be expensive or exclusive to more developed regions.

Case 9 – Managed Electric Vehicle charging in Kyoto.

The clustering of electric vehicles (EVs) during charging can strain local distribution grids, hindering the uptake of Low-Emission Vehicles (LEVs), particularly among private

vehicle owners. To address this, Kyoto (Japan) established an EV Charging Management Centre, which utilizes a 3G network to collect data on EVs and advise drivers on optimal charging times and stations to avoid grid congestion⁴⁴³. Results from trials showed a significant reduction in recharging volume during peak demand periods, indicating the effectiveness of the system in managing overload. Success is attributed to incentives offered to participants who adhere to demand response requests, such as gaining shopping points. This approach could be adopted by cities interested in supporting LEVs but concerned about grid strain caused by clustering.

Case 10 – BiciCarga: Pilot for lastmile distribution with cargo bikes.

BiciCarga in Bogota (Colombia) deploys electric cargo bikes for last-mile deliveries to reduce transport pollution and increase efficiency. The project uses a cross-docking platform where electric trucks consolidate products into e-cargo bikes, powered by solar energy. It assesses smart energy management and last-mile operations for scalability. During the pilot, the partnership replaced trucks and motorcycles with electric bikes, avoiding significant CO₂ emissions and reducing daily working hours for drivers. It substantially increased deliveries per hour and per kilometer. A financial model was created to determine when using cargo bikes is more efficient and sustainable, especially in areas with high customer density. This initiative aligns with Colombia's commitment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 51% by 2030, focusing on decarbonizing the last-mile urban freight sector, crucial in a city like Bogota where 48% of emissions come from freight transport444.

CASE 11 – Electric cargo bikes in Accra, Ghana: Supporting net zero decarbonization efforts.

Net Zero Accra is a collaborative project between Impact Hub Accra and Siemens Stiftung, that aims to support Ghana's decarbonization efforts by 15% by 2030445,446. Its initial success showcases the multifaceted impact of smart city mobility services on social inclusion, economic growth, environmental sustainability, and policy advocacy. The project focuses on electric mobility, specifically 'Made in Ghana' electric cargo bikes, which are manufactured locally in Accra and Tamale, proportionally using recycled materials. It also involves a lease-toown financing system to make electric bikes accessible to disadvantaged populations and has created green jobs and training opportunities. Additionally, the project has fostered collaboration among regional stakeholders in conducting research and development of electric vehicle technology. Through various engagements, the project has established parameters for test bikes with the Ghana Standards Authority and facilitated communications with the Transport Ministry and its agencies to support the Drive Electric policy. Despite benefits, several constraints need to be addressed to foster the adoption of electric mobility, such as financing options that facilitate expanded production, adaptable regulations on taxes and licenses, charging infrastructure, social acceptance, and technological access to test various components of electric vehicles.

Case 12 – Cycle-to-work scheme in Jönköping Municipality.

In 2016, the Swedish municipality of Jönköping launched a cycle-to-work scheme for its staff, allowing them to rent a maximum of two bicycles for up to three years. After this period, the municipal employees joining the scheme have been given the possibility to decide whether to acquire the bicycle or return it for free. Between 2018 and 2023, approximately 20% of the municipal staff took advantage of this initiative and 90% of them decided to keep their bicycle at the end of the 3-year period. A study of this program has estimated a benefit-cost ratio comprised between 4.11 and 7.15 (depending on different parameters and scenarios), which means for every dollar invested in this

scheme, the city has obtained benefits that can be quantified between USD 4.11 and USD 7.17⁴⁴⁷. These benefits include a reduction of air and noise pollution, optimized travel time, and lower rates of absenteeism as a consequence of better health and well-being of municipal employees.

Case 13 - Brisbane Active School Travel (AST).

Since 2004, the city of Brisbane (Australia) has run the AST program to encourage the active mobility of students and teachers through a range of resources and incentives. Schools joining the program are assisted by a dedicated Council expert and provided with customized travel maps and training sessions on cycling and public transportation uses⁴⁴⁸. Gamification is also employed to stimulate the participation of students, through class and school leaderboards⁴⁴⁹. Over the years the program has involved more than 147,000 students from 177 schools. In 2023, it has been estimated that, in the first year of joining the program, schools increase their active travel by 17% on average. Another study has concluded that the program has contributed to replacing 35% of single-family car trips with active modes of transportation⁴⁵⁰.

Case 14 – Rau Kūmara Solar Farm, a community energy project in New Zealand.

The Rau Kūmara Solar Farm is a community-led renewable energy project initiated by the Energise Ōtaki Charitable Trust in 2015⁴⁵¹. With financial support from the Wellington Community Trust in 2019, the project aims to generate clean energy for the local community. It involves the installation of solar arrays at Ōtaki College and the Ōtaki wastewater treatment plant. Revenue generated from these installations, through power purchase agreements at commercial rates, are used to support community initiatives such as alleviating energy poverty and promoting environmental education. One of the key challenges

in such a project was mobilizing key stakeholders. A successful approach might involve leveraging the positive reputation of other local energy initiatives. A well-aligned team with a clear plan was also instrumental in overcoming this challenge.

Case 15 – Smart water management in Seosan City.

Seosan City, situated on South Korea's west coast, was the home of 173,715 people in 2015. In 2016, the city launched the Smart Seosan City project in response to the challenge of drought⁴⁵². The initiative employed smart water metering utilizing remote and digital meters. This resulted in a reduction in water leakage (190,000 m3 per year) and an improvement in revenue water ratio (20%). Additionally, customer satisfaction increased thanks to prompt complaint handling and enhanced service delivery.

Case 16 - Water ATMs in Ghana.

Yawkwei is a growing peri-urban community within the Asante Akim South Municipal Assembly in the Ashanti region of Ghana. Since they were installed in 2018, water ATMs have been the most used water source in the community, besides private standpipes and community boreholes⁴⁵³. While users perceived water ATMs as providing more reliable and faster access to water compared to other types of water provision, water ATMs were not always effective in saving users' costs (e.g. due to the machines' operational characteristics) or in enhancing social relations and empowerment (e.g. due to the digital disparities among households).

Case 17 – An IoT platform for water monitoring in Vietnam.

In 2020, researchers from the Ho Chi Minh City University of Technology and the University of Technology Sydney launched a pioneering IoT-based sea environment monitoring platform in Xuan Dai Bay, Vietnam's south-central province of Phu Yen^{454,455}. The platform can provide real-time data on offshore environmental conditions and is of special importance for Vietnam's aquaculture industry, as it favors the prevention of fish disease prevention and the protection of marine biodiversity. The project has also allowed the local government to better plan for aquaculture and other local activities, such as sustainable tourism⁴⁵⁶.

Case 18 – Citizen science and sensors for lake water quality monitoring.

Citizen science was utilized as part of a research project conducted in 2018 and aimed to monitor and protect the water ecosystem of Uzungöl, a lake in northern Türkiye⁴⁵⁷. In this project, citizen science entailed the identification of key water quality parameters and training volunteers from the community who subsequently collected water quality data for analysis at four sampling locations. An open-source mobile application was also developed for citizens to collect and store data. The project's results indicated the potential of citizen science as a complementary and valuable tool for not only increasing data collection and community engagement but also raising citizens' awareness of water quality and environmental issues. Nevertheless, some challenges also emerged, concerning the motivations of volunteer groups, the interoperability between the data collected by residents and by sensors, and the high cost of the latter.

Case 19 – Smart bins in Wyndham City, Australia.

Wyndham City was one of the first councils in Victoria, Australia to install smart garbage and recycling bins in 2017⁴⁵⁸. These solar-powered bins automatically compress waste, increasing their capacity fivefold compared to traditional street bins. Additionally, sensors notify the council staff when bins are nearly full, reducing the need for frequent emptying. In the first six months of implementation, these smart bins significantly reduced garbage truck trips by 80%, leading to cost savings and environmental benefits.

Case 20 – Machine learning and image techniques to detect street litter in Medellín, Colombia.

Smart cities have increasingly experimented with machine learning and deep learning models, such as Convolutional Neural Networks, to enhance the accuracy of waste detection and classification⁴⁵⁹. A recent study conducted in Medellín, Colombia, exemplifies this approach⁴⁶⁰. Researchers developed a model that integrated machine learning techniques with high-resolution (VHR) imagery and GIS data to differentiate various types of street litter. The model exhibited promising results with high accuracy levels of waste detection (from 73.95% to 95.76%).

Case 21 – Urban mining in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

The urban mining approach employs recycling and circular solutions aiming to reduce waste by recovering and reusing material value⁴⁶¹. Rotterdam's ambitious circularity goals in 2030, such as reducing the use of primary raw materials by 50%, have seen a focus on this approach⁴⁶². The city will explore opportunities for resource recovery and reuse by identifying materials in buildings scheduled for demolition, e-waste, or unwanted vehicles. Despite its potential, broader adoption of urban mining seems to be slow in the Netherlands, with only 8% of materials reused. Several obstacles may be related to the affordability of circular products and refurbishment costs. This underlines the need to strike a balance between environmental benefits and economic feasibility in circular solutions.

Case 22 – Transforming waste management system in Freetown, Sierra Leone.

Freetown, the capital of Sierra Leone, embarked on an ambitious plan to significantly improve waste collection and disposal rates by 30% to 60%, from 2021 to 2022⁴⁶³. To achieve this goal, the City Council joined forces with Freetown Waste Transformers (FWT) company and mobile network providers to create a digital waste management system. FTW's solutions, supported by a 2-year GSMA Innovation Fund for Digital Urban Services, have demonstrated benefits to 46,552 Freetown residents⁴⁶⁴. The core element involved the DortiBox app. This app used Global Positioning System (GPS) to track waste collectors and allows residents to schedule pickups and pay for services, leading to improved waste collection efficiency and increased city revenue. FWT also collaborated with the Waste Collectors Management Association to train 322 waste collectors on the new system. Additionally, a successful pilot project generated 12,205 kWh of clean energy from about 12 tons of organic waste from landfills, demonstrating the viability of a wasteto-energy solution. Despite benefits, challenges remain, such as smartphone access and mobile money penetration, which need to be addressed for wider adoption.

Case 23 – AI systems to prevent floods in the Far North region of Cameroon.

The Far North region of Cameroon, home to about 3.5 million people, is highly vulnerable to climatic hazards, experiencing a 9-month dry season and a 3-month rainy season. This region frequently suffers from floods, causing significant loss of life, destruction of homes, crops, and grazing areas, and disrupting economic activities. Due to the scarcity of (expensive) groundbased meteorological stations, real-time measurement of hydrological variables is challenging. Conversely, AI systems, leveraging machine learning and deep learning, offer a more reliable alternative for flood forecasting⁴⁶⁵, learning from

limited observed data. Also, Al is providing a practical alternative to computationally intensive physicalbased models⁴⁶⁶. By combining Al with traditional techniques, their performance can be enhanced, improving the accuracy and reliability of flood forecasts in the Far North region of Cameroon.

CASE 24 – Al-enabled mapping of the social vulnerability to earthquakes in Iran.

Tabriz, located in northwest Iran, is a major industrial center with a population of over 1.39 million, ranking as Iran's fourth most densely populated city. It has a significant industrial base, including automotive, machinery, cement, oil, and petrochemical industries. The city's rich history is marked by numerous historical monuments, many of which have suffered earthquake damage due to its proximity to the North Tabriz Fault. To mitigate the social impact, it was developed a novel AI-based framework to evaluate social vulnerability, highlighting the importance of understanding vulnerability patterns for effective urban planning and policy formulation. Based on diverse sources of data, the AI assessment identified five vulnerability zones in the city: very high, high, moderate, low, and very low with a high accuracy of 95.6%⁴⁶⁷. These findings have been invaluable in helping policymakers and urban planners mitigate earthquake risks, reduce damage, and minimize casualties through informed decision-making and targeted strategies.

CASE 25 – Major US cities discontinuing gunshot detection systems.

Since 2018, the city of Chicago (United States) has invested USD 49 million in gunshot detection systems, which employ AI and microphones to identify gunshots within a certain area. From September 2024, however, this system will no longer be in use, following the decision of the City's Mayor to cease the contract with the supplier of the underlying technology. This decision has been opposed by local police leaders arguing that technology is essential for modern policing. Police data, indeed, shows a downward trend of violent crime with a 30% drop in homicides⁴⁶⁸. Nonetheless, the gunshot detection system has been contested by community safety groups in Chicago for reproducing racial biases and directing police to predominantly Black and Latino neighborhoods⁴⁶⁹. Similar issues with the system's accuracy have led other cities, such as Atlanta and Portland, to discontinue their contracts⁴⁷⁰.

CASE 26 – Bájale al Acoso (Turn Down Harassment) – Quito, Ecuador.

"Bájale al Acoso" is a pioneering initiative implemented in Quito, Ecuador, to combat sexual harassment in the public transport system by enabling instant reporting via text messages. The project emerged from the city's commitment to addressing sexual violence issues, following protocols established in 2014 and joining the UN Women's Safe Cities Global Initiative in 2016. Initially piloted on municipal buses, it was eventually expanded to all public transport systems. Over two years, 2,800 cases of harassment were reported, resulting in legal action against 73 perpetrators. Beyond legal repercussions, the project has fostered widespread awareness of gender violence, contributing to a cultural shift towards a safer, more inclusive society. Its success has prompted replication in other cities like Buenos Aires, Argentina, highlighting its potential for broader impact and societal empowerment of women⁴⁷¹.

CASE 27 - Safetipin - Delphi, India.

Safetipin, a mobile app, emerged from a collective effort by women's rights advocates in India following the aftermath of the tragic Nirbhaya rape case in 2012⁴⁷². This app empowers users to evaluate the safety of various locations based on factors such as lighting, openness, and visibility, among others. By aggregating these assessments, Safetipin generates safety ratings for different areas, enabling individuals to make informed decisions about their routes and destinations. The app also facilitates location sharing, enhancing users' sense of security. The data collected through crowdsourcing is then shared with local authorities to enhance city infrastructure, including improvements in lighting and pathways.

CASE 28 – Hospitals in South Korea using portable AI-powered X-ray machines

Daegu, a city in North Gyeongsang province, is the nation's fourth-largest metropolitan area with over 2.3 million residents. During the COVID-19 pandemic, Daegu used an Al-based portable chest X-ray camera, roughly the size of a professional photo camera, to speed up patient triage. This device, equipped with an AI algorithm, can detect abnormalities in chest X-rays within three seconds with an accuracy of 99%⁴⁷³. Along with COVID-19, it aids in the diagnosis of major lung diseases such as lung cancer, tuberculosis, and pneumonia. It played a crucial role in prioritizing patients during the pandemic by classifying intensive care cases⁴⁷⁴. As digital data, the diagnoses could be easily integrated into patients' electronic

health records. Daegu has developed a Smart City Data Hub, designed to manage and integrate the city's data, which includes the electronic health records of 96.64% of its population⁴⁷⁵. The city's effective response to the COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the advantages of a robust healthcare system, supported by advanced technology and data management, in managing public health crises.

CASE 29 – The Socio-Economic Vulnerability Information Management System (SEVIMS) of Beni, Nepal.

Beni, a city in the Himalayan range of Myagdi district, serves as the gateway to Manang and Mustang. Despite its population of over 30,000, the city struggles to provide services due to rapid population growth and challenges like the 2015 earthquake, labor migration, and the COVID-19 pandemic. To address these issues, a web-based system was developed by UNDP Nepal in partnership Pokhara University and Mid-West University to create SEVIMS, aiming at tracking human development, identifying vulnerabilities, and delivering timely services⁴⁷⁶. Key technologies in SEVIMS include a QR-based house identification linked to GPS for precise service delivery, predictive analytics to forecast socioeconomic and environmental risks, and real-time data analysis to help authorities respond promptly. These technologies help improve service delivery, support proactive management of socio-economic risks, and foster accountability⁴⁷⁷. After development, the system was handed over to the municipality.

References

- 1 Cooper, M. & Fengler, M. (2024). Cities drive global prosperity but the way they do that is changing. *World Economic Forum*. Available at: Cities drive global prosperity – but the way they do that is changing | World Economic Forum
- 2 Zhang, X. Q. (2016). The trends, promises and challenges of urbanisation in the world. Habitat International, 54, 241-252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2015.11.018
- 3 Rana, I. A., & Bhatti, S. S. (2018). Lahore, Pakistan Urbanization challenges and opportunities. *Cities*, 72, 348-355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2017.09.014
- 4 Dano, U. L., Balogun, A.-L., Abubakar, I. R., & Aina, Y. A. (2020). Transformative urban governance: confronting urbanization challenges with geospatial technologies in Lagos, Nigeria. *GeoJournal*, 85(4), 1039-1056. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-019-10009-1
- 5 Statista. (2024). Digital transformation statistics & facts. Available at: Digital transformation statistics & facts | Statista
- 6 Statista. (2024). Spending on digital transformation technologies and services worldwide from 2017 to 2027. Available at: Global digital transformation spending 2027 | Statista
- 7 Cities Today (2023). Smart city market to reach \$300 billion by 2032. https://citiestoday.com/smart-city-market-to-reach-300-billion-by-2032/
- 8 United for Smart Sustainable Cities. (2024). Guiding principles for artificial intelligence in cities. Available at: U4SSC Guiding principles for artificial intelligence in cities
- 9 Nguyen, H. T., Marques, P., & Benneworth, P. (2022). Living labs: Challenging and changing the smart city power relations? *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *183*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022.121866
- 10 UN-Habitat (nd). The People-Centred Smart Cities Flagship Programme. Available at: People Centred-Smart Cities | UN-Habitat
- 11 Mora, L., Gerli, P., Ardito, L., & Petruzzelli, A.M. (2023). Smart city governance from an innovation management perspective: Theoretical framing, review of current practices, and future research agenda. Technovation, 123, 102717.
- 12 Beckers, D., Gerli, P., Mora, L., Thabit, S., & Tonnarelli, F. (2022). Managing smart city governance – A playbook for local and regional governments https://unhabitat.org/ managing-smart-city-governance-a-playbook-for-local-and-regional-governments
- 13 Beckers, D., Gerli, P., Mora, L., Thabit, S., & Tonnarelli, F. (2022). Global Review of Smart City Governance Practices. Available at https://unhabitat.org/global-review-ofsmart-city-governance-practices
- 14 Resolution on International Guidelines on People Centred Smart Cities, Second Session of UN-Habitat Assembly (HSP/HA.2/Res.1) url https://unhabitat.org/sites/ default/files/2023/09/english_9.pdf
- 15 ITU (2016). Recommendation ITU-T Y.4900 https://www.itu.int/cities/about/
- 16 UN-Habitat (n.d.) The People-centred Smart Cities Flagship Programme. https:// unhabitat.org/programme/people-centred-smart-cities
- 17 Beckers, D., Gerli, P., Mora, L., Thabit, S., & Tonnarelli, F. (2023). Managing smart city governance: A playbook for local and regional governments.
- 18 Niti Aayog (2017). Cocody's Green City Plan: Leading the Way in Sustainable Development and Emissions Reduction in Côte d'Ivoire https://www.nitiforstates.gov. in/best-practice-detail?id=107496
- 19 UN-Habitat, IDRC & UNU-eGov (2024). Global assessment of responsible AI in cities. Available at https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/2024/08/global_assessment_of_ responsible_ai_in_cities_21082024.pdf
- 20 ITU Data Hub (2022). Digital development strategies. https://datahub.itu.int/ data/?i=100053`
- 21 UN DESA (2024). ICT in government (e-government indicators). Available at https:// publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/en-us/Data/ICT-in-government
- 22 Mora, L., Gerli, P., Ardito, L., & Petruzzelli, A.M. (2023). Smart city governance from an innovation management perspective: Theoretical framing, review of current practices, and future research agenda. Technovation, 123, 102717.
- 23 Trencher, G. (2019). Towards the smart city 2.0: Empirical evidence of using smartness as a tool for tackling social challenges. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 142, 117-128.
- 24 African Union (2020). Digital Transformation Strategy for Africa (2020-2030). https:// au.int/sites/default/files/documents/38507-doc-dts-english.pdf
- 25 Navío-Marco, J., Rodrigo-Moya, B., & Gerli, P. (2020). The rising importance of the" Smart territory" concept: definition and implications. *Land Use Policy*, 99, 105003.
- 26 ITU (2021). Digital solutions for integrated city management & use cases A U4SSC deliverable on city platforms. Digital solutions for integrated city management
- 27 Ministere de l'economie, des finances et de la relance (2017). De la smart cityt a la realite des territoires connectes. https://www.entreprises.gouv. fr/files/files/en-pratique/etudes-et-statistiques/dossiers-de-la-DGE/ rapport_de_la_smart_city_a_la_realite_des_territoires_connectes.pdf?utm_ source=Minist%C3%A8re+de+l%27%C3%A9conomie&utm_medium=Rapport
- 28 ITU (2021). South Malekula: A smart island of Vanuatu Preliminary study of needs

and priorities 2021. https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/ICT-Applications/Documents/ Smart%20Islands/Smart-Island VUT S-Malekula.pdf

- 29 Bartocci, L., Grossi, G., Mauro, S. G., & Ebdon, C. (2023). The journey of participatory budgeting: a systematic literature review and future research directions. International Review of Administrative Sciences, 89(3), 757-774. https://doi. org/10.1177/00208523221078938
- 30 UN-DESA (2024). United Nations E-Government Survey 2024. Available at: https:// publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/en-us/Reports/UN-E-Government-Survey-2024
- 31 EIP-SCC (2017). Participatory Budgeting: a tool for Inclusive Smart Cities. https:// smart-cities-marketplace.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/Presentation%20 Webinar%20PB.pdf
- 32 O'Hagan, A., OConnor, C. H., MacRae, C., & Teedon, P. (2019). Evaluation of Participatory Budgeting in Scotland 2016-2018.
- 33 Cardullo, P., & Kitchin, R. (2019). Being a 'citizen'in the smart city: Up and down the scaffold of smart citizen participation in Dublin, Ireland. GeoJournal, 84(1), 1-13.
- 34 Mora, L., Deakin, M., & Reid, A. (2019). Strategic principles for smart city development: A multiple case study analysis of European best practices. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 142, 70-97.
- 35 Luca Mora, et al. (2023). Smart city governance from an innovation management perspective: Theoretical framing, review of current practices, and future research agenda. Technovation, 123, 102717.
- 36 OECD (n.d.). Urban development and cities. https://www.oecd.org/cfe/cities/Smartcities-measurement-framework-scoping.pdf
- 37 ITU (2019). New International Standard for measuring the performance of cities going "smart" https://www.iso.org/news/ref2395.html
- 38 ITU (n.d.). United for Smart Sustainable Cities (U4SSC) initiative. https://u4ssc.itu. int/
- 39 He, L. (2023). Assessing the smart city: A review of metrics for performance assessment, risk assessment and construction ability assessment. *Cogent Economics* & *Finance*, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/23322039.2023.2273651
- 40 Janaaghra (2021). Liveability metrics. https://www.janaagraha.org/work/liveabilitymetrics/
- 41 Neves, F. T., de Castro Neto, M., & Aparicio, M. (2020). The impacts of open data initiatives on smart cities: A framework for evaluation and monitoring. *Cities*, 106, 102860.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2020.102860
- 42 https://opendataimpactmap.org/usecases
- 43 Gerli, P., Ferreri, M., Lauri, C., Regalia, M., & Williams, A. (2024). Addressing Inequalities in Smart Places: A Primer for Public Administrations and Third Sector Organisations. Available at SSRN 4800609.
- 44 Bu-Pasha, S. (2020). The controller's role in determining 'high risk' and data protection impact assessment (DPIA) in developing digital smart city. *Information & Communications Technology Law*, 29(3), 391–402. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600834. 2020.1790092
- 45 Calvi, A. (2024). Data Protection Impact Assessment under the EU General Data Protection Regulation: A Feminist Reflection. *Computer Law & Security Review*, 53, 105950. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clsr.2024.105950
- 46 World Bank (2013). Human rights impact assessments : a review of the literature, differences with other forms of assessments and relevance for development. Available at: Human rights impact assessments
- 47 Ahvenniemi, H., Huovila, A., Pinto-Seppä, I., & Airaksinen, M. (2017). What are the differences between sustainable and smart cities?. *Cities*, 60, 234-245.
- 48 Vandercruysse, L., Buts, C., & Dooms, M. (2020). A typology of smart city services: the case of data protection impact assessment. *Cities*, 104, 102731.
- 49 Calvi, A. (2022). Gender, data protection & the smart city: Exploring the role of DPIA in achieving equality goals. *European Journal of Spatial Development*, 19(3).
- 50 ITU Data Hub (2024). National broadband plans. https://datahub.itu.int/ data/?i=100113&s=11731&v=chart
- 51 ITU Data Hub (2024). National overarching ICT policy or Master Plan. https://datahub. itu.int/data/?i=100113&v=chart&s=16158
- 52 World Economic Forum (2023). Dig Once Model Policy. Available at https://www3. weforum.org/docs/WEF_Dig_Once_Model_Policy_2023.pdf
- 53 Gerli, P., Van der Wee, M., Verbrugge, S., & Whalley, J. (2018). The involvement of utilities in the development of broadband infrastructure: A comparison of EU case studies. *Telecommunications Policy*, 42(9), 726-743.
- 54 Houngbonon,Georges Vivien; Rossotto,Carlo Maria; Strusani,Davide. Municipal Broadband Networks - Opportunities, Business Models, Challenges, and Case Studies (English). EMCompass,No. 107 Washington, D.C. : World Bank
- 55 Yoo, C. S., Lambert, J., & Pfenninger, T. P. (2022). Municipal fiber in the United States: A financial assessment. Telecommunications Policy, 46(5), 102292.
- 56 CSIS (2023). Unpacking the Concept of Digital Public Infrastructure and Its Importance for Global Development. https://www.csis.org/analysis/unpacking-

concept-digital-public-infrastructure-and-its-importance-global-development

- 57 CSIS (2023). Unpacking the Concept of Digital Public Infrastructure and Its Importance for Global Development. https://www.csis.org/analysis/unpackingconcept-digital-public-infrastructure-and-its-importance-global-development
- 58 ITU Data Hub (2023). Regulatory Authority Institutional structure. https://datahub. itu.int/data/?i=100089&s=3144
- 59 Gómez-Barroso, J. L., & Feijóo, C. (2010). A conceptual framework for public-private interplay in the telecommunications sector. *Telecommunications Policy*, 34(9), 487-495.
- 60 Innerarity, D. (2023). *European digital sovereignty*. European University Institute.
- 61 De Filippi, P., & Tréguer, F. (2015). Expanding the Internet commons: The subversive potential of wireless community networks. *Journal of Peer Production, Issue*, (6).
- 62 EEAS (2022). What are Internet shutdowns? https://www.eeas.europa.eu/ eeas/what-are-internet-shutdowns_en#:~:text=Ever%20experienced%20an%20 %23InternetShutdown%3F,2016%2D2021%20in%2074%20countries.
- 63 Belli, L., de Souza Ramos, B., Antoniadis, P., Aubrée, V., Viñas, R. B., Dadoukis, A., ... & Tréguer, F. (2018). The community network manual: how to build the Internet yourself. FGV-Direito Rio.
- 64 Gerli, P., Mora, L., Zhang, J., & Sancino, A. (2024). Friends or enemies? Unraveling niche-regime interactions in grassroots digital innovations. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 202, 123342.
- 65 ITU Data Hub (2024). Cybersecurity framework and mandates. https://datahub.itu. int/data/?e=1&i=100103&s=8428
- 66 Stand ICT (2024). EU Observatory for ICT Standardisation. Standards Repository https://standict.eu/standards-repository?title=smart+city
- 67 Stand ICT (2024). Information technology Smart city ICT indicators https://standict. eu/standards-repository/information-technology-smart-city-ict-indicators
- 68 Stand ICT (2024). Y.4905 Smart sustainable city impact assessment https:// standict.eu/standards-repository/y4905-smart-sustainable-city-impact-assessment
- 69 OASC (2024). Minimal interoperability mechanisms. https://oascities.org/minimalinteroperability-mechanisms/
- 70 OneM2M (2024). Who we are. https://www.onem2m.org/harmonization-m2m
- 71 https://datastandards.directory/
- 72 https://www.ogc.org/
- 73 https://www.open-contracting.org/
- 74 Calvi, A. (2022). Gender, data protection & the smart city: Exploring the role of DPIA in achieving equality goals. *European Journal of Spatial Development*, 19(3).
- 75 CNIL (2024). Data protection around the world. https://www.cnil.fr/en/dataprotection-around-the-world
- 76 https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/data-governance-act
- 77 Filgueiras, F., & Lui, L. (2022). Designing data governance in Brazil: an institutional analysis. *Policy Design and Practice*, 6(1), 41–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/25741292.2 022.2065065
- ITU Data Hub (2024). Data policies. https://datahub.itu.int/data/?i=100111&s=34463
 UN Human Rights Office of the Higher Commissioner (2024). Human rights compliant
- 19 ON Human Rights Onice of the Higher Commissioner (2024). Human rights compliant uses of digital technologies by law enforcement for the facilitation of peaceful protests. https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/2024-03/Toolkit-law-enforcement-Component-on-Digital-Technologies.pdf
- 80 European Commission (2024). Al Act. https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/ policies/regulatory-framework-ai
- 81 https://gouai.cidob.org/atlas/
- 82 Vicente Lopez (2022). Declaración de principios de ética de inteligencia artificial (IA) en Vicente López.
- https://www.vicentelopez.gov.ar/declaracion-de-principios-de-etica-de-ia-en-vicente-lopez B3 Digital Dubai (2019). Al ethics principles & guidelines. https://www.digitaldubai.ae/
- pdfviewer/web/viewer.html?file=https://www.digitaldubai.ae/docs/default-source/ ai-principles-resources/ai-ethics.pdf?sfvrsn=d4184f8d_6
- 84 https://www.algorithmregister.org/standard
- 85 https://standaard.algoritmeregister.org/
- 86 https://www.transparenciaalgoritmica.es/
- 87 European Commission (2023). The Digital Markets Act. https://digital-markets-act. ec.europa.eu/index_en
- 88 European Commission (2024). The Digital Services Act. https://commission.europa. eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-2024/europe-fit-digital-age/digital-servicesact_en
- 89 UNESCO (2023). Guidelines for the Governance of Digital Platforms. https://www. unesco.org/en/internet-trust/guidelines
- 90 ILO (2021). ILO report: The role of digital labour platforms in transforming the world of work http://onlinelabourobservatory.org/paper/ilo-weso-report-2021/
- 91 Bunderarnt fur Justiz (2017). Gesetz zur Verbesserung der Rechtsdurchsetzung in sozialen Netzwerken. https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/netzdg/BJNR335210017. html
- 92 European Union (2019). Regulation (EU) 2019/1150 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 June 2019 on promoting fairness and transparency for business users of online intermediation services https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/

TXT/?uri=CELEX:32019R1150

- 93 Conectas (2023). Fake News Bill: understand in 6 points the legislation being discussed in Congress
- https://www.conectas.org/en/noticias/fake-news-bill-understand-in-6-points-the-legislation-being-discussed-in-congress/
- 94 ITU Data Hub (2024). Cybersecurity frameworks and mandates. https://datahub.itu. int/data/?i=100103&s=8428&v=chart&d=Areas+covered
- 95 W3C (n.d.) Introduction to Web Accessibility
- . https://www.w3.org/WAI/fundamentals/accessibility-intro/
- 96 UN-DESA (2024). United Nations E-Government Survey 2024. https:// desapublications.un.org/sites/default/files/publications/2024-09/%28Print%20 version%29%20E-Government%20Survey%202024%201392024.pdf
- 97 Gerli, P., Ferreri, M., Lauri, C., Regalia, M., & Williams, A. (2024). Addressing Inequalities in Smart Places: A Primer for Public Administrations and Third Sector Organisations.
- 98 Hui, C. X., Dan, G., Alamri, S., & Toghraie, D. (2023). Greening smart cities: An investigation of the integration of urban natural resources and smart city technologies for promoting environmental sustainability. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 99, 104985.
- 99 Sherman, S. (2024, September 20). Microsoft chooses infamous nuclear site for Al power. BBC. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/articles/cx25v2d7zexo
- 100 Ren, S. (2023, November 30). How much water does AI consume? The public deserves to know. OECD Artificial Intelligence Newsletter. https://oecd.ai/en/wonk/ how-much-water-does-ai-consume
- 101 Muench, S., Stoermer, E., Jensen, K., Asikainen, T., Salvi, M. and Scapolo, F., Towards a green and digital future, EUR 31075 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2022, ISBN 978-92-76-52451-9, doi:10.2760/977331, JRC129319.
- 102 Almulhim, A.I., Sharifi, A., Aina, Y.A. et al. Charting sustainable urban development through a systematic review of SDG11 research. Nat Cities 1, 677–685 (2024). https:// doi.org/10.1038/s44284-024-00117-6
- 103 Filiou, D., Kesidou, E., & Wu, L. (2023). Are smart cities green? The role of environmental and digital policies for Eco-innovation in China. World Development, 165, 106212.
- 104 STIP Compass (2024). STI policies for net zero. https://stip.oecd.org/stip/net-zeroportal
- 105 European Commission (2020). The European Green Deal. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Brussels.
- 106 European Commission (2024). Global Gateway: EU and ASEAN strengthen their partnership on sustainable connectivity. Available at https://internationalpartnerships.ec.europa.eu/news-and-events/news/global-gateway-eu-and-aseanstrengthen-their-partnership-sustainable-connectivity-2024-02-02_en
- 107 ITU (2024). Global E-Waste Monitor. https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Environment/ Pages/Publications/The-Global-E-waste-Monitor-2024.aspx
- 108 Lefifrance (2020). Loi n° 2020-105 du 10 février 2020 relative à la lutte contre le gaspillage et à l-économie circulaire. https://perma.cc/9YRB-SQGQ
- 109 European Parliament (2024). Right to repair: Making repair easier and more appealing to consumers. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/pressroom/20240419IPR20590/right-to-repair-making-repair-easier-and-more-appealingto-consumers
- 110 European Commission (2024). Commission adopts EU-wide scheme for rating sustainability of data centres. https://energy.ec.europa.eu/news/commission-adoptseu-wide-scheme-rating-sustainability-data-centres-2024-03-15_en
- 111 UNECE (2020). People-Smart Sustainable Cities. New York, US. https://unece.org/ sites/default/files/2021-01/SSC%20nexus_web_opt_ENG_0.pdf
- 112 ILO (2022). UN General Assembly recognizes human right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment. https://www.ilo.org/resource/article/un-general-assemblyrecognizes-human-right-clean-healthy-and-sustainable#:~:text=This%20reality%20 was%20recognized%20by,just%20a%20privilege%20for%20some.
- 113 Gupta, A., Panagiotopoulos, P., & Bowen, F. (2020). An orchestration approach to smart city data ecosystems. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 153, 119929.
- 114 Sancino, A., & Hudson, L. (2020). Leadership in, of, and for smart cities case studies from Europe, America, and Australia. *Public Management Review*, 22(5), 701–725. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2020.1718189
- 115 Luca Mora, et al. (2023) Smart city governance from an innovation management perspective: Theoretical framing, review of current practices, and future research agenda. Technovation, 123, 102717.
- 116 UNESCO (2023). Artificial Intelligence and digital transformation: competencies for civil servants. Available at https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000384963. locale=en
- 117 https://www.sparkblue.org/urbanlearningcenter
- 118 Deloitte (2021). Digital Government Transformation. The Journey to Government's Digital Transformation. https://www.deloitte.com/content/dam/assets-shared/ legacy/docs/perspectives/2022/gx-global-findings-digital-government-

transformation.pdf

- 119 OECD (2023). Public Employment and Management 2023. https://www.oecd.org/en/ publications/public-employment-and-management-2023_5b378e11-en/full-report/ component-4.html#chapter-d1e1727-c57fe038cd
- 120 ILO (2024). Who powers the public sector? https://ilostat.ilo.org/blog/who-powersthe-public-sector/
- 121 Naqvi, S. A. A., Zimmer, M., & Drews, P. (2024). Empowering the Public Sector: Unveiling the Transformational Potential of Low-Code in Crisis Responses. Paper presented at the Thirtieth Americas Conference on Information Systems, Salt Lake City (US).
- 122 Scheerder, A., Van Deursen, A., & Van Dijk, J. (2017). Determinants of Internet skills, uses and outcomes. A systematic review of the second-and third-level digital divide. *Telematics and informatics*, 34(8), 1607-1624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tele.2017.07.007
- 123 University of Pittsburgh & UNDP (2021). Gender Equality In Public Administration. https://www.girl.pitt.edu/sites/default/files/undp-upitt-2021-gender-equality-inpublic-administration-en3.pdf
- 124 Trencher, G. (2019). Towards the smart city 2.0: Empirical evidence of using smartness as a tool for tackling social challenges. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 142, 117-128.
- 125 Ortiz, I., & Cummins, M. (2022). End Austerity. A Global Report on Budget Cuts and Harmful Social Reforms in, 2025.
- 126 Kizuna (2022). Vision for a Digital Garden City Nation: Achieving Rural-Urban Digital Integration and Transformation. https://www.japan.go.jp/kizuna/2022/01/vision_ for a digital garden city nation.html
- 127 Canas da Costa, L., Popović, T. (2020). Financing Sustainable Infrastructures in a Smart Cities' Context–Innovative Concepts, Solutions and Instruments. In: Planing, P., Müller, P., Dehdari, P., Bäumer, T. (eds) Innovations for Metropolitan Areas. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-60806-7_18
- 128 European Commission (2024). Smart Cities Marketplace. Available at https://smartcities-marketplace.ec.europa.eu/
- 129 See, for example, The Entrepreneurial State by Melania Mazzucato.
- 130 Deloitte (2021). Digital Government Transformation. The Journey to Government's Digital Transformation. https://www.deloitte.com/content/dam/assets-shared/ legacy/docs/perspectives/2022/gx-global-findings-digital-governmenttransformation.pdf
- 131 UNESCO (2023). Artificial Intelligence and digital transformation: competencies for civil servants. Available at https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000384963. locale=en
- 132 Cities Today (2023). Smart city market to reach \$300 billion by 2032. https://citiestoday.com/smart-city-market-to-reach-300-billion-by-2032/
- 133 Beckers, D., Gerli, P., Mora, L., Thabit, S., & Tonnarelli, F. (2023). Managing smart city governance: A playbook for local and regional governments.
- 134 Cowie, P., Townsend, L., & Salemink, K. (2020). Smart rural futures: Will rural areas be left behind in the 4th industrial revolution?. *Journal of rural studies*, 79, 169-176.
- 135 Singapore Government Developer Portal (n.d.). Outcome-based procurement. https:// www.developer.tech.gov.sg/guidelines/procurement/outcome-based-procurement. html
- 136 European Commission (2024). Public Procurement of Innovative Solutions. https:// research-and-innovation.ec.europa.eu/strategy/support-policy-making/shapingeu-research-and-innovation-policy/new-european-innovation-agenda/innovationprocurement/public-procurement-innovative-solutions_en#examples-of-successfulppis
- 137 https://www.oaklandfund.org/
- 138 Fondo Cordoba Ciudad Inteligente https://fondocci.cordoba.gob.ar/
- 139 Blanck, M., Ribeiro, J. L. D., & Anzanello, M. J. (2019). A relational exploratory study of business incubation and smart cities-Findings from Europe. *Cities*, 88, 48-58.
- 140 Gerli, P., Ferreri, M., Lauri, C., Regalia, M., & Williams, A. (2024). Addressing Inequalities in Smart Places: A Primer for Public Administrations and Third Sector Organisations. *Available at SSRN 4800609*.
- 141 UNDP (2024). Women in Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) in the Asia Pacific. https://www.undp.org/asia-pacific/publications/women-sciencetechnology-engineering-and-mathematics-asia-pacific
- 142 UNITAR (n.d.). People Strengthening capacities in migrant and refugee entrepreneurship. https://www.unitar.org/about/news-stories/stories/peoplestrengthening-capacities-migrant-and-refugee-entrepreneurship
- 143 Better Incubation (2021). Collection of Best Practices in Inclusive Entrepreneurship Support Programmes. https://betterincubation.eu/2021/wp-content/ uploads/2022/07/Collection-of-Best-Practices-in-Inclusive-Entrepreneurship_Final. pdf
- 144 Scholz, R. Trebor. *Own this!: How platform cooperatives help workers build a democratic internet.* Verso Books, 2023.
- 145 https://themobilityfactory.coop/
- 146 Quan, X., & Solheim, M. C. (2023). Public-private partnerships in smart cities: A critical survey and research agenda. *City, Culture and Society, 32*, 100491.

- 147 UN-Habitat, IDRC & UNU-eGov (2024). Global assessment of responsible AI in cities. Available at https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/2024/08/global_assessment_of_ responsible_ai_in_cities_21082024.pdf
- 148 European Commission (2024). Broadband glossary. https://digital-strategy.ec.europa. eu/en/policies/broadband-glossary
- 149 ITU Data Hub (2023). Fixed-broadband subscriptions. https://datahub.itu.int/ data/?i=19303&v=
- 150 European Union (2022). Digital Economy and Society Index Report 2022 Connectivity. https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/desi-connectivity
- 151 Fiber Broadband (2022). FTTH Panorama for Latin America 2022. https:// fiberbroadband.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Latam-FTTH-Panorama-2021-Report.pdf
- 152 FTTH Council (2024). FTTH/B Global Ranking 2024. https://www.ftthcouncil.eu/ resources/all-publications-and-assets/2044/ftth-b-global-ranking-2024
- 153 ESCAP (2024). Seizing the Opportunity: Digital Innovation for a Sustainable Future. United Nations. https://repository.unescap.org/handle/20.500.12870/6810
- 154 Federal Communications Commission (2021). Fourteenth Broadband Deployment Report
- https://www.fcc.gov/reports-research/reports/broadband-progress-reports/fourteenthbroadband-deployment-report
- 155 European Union (2022). Digital Economy and Society Index Report 2022 Connectivity. https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/desi-connectivity
- 156 ITU Data Hub (2023). Mobile-cellular subscriptions. https://datahub.itu.int/ data/?v=&i=178&u=per+100+people
- 157 ITU Data Hub (2023). Population coverage, by mobile network technology https:// datahub.itu.int/data/?v=&i=100095&s=430
- 158 GSMA (2023). The State of Mobile Internet Connectivity 2023. https://www. gsma.com/r/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/The-State-of-Mobile-Internet-Connectivity-Report-2023.pdf?utm_source=website&utm_medium=button&utm_ campaign=somic23
- 159 GSMA (2023). The State of Mobile Internet Connectivity 2023. https://www. gsma.com/r/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/The-State-of-Mobile-Internet-Connectivity-Report-2023.pdf?utm_source=website&utm_medium=button&utm_ campaign=somic23
- 160 ITU (2022). Internet use in rural areas is slowly catching up with urban areas. https:// www.itu.int/itu-d/reports/statistics/2022/11/24/ff22-internet-use-in-urban-and-ruralareas/
- 161 GSMA (2023). The State of Mobile Internet Connectivity 2023. https://www. gsma.com/r/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/The-State-of-Mobile-Internet-Connectivity-Report-2023.pdf?utm_source=website&utm_medium=button&utm_ campaign=somic23
- 162 $\,$ ILO (2022). Inclusion of persons with disabilities in the digital and green economy
- 163 GSMA (2021). The Mobile Disability Gap Report 2021.
- 164 UNHCR (2021). Connected Education for Refugees: Addressing the Digital Divide. https://www.unhcr.org/uk/media/connected-education-refugees-addressing-digitaldivide
- 165 ITU (2023). The Gender Digital Divide. https://www.itu.int/itu-d/reports/ statistics/2023/10/10/ff23-the-gender-digital-divide/
- 166 GSMA (2024). The Mobile Gender Gap Report 2024. https://www.gsma.com/r/ gender-gap/
- 167 United Nations Children's Fund, Bridging the Gender Digital Divide: Challenges and an Urgent Call for Action for Equitable Digital Skills Development, UNICEF, New York, 2023
- 168 IRENA (2024). Progress on Basic Energy Access Reverses for First Time in a Decade. https://www.irena.org/News/pressreleases/2024/Jun/Progress-on-basic-energyaccess-reverses-for-first-time-in-a-decade#:~text=Today%2C%20685%20million%20 people%20live,uptick%20relative%20to%202010%20levels
- 169 Wang, S., Cao, A., Wang, G., & Xiao, Y. (2022). The Impact of energy poverty on the digital divide: The mediating effect of depression and Internet perception. *Technology* in Society, 68, 101884.
- 170 ITU (2023). Affordability of ICT services

https://www.itu.int/itu-d/reports/statistics/2023/10/10/ff23-affordability-of-ict-services/

- 171 ITU (2024). Measuring digital development Facts and Figures 2023. https://www.itu. int/hub/publication/d-ind-ict_mdd-2023-1/
- 172 UNCTAD (2021). Technology and innovation report 2021. Catching technological waves. Innovation with equity. https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ tir2020_en.pdf
- 173 European Commission (2024). DESI indicators. https://digital-decade-desi. digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/datasets/desi/charts/desi-indicators?peri od=desi_2024&indicator=desi_dsk_bab&breakdown=ind_total&unit=pc_ ind&country=AT,BE,BG,HR,CY,CZ,DK,EE,EU,FI, FR,DE,EL,HU,IE,IT,LV,LT,LU, MT,NL,PL,PT,RO,SK,SI,ES,SE
- 174 Scheerder, A., Van Deursen, A., & Van Dijk, J. (2017). Determinants of Internet skills, uses and outcomes. A systematic review of the second-and third-level digital divide. *Telematics and informatics*, 34(8), 1607-1624.

- 175 UNICEF and PWC (2020). Stepping forward. Connecting today's youth to the digital future. https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/issues/upskilling/GenU-PwC-Report_FINAL.pdf
- 176 Mascheroni, G., & Ólafsson, K. (2016). The mobile Internet: Access, use, opportunities and divides among European children. New Media & Society, 18(8), 1657-1679. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814567986
- 177 European Commission (2024). DESI indicators. https://digital-decade-desi.digitalstrategy.ec.europa.eu/datasets/desi/charts/desi-indicators?period=desi_2024& indicator=desi_ict_spec&breakdown=f&unit=pc_ict_spec&country=AT,BE,BG,HR, CY,CZ,DK,EE,EU,FI,FR,DE,EL,HU,IE,IT,LV,LT,LU,MT,NL,PL,PT,RO,SK,SI,ES,SE
- 178 GSMA (2024). The Mobile Gender Gap Report. https://www.gsma.com/r/ wp-content/uploads/2024/05/The-Mobile-Gender-Gap-Report-2024.pdf?utm_ source=website&utm_medium=button&utm_campaign=gender-gap-2024
- 179 United Nations Children's Fund, Bridging the Gender Digital Divide: Challenges and an Urgent Call for Action for Equitable Digital Skills Development, UNICEF, New York, 2023
- 180 https://desapublications.un.org/sites/default/files/publications/2022-09/Web%20 version%20E-Government%202022.pdf
- 181 de Clercq, M., D'Haese, M., & Buysse, J. (2023). Economic growth and broadband access: The European urban-rural digital divide. *Telecommunications Policy*, 47(6), 102579.
- 182 Wang, W., Ning, Z., Shu, Y., Riti, M. K. J., & Riti, J. S. (2023). ICT interaction with trade, FDI and financial inclusion on inclusive growth in top African nations ranked by ICT development. *Telecommunications Policy*, 47(4), 102490.
- 183 Edquist, H. (2022). The economic impact of mobile broadband speed. *Telecommunications Policy*, 46(5), 102351.
- 184 Zhou, F., Wen, H., & Lee, C. C. (2022). Broadband infrastructure and export growth. *Telecommunications policy*, 46(5), 102347.
- 185 Forzati, M., & Mattsson, C. (2013). Stokab, A socio-economic study. https://www. diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1131848/FULLTEXT02.pdf
- 186 Caldarulo, M., Mossberger, K., & Howell, A. (2023). Community-wide broadband adoption and student academic achievement. *Telecommunications Policy*, 47(1), 102445.
- 187 Gerli, P., & Whalley, J. (2022). Digital entrepreneurship in a rural context: The implications of the rural-urban digital divide. In *Handbook of Digital Entrepreneurship* (pp. 291-305). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- 188 McAdam, M., Crowley, C., & Harrison, R. T. (2020). Digital girl: Cyberfeminism and the emancipatory potential of digital entrepreneurship in emerging economies. *Small Business Economics*, 55(2), 349-362.
- 189 Rey Moreno, C. (2017). Supporting the Creation and Scalability of Affordable Access Solutions: Understanding Community Networks in Africa.
- https://www.internetsociety.org/resources/doc/2017/supporting-the-creation-andscalability-of-affordable-access-solutions-understanding-community-networks-inafrica/
- 190 Godlovitch, I., Louguet, A., Baischew, D., Wissner, M., & Pirlot, A. (2021). Environmental impact of electronic communications. *Study for BEREC*.
- 191 Kamiya, G., & Bertoldi, P. (2024). Energy consumption in data centres and broadband communication networks in the EU. *European Commission, Joint Research Centre*.
- 192 Edquist, H., & Bergmark, P. (2024). How is mobile broadband intensity affecting CO2 emissions?-A macro analysis. *Telecommunications Policy*, 48(2), 102668.
- 193 UNESCO (2021). Report of the World Commission on the Ethics of Scientific Knowledge and Technology (COMEST) on the ethical implications of the Internet of Things (IoT). https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000375304
- 194 IEA (2021). Empowering Cities for a Net Zero Future. https://iea.blob. core.windows.net/assets/4d5c939d-9c37-490b-bb53-2c0d23f2cf3d/ G20EmpoweringCitiesforaNetZeroFuture.pdf
- 195 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.05.002
- 196 UNITAC (n.d.). UNITAC x eThekwini: Using AI to Map Informal Settlements in eThekwini, South Africa. https://unitac.un.org/news/unitac-x-ethekwini-using-ai-mapinformal-settlements-ethekwini-south-africa
- 197 Marsic, T., & Bego, K. (2022). When billboards stare back: how cities can reclaim the digital public space. https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/When_Billboards_Stare_ Back_FINAL.pdf
- 198 Otto, A., & Tilk, C. (2024). Intelligent design of sensor networks for data-driven sensor maintenance at railways. *Omega*, 127, 103094.
- 199 Burrieza (2019). New Mobility Options and Urban Mobility. https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/documents/ downloadPublic?documentIds=080166e5c9f9dbf1&appId=PPGMS
- 200 ITU (2024). The global e-waste monitor 2024. https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/ Environment/Pages/Toolbox/Global-Ewaste-Monitors.aspx
- 201 European Environment Agency (2019). E-wste infographic. https://www.eea.europa. eu/en/analysis/maps-and-charts/e-waste?activeTab=265e2bee-7de3-46e8-b6ee-76005f3f434f
- 202 UNCTAD (2024). Digital Economy. Shaping an environmentally sustainable and inclusive digital future. https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/der2024_en.pdf

- 203 Zanaj E, Caso G, De Nardis L, Mohammadpour A, Alay Ö, Di Benedetto M-G. Energy Efficiency in Short and Wide-Area IoT Technologies—A Survey. *Technologies*. 2021; 9(1):22. https://doi.org/10.3390/technologies9010022
- 204 Zhao, G., Lin, K., Chapman, D., Metje, N., & Hao, T. (2023). Optimizing energy efficiency of LoRaWAN-based wireless underground sensor networks: A multi-agent reinforcement learning approach. *Internet of Things*, 22, 100776.
- 205 https://standards.ieee.org/beyond-standards/why-are-sensors-the-key-to-iotcybersecurity/.
- 206 da Rocha H, Caruso P, Pereira J, Serra P, Espirito Santo A. Discussion on Secure Standard Network of Sensors Powered by Microbial Fuel Cells. Sensors (Basel). 2023 Oct 3;23(19):8227. doi: 10.3390/s23198227. PMID: 37837057; PMCID: PMC10574922.
- 207 Unal, B. (2019). Smart cities are an absolute dream for infrastructure cyberattacks www.wired.com/story/cyber-attacks-smart-cities/
- 208 Ismagilova, E., Hughes, L., Rana, N.P. et al. Security, Privacy and Risks Within Smart Cities: Literature Review and Development of a Smart City Interaction Framework. Inf Syst Front 24, 393–414 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-020-10044-1
- 209 Johnson, A. (2023). Balancing Privacy and Innovation in Smart Cities and Communities. https://www2.itif.org/2023-smart-cities-privacy.pdf
- 210 Beştepe, F., & Yildirim, S. Ö. (2022). Acceptance of IoT-based and sustainabilityoriented smart city services: A mixed methods study. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 80, 103794.
- 211 Austin, L., & Lie, D. (2021). Data trusts and the governance of smart environments: Lessons from the failure of sidewalk labs' urban data trust. *Surveillance & Society*, *19*(2), 255-261.
- 212 ITU Data Hub (2024). Internet of Things (IoT) regulation. https://datahub.itu.int/ data/?v=chart&i=100115&s=24763
- 213 Portland City (2019). Establish Privacy and Information Protection Principles for how the City collects, uses, manages, and disposes of data and information resolution. https://efiles.portlandoregon.gov/Record/13112757/
- 214 Portland City (2023). About the Surveillance Technologies Policy Project. https:// www.portland.gov/bps/smart-city-pdx/surveillance-policy/about
- 215 https://sensorenregister.amsterdam.nl/
- 216 Grus, M., Bokhove, R., & Van Andel, M. (2022). National Sensor Registry a Step Forward. http://fig.net/resources/proceedings/fig_proceedings/fig2022/papers/ ts04c/TS04C_grus_bokhove_et_al_11370.pdf
- 217 Löfgren, K., & Webster, C. W. R. (2020). The value of Big Data in government: The case of 'smart cities'. Big Data & Society, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2053951720912775
- 218 Neves, F. T., de Castro Neto, M., & Aparicio, M. (2020). The impacts of open data initiatives on smart cities: A framework for evaluation and monitoring. *Cities*, 106, 102860.
- 219 Wainwright, T., Huber, F., Stöckmann, C., & Kraus, S. (2023). Open data platforms for transformational entrepreneurship: Inclusion and exclusion mechanisms. *International Journal of Information Management*, 72, 102664.
- 220 Di Salvo, A. L., Agostinho, F., Almeida, C. M., & Giannetti, B. F. (2017). Can cloud computing be labeled as "green"? Insights under an environmental accounting perspective. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 69, 514-526.
- 221 Lucivero, F. (2020). Big data, big waste? A reflection on the environmental sustainability of big data initiatives. Science and engineering ethics, 26(2), 1009-1030.
- 222 Diguet, C., & Lopez, F. (2019). The spatial and energy impact of data centers on the territories. *ENERNUM Project*.
- 223 Mytton, D. Data centre water consumption. *npj Clean Water* 4, 11 (2021). https://doi. org/10.1038/s41545-021-00101-w
- 224 IEA (n.d.) Data Centres and Data Transmission Networks. https://www.iea.org/ energy-system/buildings/data-centres-and-data-transmission-networks
- 225 European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Kamiya, G. and Bertoldi, P., Energy Consumption in Data Centres and Broadband Communication Networks in the EU, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2024, https://data.europa.eu/ doi/10.2760/706491, JRC135926.
- 226 Infrastructure Masons (2024). How Africa Can Leapfrog the World in Sustainable Digital Infrastructure Development. https://imasons.org/press-releases/how-africacan-leapfrog-the-world-in-sustainable-digital-infrastructure-development/
- 227 Zhang, L., Mora, L., Hasannudin, Z., Akgun, E., Zhang, J., & Godunova, M. (2022). Science, technology and innovation for sustainable urban development in a postpandemic world. UNCTAD Report.
- 228 UN-Habitat. (2015). Habitat III Issue Paper on Urban and Spatial Planning and Design (United Nations Conference on Housing and Sustainable Urban Development). Available at: Habitat III Issue Paper 8_Urban and Spatial Planning and Design.docx (habitat3.org)
- 229 United Nations. (2019). 68% of the world population projected to live in urban areas by 2050, says UN. Available at: 68% of the world population projected to live in urban areas by 2050, says UN | United Nations
- 230 Rajendran, L. P., Raúl, L., Chen, M., Guerrero Andrade, J. C., Akhtar, R., Mngumi, L. E., Chander, S., Srinivas, S., & Roy, M. R. (2024). The 'peri-urban turn': A systems thinking approach for a paradigm shift in reconceptualising urban-rural futures in the global South. *Habitat International*, *146*, 103041. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. habitatint.2024.103041

- 231 Tan, J., Gu, K., & Zheng, Y. (2024). Peri-urban planning: A landscape perspective. Planning Theory, 23(1), 42-63. https://doi.org/10.1177/14730952231178203
- 232 McNeilly Smith, R., Tavares, S., & Stevens, N. (2023). Urban design and planning for extreme heat: an empirical study of built environment professionals' perceptions in South East Queensland, Australia. *Cities & Health*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/2374 8834.2023.2290901
- 233 UN-Habitat, & African Planning Association. (2013). The State of Planning in Africa.
- 234 Kahila-Tani, M., Kytta, M., & Geertman, S. (2019). Does mapping improve public participation? Exploring the pros and cons of using public participation GIS in urban planning practices. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *186*, 45-55. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.02.019
- 235 Mumba, C., Skjerve, E., Rich, M., & Rich, K. M. (2017). Application of system dynamics and participatory spatial group model building in animal health: A case study of East Coast Fever interventions in Lundazi and Monze districts of Zambia. *PLoS One*, *12*(12), e0189878.
- 236 Rich, K. M., Berends, J., & Cooper, G. S. (2022). Enriching value chains through maps: reflections from spatial group model building in Myanmar and India. *Development in Practice*, 32(2), 259-265. https://doi.org/10.1080/09614524.2021.1907545
- 237 Kahila-Tani, M., Kytta, M., & Geertman, S. (2019). Does mapping improve public participation? Exploring the pros and cons of using public participation GIS in urban planning practices. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 186, 45-55. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.02.019
- 238 Rall, E., Hansen, R., & Pauleit, S. (2019). The added value of public participation GIS (PPGIS) for urban green infrastructure planning. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 40, 264-274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.06.016
- 239 World Bank City Planning Labs & CAPSUS. (2020). Urban Planning Tools as Agents of Change: Collaborative Spatial Data for Sustainable Urban Development in Indonesia. Available at: WB-Indonesia-urban-planning-final-report-v3.pdf (worldbank.org)
- 240 Sharma, R. (2024). Geographic Information System (GIS) Tools Market. DataIntelo. Available at: https://dataintelo.com/report/global-geographic-information-systemgis-tools-market
- 241 Technavio. (2024). Geographic Information System Analytics Market Analysis. Available at: Geographic Information System Analytics Market Analysis - US, Canada, UK, Germany, China - Size and Forecast 2024-2028 (technavio.com)
- 242 Taiwo A. Adebiyi et al., "Digital Twins and Civil Engineering Phases: Reorienting Adoption Strategies", working paper, University of Houston, 04 March 2024, https:// arxiv.org/pdf/2403.02426.pdf
- 243 Ferré-Bigorra, J., Casals, M., & Gangolells, M. (2022). The adoption of urban digital twins. *Cities*, 131, 103905. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2022.103905
- 244 Ramu, S. P., Boopalan, P., Pham, Q.-V., Maddikunta, P. K. R., Huynh-The, T., Alazab, M., Nguyen, T. T., & Gadekallu, T. R. (2022). Federated learning enabled digital twins for smart cities: Concepts, recent advances, and future directions. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 79, 103663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2021.103663
- 245 UN-DESA (2019). Rapid urbanization and population growth are outpacing the construction of adequate and affordable housing. https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/ report/2019/goal-11/
- 246 H. Ouchra, A. Belangour and A. Erraissi, "Satellite data analysis and geographic information system for urban planning: A systematic review," 2022 International Conference on Data Analytics for Business and Industry (ICDABI), Sakhir, Bahrain, 2022, pp. 558-564, doi: 10.1109/ICDABI56818.2022.10041487.
- 247 Tonnarelli, F. & Maddock, N. (2022). Badoa City Strategy. https://unhabitat.org/sites/ default/files/2023/03/baidoa_urban_plan-3_compressed.pdf
- 248 Assarkhaniki, Z., Sabri, S., & Rajabifard, A. (2021). Using open data to detect the structure and pattern of informal settlements: an outset to support inclusive SDGs' achievement. Big Earth Data, 5(4), 497–526. https://doi.org/10.1080/20964471.2021. 1948178
- 249 United Nations, "The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2020", *United Nations*, 30 July 2020, https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2020/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2020.pdf
- 250 United Nations, "The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2020"
- 251 UNEP (2023). Building Materials and the Climate: Constructing a New Future. https:// wedocs.unep.org/handle/20.500.11822/43293
- 252 Sloman, P. & Edwards, S. 2024. PwC Construction and Housebuilding Outlook H1 2024, PwC, 25 January 2024, https://www.pwc.co.uk/industries/documents/ construction-and-housebuilding-outlook-h1-2024.pdf
- 253 Iman Ibrahim et al., "3D Printing in Sustainable Buildings: Systematic Review and Applications in the United Arab Emirates", *Buildings*, 16 October 2022, https://doi. org/10.3390/buildings12101703
- 254 Mohammad Alabbasi et al., "Robotic 3D printing of concrete building components for residential buildings in Saudi Arabia", Automation in Construction, 27 January 2023, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2023.104751
- 255 New Story, "Introducing the World's First 3D Printed Community", video, uploaded 09 May 2019; "Se construyen en México primeras comunidades con impresoras 3D", *ArchDaily*, 23 December 2019, https://www.archdaily.mx/mx/930771/se-construyenen-mexico-primeras-comunidades-con-impresoras-3d; "Un pueblo de México tendrá casas construidas con una impresora 3D", *The New York Times*, 01 October 2021, https://www.nytimes.com/es/2021/10/01/espanol/construccion-casas-3d-mexico. html

- 256 Ming Xia et al., "Printability, accuracy and strength of geopolymer made using powder-based 3D printing for construction applications", *Automation in Construction*, 22 January 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2019.01.013
- 257 Sameh El-Sayegh et al., "A critical review of 3D printing in construction: benefits, challenges, and risks", *Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering*, 10 March 2020, https://doi.org/10.1007/s43452-020-00038-w
- 258 Statista, "Level of adoption of digital twin according to real estate industry experts worldwide in 2023", *Statista*, 01 July 2024, Level of adoption of digital twin.
- 259 Lauria, M. & Azzalin, M. (2024). Digital Twin Approach in Buildings: Future Challenges via a Critical Literature Review, *Buildings*, https://doi.org/10.3390/buildings14020376
- 260 Cespedes-Cubides, A. S. & Jradi, M. (2024). A review of building digital twins to improve energy efficiency in the building operational stage, *Energy Informatics*, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s42162-024-00313-7
- 261 IES, "City of Tomorrow Report", 09 March 2023, https://www.iesve.com/support/ white-papers/ies-city-of-tomorrow-report.pdf
- 262 Shen, T. & Li, B. (2024). Digital twins in additive manufacturing: a state-of-the-art review, *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, https://doi. org/10.1007/s00170-024-13092-y
- 263 Camille Holt et al., "Chapter 17 Construction 3D Printing", *3D Concrete Printing Technology*, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815481-6.00017-8
- 264 Lydia Paradis Bolduc, "3D printed homes: is this the future of residential construction?", *Ecohome*, 23 June 2023, https://www.ecohome.net/guides/3846/3dprinted-homes-is-this-the-future-of-residential-construction/
- 265 Feldman, A. (2023). "Iowa Teardown Exposes Problems Of 3-D-Printing Homes", Forbes, 20 December 2023, https://www.forbes.com/sites/ amyfeldman/2023/12/20/iowa-teardown-exposes-problems-of-3-d-printing-homes/
- 266 Lauria, M. & Azzalin, M. (2024). Digital Twin Approach in Buildings: Future Challenges via a Critical Literature Review, *Buildings*, https://doi.org/10.3390/buildings14020376
- 267 Jiaying Zhang et al., "Digital Twins for Construction Sites: Concepts, LoD Definition, and Applications", Journal of Management in Engineering, 14 December 2021, https:// doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000948
- 268 Siddiqui, F.H.; Thaheem, M.J.; Abdekhodaee, A. A Review of the Digital Skills Needed in the Construction Industry: Towards a Taxonomy of Skills. *Buildings* 2023, *13*, 2711. https://doi.org/10.3390/buildings13112711
- 269 Ishengoma, F. R., & Mtaho, A. B. (2014). 3D printing: developing countries perspectives. arXiv preprint arXiv:1410.5349.
- 270 Müller-Eie, D., & Kosmidis, I. (2023). Sustainable mobility in smart cities: a document study of mobility initiatives of mid-sized Nordic smart cities. *European Transport Research Review*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-023-00610-4
- 271 World Bank Group. (nd). Urban Transport and Climate Change. Available at: Urban Transport and Climate Change
- 272 United Nation. (2021). Fact sheet: Climate Change. Available at: Climate Change
- 273 World Resources Institute (2019). Everything you need to know about the fastestgrowing source of global emissions: transport. Available at: https://www.wri.org/ insights/everything-you-need-know-about-fastest-growing-source-global-emissionstransport
- 274 https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2016/04/the-number-of-cars-worldwide-is-set-todouble-by-2040/
- 275 Casady, C. B. (2020). Customer-led mobility: A research agenda for Mobility-asa-Service (MaaS) enablement. *Case Studies on Transport Policy*, 8(4), 1451-1457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstp.2020.10.009
- 276 World Economic Forum (2014). Seven ways cities around the world are tackling traffic. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2014/07/seven-ways-citiesaround-world-tackling-traffic/
- 277 TrafficInfraTech Magazine. (2021). Performance focused Adaptive Traffic Signal Control System Effective operations along with implementation. Available at: Performance focused Adaptive Traffic Signal Control System Effective operations along with implementation
- 278 Oladimeji, D., Gupta, K., Kose, N. A., Gundogan, K., Ge, L., & Liang, F. (2023). Smart transportation: an overview of technologies and applications. Sensors, 23(8), 3880. https://doi.org/10.3390/s23083880
- 279 Rowe, E. (1991). The Los-Angeles automated traffic surveillance and control (ATSAC) system. IEEE Transactions on vehicular technology, 40(1), 16-20. https://doi. org/10.1109/25.69967
- 280 EastGate Software (2024). Exploring the Advantages and Disadvantages of Intelligent Traffic Systems. Available at: Intelligent Traffic Systems
- 281 Shbeeb, L. (2023). Traffic and environmental impacts of constructing and operating a BRT service: Case study in Amman, Jordan. Cogent Engineering, 10(2), 2283316. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2023.2283316
- 282 Shbeeb, L. (2023). Traffic and environmental impacts of constructing and operating a BRT service: Case study in Amman, Jordan. Cogent Engineering, 10(2), 2283316. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2023.2283316
- 283 C40 Cities (2016). GOOD PRACTICE GUIDE. Low Emission Vehicles. Available at: https://www.c40.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/C40-Good-Practice-Guide-Low-Emission-Vehicles.pdf
- 284 IEA (2023). Global EV Outlook 2024: Moving towards increased affordability. Available at: https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2024/trends-in-electric-cars

- 285 IEA (2024). Outlook for electric mobility. https://www.iea.org/reports/global-evoutlook-2024/outlook-for-electric-mobility
- 286 IEA (2023). Electric bus registrations and sales share by region, 2015-2023. https:// www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/electric-bus-registrations-and-sales-shareby-region-2015-2023
- 287 IEA (2024). Outlook for electric mobility. https://www.iea.org/reports/global-evoutlook-2024/outlook-for-electric-mobility
- 288 IEA (2024). Trends in electric vehicle charging. https://www.iea.org/reports/globalev-outlook-2024/trends-in-electric-vehicle-charging
- 289 UNCTAD (2024). Digital Economy Report 2024. https://unctad.org/system/files/ official-document/der2024_en.pdf
- 290 Beshir, H. A, & Fichera, E. (2022). "And Breathe Normally": The Low Emission Zone impacts on health and
- well-being in England. WP 22/09. Available at: https://www.york.ac.uk/media/economics/ documents/hedg/workingpapers/2022/2209.pdf
- 291 Logika Noise Air Quality Consultants. (2022). Quantifying the impact of low- and zeroemission zones: Evidence Review. Available at: https://cleancitiescampaign.org/wpcontent/uploads/2022/10/12009C_Quantifying-the-impact-of-low-and-zeroemissionzones-Evidence-Review_final.pdf
- 292 https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/der2024_en.pdf
- 293 Yu, X., Li, W., Gupta, V., Gao, H., Tran, D., Sarwar, S., & Chen, Z. (2022). Current Challenges in Efficient Lithium Ion Batteries' Recycling: A Perspective. *Global Challenges*, 6(12), 2200099. https://doi.org/10.1002/gch2.202200099
- 294 Shu, X., Guo, Y., Yang, W., Wei, K., & Zhu, G. (2021). Life-cycle assessment of the environmental impact of the batteries used in pure electric passenger cars. *Energy Reports*, 7, 2302-2315.
- 295 MaaS Alliance (2022). Mobility as a Service?. Available at: https://maas-alliance.eu/ homepage/what-is-maas/
- 296 Hasselwander, M., & Bigotte, J. F. (2023). Mobility as a Service (MaaS) in the Global South: research findings, gaps, and directions. *European Transport Research Review*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-023-00604-2
- 297 Priya, G. (2024). Expanding Mobility-as-a-Service (MaaS) Deployments Reflect Growing Demand for Integrated Multimodal Solutions in Cities. Available at: Expanding Mobility-as-a-Service (MaaS) Deployments Reflect Growing Demand (frost. com)
- 298 Arias-Molinares, D., & García-Palomares, J. C. (2020). Shared mobility development as key for prompting mobility as a service (MaaS) in urban areas: The case of Madrid. *Case Studies on Transport Policy*, 8(3), 846-859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cstp.2020.05.017
- 299 Hasselwander, M., & Bigotte, J. F. (2023). Mobility as a Service (MaaS) in the Global South: research findings, gaps, and directions. *European Transport Research Review*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-023-00604-2
- 300 Pickford, A., & Chung, E. (2019). The shape of MaaS: The potential for MaaS Lite. IATSS Research, 43(4), 219-225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iatssr.2019.11.006
- 301 International Association of Public Transport (2024). Global Urban Mobility Indicators 2022: Public transport metrics from 46 cities worldwide. Available at: Global Urban Mobility Indicators 2022 | UITP
- 302 Oliver Wyman (2023). Shared mobility's global impact. https://www.oliverwyman.de/ content/dam/oliver-wyman/v2/publications/2023/nov/2023-oliver-wyman-sharedmobility-report
- 303 Arbeláez Vélez, A. M. (2023). Environmental impacts of shared mobility: a systematic literature review of life-cycle assessments focusing on car sharing, carpooling, bikesharing, scooters and moped sharing. *Transport Reviews*, 44(3), 634–658. https:// doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2023.2259104
- 304 Arbeláez Vélez, A. M. (2023). Environmental impacts of shared mobility: a systematic literature review of life-cycle assessments focusing on car sharing, carpooling, bikesharing, scooters and moped sharing. *Transport Reviews*, 44(3), 634–658. https:// doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2023.2259104
- 305 Coenegrachts, E.; Beckers, J.; Vanelslander, T.; Verhetsel, A. (2021). Business Model Blueprints for the Shared Mobility Hub Network. *Sustainability*, *13*, 6939. https://doi. org/10.3390/su13126939
- 306 https://civitas.eu/thematic-areas/active-mobility
- 307 Swift, S. et al. (2016). Impact of the Cycle to Work Scheme. Evidence Report. https:// socialvalueuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/impact-of-cycling-to-work-scheme. pdf
- 308 The National Council on Climate Change of Nigeria. (nd). Energy Transition and Climate Change. Available at: Energy Transition | National Council on Climate Change (natccc.gov.ng)
- 309 CDP. (2022). The World's Renewable Energy Cities. Available at: World renewable energy cities - CDP
- 310 IRENA (2020). Rise of renewables in cities. Energy solutions for the urban future. https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2020/Oct/IRENA_ Renewables_in_cities_2020.pdf
- 311 IRENA (2020). Rise of renewables in cities. Energy solutions for the urban future. https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2020/Oct/IRENA_ Renewables_in_cities_2020.pdf

- 312 Deakin, M., Reid, A., & Mora, L. (2020). Smart Cities: The Metrics of Future Internet-Based Developments and Renewable Energies of Urban and Regional Innovation. *Journal of Urban Technology*, 27(4), 59–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/10630 732.2020.1868738
- 313 Deloitte (2019). Renewables (em)power smart cities. Available at: https://www2. deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/4971_Smart-renewable-cities/ DI_Smart-renewable-cities.pdf
- 314 InvesTaiwan. (2023). Green Energy Becomes an International Source of Competitiveness Taipower
- Guarantees Stable Power Supply. Available at: Invest Taiwan_ []_Green Energy Becomes an International Source of Competitiveness Taipower Guarantees Stable Power Supply
- 315 Smith, L. (2018). A Portrait of the Smart City Chiayi, Taiwan. *Bee smart city.* Available at: A Portrait of the Smart City Chiayi, Taiwan (beesmart.city)
- 316 Smith, L. (2018). A Portrait of the Smart City Tainan. *Bee smart city*. Available at: A Portrait of the Smart City Tainan (beesmart.city)
- 317 Bizzotto, M. (2021). Taipei City's journey towards net-zero: Ambitious climate action, transparency, and SDGs. CityTalk: A blog by Local Governments for Sustainability (ICLEI). Available at: Taipei City's journey towards net-zero: Ambitious climate action, transparency, and SDGs. – CityTalk (iclei.org)
- 318 Peng, Y., & Bai, X. (2022). Cities leading hydrogen energy development: the pledges and strategies of 39 Chinese cities. *npj Urban Sustainability*, 2(1). https://doi. org/10.1038/s42949-022-00067-9
- 319 Zhou, Y., Li, R., Lv, Z., Liu, J., Zhou, H., & Xu, C. (2022). Green hydrogen: A promising way to the carbon-free society. *Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 43, 2-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjche.2022.02.001
- 320 Risco-Bravo, A., Varela, C., Bartels, J., & Zondervan, E. (2024). From green hydrogen to electricity: A review on recent advances, challenges, and opportunities on powerto-hydrogen-to-power systems. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 189, 113930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2023.113930
- 321 IEA. (nd). Smart Grids. Available at: Smart grids IEA
- 322 European Commission. (nd). Smart grids and meters. Available at: https:// energy.ec.europa.eu/topics/markets-and-consumers/smart-grids-and-meters_ en#deployment-of-smart-meters
- 323 Fortune Business Insights. (2024). IoT Energy Management Market Size, Share & COVID-19 Impact Analysis. Available at: IoT Energy Management Market Size, Share & Analysis [2030] (fortunebusinessinsights.com)
- 324 IEA. (nd). Smart Grids. Available at: Smart grids IEA
- 325 European Commission. (nd). Smart grids and meters. Available at: https:// energy.ec.europa.eu/topics/markets-and-consumers/smart-grids-and-meters_ en#deployment-of-smart-meters
- 326 European Commission (2023). Commission adopts new implementing act to improve access to metering and consumption data. Available at: Commission adopts new implementing act to improve access to metering and consumption data (europa.eu)
- 327 Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators & Council of European Energy Regulators. (2023). Energy Retail and Consumer Protection: 2023 Market Monitoring Report. Available at: Energy Retail and Consumer Protection 2023 Market Monitoring Report (europa.eu)
- 328 Chamaret, C., Steyer, V., & Mayer, J. C. (2020). "Hands off my meter!" when municipalities resist smart meters: Linking arguments and degrees of resistance. *Energy Policy*, 144, 111556.
- 329 Hassan, Q., Algburi, S., Sameen, A. Z., Salman, H. M., & Jaszczur, M. (2024). Green hydrogen: A pathway to a sustainable energy future. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 50, 310-333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.08.321
- 330 Community Energy England. (nd). What is community energy? Available at: What is community energy? | Community Energy England
- 331 Community Energy Network. (nd). Rau Kūmara Solar Farm, a Community Energy Project by Energise Ōtaki. Available at: Otaki Solar Farm, renewable energy project -Community Energy Network
- 332 European Commission. (nd). Energy communities. Available at: Energy communities (europa.eu)
- 333 Caramizaru, E. & Uihlein, A. (2020). Energy communities: an overview of energy and social innovation, EUR 30083 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, JRC119433, doi:10.2760/180576.
- 334 D'Adamo, I., Gastaldi, M., Koh, S. L., & Vigiano, A. (2024). Lighting the future of sustainable cities with energy communities: An economic analysis for incentive policy. *Cities*, 147, 104828.
- 335 Schwanitz, V. J., Paudler, H. A., & Wierling, A. (2024). The contribution of European citizen-led energy initiatives to sustainable development goals. *Sustainable Development*, 32(4), 3313–3328. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.2844
- 336 Debor, S. (2018). German Energy Cooperatives: A Rising Cosmopolitan Enterprise Community, In: *Multiplying Mighty Davids*? (p. 127-157). https://link.springer.com/ chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-77628-6_6
- 337 International Energy Agency. (2023). Denmark 2023 Energy Policy Review. Available at: https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/9af8f6a2-31e7-4136-94a6fe3aa518ec7d/Denmark_2023.pdf

- 338 IEA (2024). Bottom-up energy transitions: Managing the rise of energy communities in Latin America. https://www.iea.org/commentaries/bottom-up-energy-transitionsmanaging-the-rise-of-energy-communities-in-latin-america
- 339 Genesis energy. (2022). Power to the people community energy in New Zealand. Available at: Power to the people – community energy in New Zealand | Genesis NZ (genesisenergy.co.nz)
- 340 Martínez-Cruz, A. L., & Núñez, H. M. (2021). Tension in Mexico's energy transition: Are urban residential consumers in Aguascalientes willing to pay for renewable energy and green jobs? *Energy Policy*, 150, 112145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2021.112145
- 341 Nguyen, H., Drejer, I., & Marques, P. (2024). Citizen engagement in public sector innovation: exploring the transition between paradigms. *Public Management Review*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2024.2347360
- 342 World Bank Group. (2023). Urban Development Overview, Available at: Urban Development Overview (worldbank.org). For more information, also see Demographic trends and urbanization
- 343 World Water Council. (2023). World Water cities Forum 2022: Urban Water Policy Brief. Available at: World Water Cities Forum 2022: Urban Water Policy Brief
- 344 Adem Esmail, B., & Geneletti, D. (2020). Linking Ecosystem Services to Urban Water Infrastructures and Institutions. In *Ecosystem Services for Urban Water Security* (pp. 7-21). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45666-5_2
- 345 Sarkar, A. (2022). Water Services and Water Infrastructure in Urban Africa. In Water Insecurity and Water Governance in Urban Kenya: Policy and Practice (pp. 29-41). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-15539-0_2
- 346 WHO, UNICEF, World Bank. (2022). State of the world's drinking water: an urgent call to action to accelerate progress on ensuring safe drinking water for all. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 347 Schwartz, K., Gupta, J., & Tutusaus, M. (2018). Editorial Inclusive development and urban water services. *Habitat International*, 73, 96-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. habitatint.2018.02.006
- 348 United Nations. (2023). The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2023: Special edition. Available at: https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2023/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2023.pdf
- 349 IBM. (nd). What is the Internet of Things (IoT)? Available at: What is the Internet of Things (IoT)? | IBM
- 350 Solis, M., & Bashar, S. B. (2022). Social equity implications of advanced water metering infrastructure. Utilities Policy, 79, Article 101430.
- 351 Costa, D. F., & Soares, A. K. (2023). Using smart meters data to model customer water consumption and evaluate customer flow patterns. *Urban Water Journal*, 20(1), 89-99. https://doi.org/10.1080/1573062x.2022.2153703
- 352 Alvisi, S., Luciani, C., & Franchini, M. (2019). Using water consumption smart metering for water loss assessment in a DMA: a case study. Urban Water Journal, 16(1), 77-83. https://doi.org/10.1080/1573062x.2019.1633675
- 353 Ornaghi, C., & Tonin, M. (2019). The effects of the universal metering programme on water consumption, welfare and equity. *Oxford Economic Papers*. https://doi. org/10.1093/oep/gpz068
- 354 Waterwise & Arquiva. (2021). Report: Public attitudes towards smart water meters. Available at: Report: Public attitudes towards smart water meters (waterwise.org.uk)
- 355 Korea Water Resources Corporation & International Water Resources Association. 2018. Smart Water Management: Case Study Report. Available at:
- 356 Markntel (2023). Middle East & Africa Smart Water Management Market Size.
- Middle East & Africa Smart Water Management Market Size
- 357 Daily News (2024). Prepaid smart metres to improve water management.
- https://dailynews.gov.bw/news-detail/81021
- 358 Market Research Future (2024). Global Smart Water Meter Market Overview Source: https://www.marketresearchfuture.com/reports/smart-water-metermarket-22993
- 359 Sarkar, A. (2022). How 'smart' are we with smart technology: comparison of water ATMs in Nairobi and Delhi. Water Practice and Technology, 17(10), 2160-2170. https:// doi.org/10.2166/wpt.2022.117
- 360 Agegnehu, T. M., & Kebede, G. A. (2024). Review on Water Automatic Teller Machine (Water ATM) Technologies. In K. Mequanint, A. A. Tsegaw, Z. B. Sendekie, B. Kebede, & E. Y. Gedilu (Eds.), Advancement of Science and Technology in Sustainable Manufacturing and Process Engineering (pp. 193-202). Springer Nature Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-41173-1_11
- 361 Amankwaa, G. (2023). Water ATMs were introduced in Ghana and are changing the way people can access this vital resource. *The Conversation*. Available at: Water ATMs were introduced in Ghana. For more details, also see: Amankwaa, G., Heeks, R., & Browne, A. L. (2022). Water ATMs and Access to Water: Digitalisation of Off-Grid Water Infrastructure in Peri-Urban Ghana. *Water Alternatives*.
- 362 Sarkar, A. (2022). How 'smart' are we with smart technology: comparison of water ATMs in Nairobi and Delhi. Water Practice and Technology, 17(10), 2160-2170. https:// doi.org/10.2166/wpt.2022.117
- 363 Amankwaa, G., Heeks, R., & Browne, A. L. (2022). Water ATMs and Access to Water: Digitalisation of Off-Grid Water Infrastructure in Peri-Urban Ghana. Water Alternatives.
- 364 Guma, P. K., & Wiig, A. (2022). Smartness Beyond the Network: Water ATMs and Disruptions from below in Mathare Valley, Nairobi. *Journal of Urban Technology*, 29(4), 41-61. https://doi.org/10.1080/10630732.2022.2037180

- 365 Wolfram, J., Stehle, S., Bub, S., Petschick, L. L., & Schulz, R. (2021). Water quality and ecological risks in European surface waters – Monitoring improves while water quality decreases. *Environment International*, 152, 106479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2021.106479
- 366 University of Technology Sydney. (nd). Water monitoring solution for Vietnamese aquaculture. Available at: Water monitoring solution for Vietnamese aquaculture | University of Technology Sydney (uts.edu.au)
- 367 Fehri, R., Khlifi, S., & Vanclooster, M. (2020). Testing a citizen science water monitoring approach in Tunisia. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 104, 67-72.
- 368 Cakmak, E. K., Ugurlu, A., & Anbaroglu, B. (2021). Adopting citizen science approach for water quality monitoring in Uzungöl, Turkey. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 193(9). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-021-09395-2
- 369 Li, Y., & Zhang, X. (2024). Intelligent X-ray waste detection and classification via X-ray characteristic enhancement and deep learning. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 435, 140573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2024.140573
- 370 United Nations Environment Programme & International Solid Waste Association. (2024). Beyond an age
- of waste: Turning rubbish into a resource. Available at: global_waste_management_ outlook_2024.pdf (unep.org)
- 371 Plastic Smart Cities. (2023). Waste Wise Cities Tools. Available at: https:// plasticsmartcities.org/waste-wise-cities-tools/
- 372 UN-Habitat. (2021). Newsletter #12. Available at: wwc_accp_newsletter_vol12-eng. pdf (unhabitat.org)
- 373 Abuga, D., & Raghava, N. S. (2021). Real-time smart garbage bin mechanism for solid waste management in smart cities. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 75, 103347. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2021.103347
- 374 Qureshi, K. N., Khan, A., Jamil, S. U. U., Sharma, B., & Jeon, G. (2023). Internet of Things enables smart solid waste bin management system for a sustainable environment. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 30(60), 125188-125196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-023-28611-9
- 375 Meldgaard, C. (2022). 6 Major Benefits of IoT Waaste Management for Smart Cities.
 Waste Hero. Available at: 6 Major Benefits of IoT Waste Management for Smart Cities
 WasteHero
- 376 Ulloa-Torrealba, Y. Z., Schmitt, A., Wurm, M., & Taubenböck, H. (2023). Litter on the streets - solid waste detection using VHR images. *European Journal of Remote Sensing*, 56(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/22797254.2023.2176006
- 377 Fang, B., Yu, J., Chen, Z. et al. Artificial intelligence for waste management in smart cities: a review. Environ Chem Lett 21, 1959–1989 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10311-023-01604-3
- 378 Zoumpoulis, P., Konstantinidis, F. K., Tsimiklis, G., & Amditis, A. (2024). Smart bins for enhanced resource recovery and sustainable urban waste practices in smart cities: A systematic literature review. *Cities*, 152, 105150.
- 379 Polaris (2022). Smart Trash Bins Market Share. https://www.polarismarketresearch. com/industry-analysis/smart-trash-bins-market.
- 380 World Economic Forum. (2023). What is urban mining and why do we need to do more of it? Available at: What is urban mining and how does it help the planet? | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- 381 Schwanholz, J., & Leipold, S. (2020). Sharing for a circular economy? An analysis of digital sharing platforms' principles and business models. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 269, 122327.
- 382 Junior, A. B. B., Martins, F. P., Cezarino, L. O., Liboni, L. B., Tenório, J. A. S., & Espinosa, D. C. R. (2023). The sustainable development goals, urban mining, and the circular economy. *The Extractive Industries and Society*, *16*, 101367.
- 383 Blok, M. (2024). From Builidings to Resources: The Role of Urban Mining in Circular Cities. Available at: From Buildings to Resources: The Role of Urban Mining in Circular Cities (metabolic.nl)
- 384 Xavier, L. H., Ottoni, M., & Abreu, L. P. P. (2023). A comprehensive review of urban mining and the value recovery from e-waste materials. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 190, 106840.
- 385 Reddy, R. N. (2015). Reimagining e-waste circuits: calculation, mobile policies, and the move to urban mining in Global South cities. *Urban Geography*, 37(1), 57–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/02723638.2015.1046710
- 386 https://olioapp.com/en/our-vision/
- 387 https://www.swinga.coop/om-swinga
- 388 Gerli, P., Mora, L., Zhang, J., & Sancino, A. (2024). Friends or enemies? Unraveling niche-regime interactions in grassroots digital innovations. *Technological Forecasting* and Social Change, 202, 123342.
- 389 Sánchez-García, E., Martínez-Falcó, J., Marco-Lajara, B., & Manresa-Marhuenda, E. (2024). Revolutionizing the circular economy through new technologies: A new era of sustainable progress. *Environmental Technology & Unrovation*, 33, 103509.
- 390 UNEP (n.d.). Cities and climate change. Cities and climate change
 391 Adegoke, D. (2023). A systematic review of big data and digital technologies security
- leadership outcomes effectiveness during natural disasters. Sustainable Futures, 5, 100113.
 Baraldo, M., & di Franco, P. D. G. (2024). Place-centred emerging technologies for
- 392 Baraldo, M., & di Franco, P. D. G. (2024). Place-centred emerging technologies for disaster management: A scoping review. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 104782.

- 393 Soohwan Jeon and Junkyu Kim, "Artificial intelligence to predict climate and weather change", JMST Advances, 27 February 2024, https://link.springer.com/ article/10.1007/s42791-024-00068-y#:~:text=GraphCast%20reduces%20the%20 computational%20time,more%20than%2090%25%20of%20cases.
- 394 Zhou, T. (2023). Application of artificial intelligence in geography, International Conference on Software Engineering and Machine Learning, https://iopscience.iop.org/ article/10.1088/1742-6596/2646/1/012006
- 395 Mohsen Alizadeh et al., "Social Vulnerability Assessment Using Artificial Neural Network (ANN) Model for Earthquake Hazard in Tabriz City, Iran", Sustainability, 21 September 2018, https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/10/10/3376
- 396 Maziar Yazdani et al., "Optimising post-disaster waste collection by a deep learningenhanced differential evolution approach", *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*, 31 January 2024, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0952197624000903?via%3Dihub
- 397 Neha Chaudhuri and Indranil Bose, "Exploring the role of deep neural networks for post-disaster decision support", *Decision Support Systems*, 03 January 2020, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2019.113234
- 398 Xuan Song et al., "DeepMob: Learning Deep Knowledge of Human Emergency Behavior and Mobility from Big and Heterogeneous Data", ACM Transactions on Information Systems, June 2017, https://dl.acm.org/doi/ pdf/10.1145/3057280?casa_token=ACJslpc4Bt 4AAAAA:6jYpum GFVemXNOPy XcD8qZWUv68EzR1muScitiGcfWA5m_Gbk5Yrfuz5R_rbAlZJGkvGNolJvA
- 399 Duong Van Hung, "Drones for Assessment of Disaster Damage and Impact -Revolutionizing Disaster Response", *United Nations*, 20 May 2023, https://www.undp. org/vietnam/blog/drones-assessment-disaster-damage-and-impact-revolutionizingdisaster-response
- 400 Ceyda Alpay, "Revolutionizing Debris Tracking: Using Parafoil Drones in Türkiye's Earthquake Aftermath", *United Nations*, 22 February 2024, https://www.undp. org/turkiye/blog/revolutionizing-debris-tracking-using-parafoil-drones-turkiyesearthquake-aftermath
- 401 Blackler, A., Helsby-Clark, N., Ostwald, M. J., & Foth, M. (2024). Supporting Disaster Preparedness Through User-Centred Interaction Design in Immersive Environments. In *Climate Disaster Preparedness: Reimagining Extreme Events through Art and Technology* (pp. 123-136). Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland.
- 402 Zhu, Y., & Li, N. (2021). Virtual and augmented reality technologies for emergency management in the built environments: A state-of-the-art review. *Journal of safety science and resilience*, 2(1), 1-10.
- 403 Xu, C., & Xue, Z. (2023). Applications and challenges of artificial intelligence in the field of disaster prevention, reduction, and relief. *Natural Hazards Research*.
- 404 Baraldo, M., & di Franco, P. D. G. (2024). Place-centred emerging technologies for disaster management: A scoping review. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 104782.
- 405 Ruslanjari, D., Safitri, E. W., Rahman, F. A., & Ramadhan, C. (2023). ICT for public awareness culture on hydrometeorological disaster. *International journal of disaster risk reduction*, 92, 103690.
- 406 United Nations, "The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2020", United Nations, 30 July 2020, https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2020/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2020.pdf
- 407 Matthew P. J. Ashby, "The Value of CCTV Surveillance Cameras as an Investigative Tool: An Empirical Analysis", *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, 21 April 2017, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10610-017-9341-6?source=post_page------
- 408 Feldstein, Steven (2022), "AI & Big Data Global Surveillance Index (2022 updated)", Mendeley Data, V4, doi: 10.17632/gjhf5y4xjp.4
- 409 Peter Sloly, "Emerging tech that can make smart cities safer", *Deloitte*, 2018, https:// www2.deloitte.com/ca/en/pages/public-sector/articles/emerging-tech-smart-citiessafer.html
- 410 Alikhademi, K., Drobina, E., Prioleau, D., Richardson, B., Purves, D., & Gilbert, J. E. (2022). A review of predictive policing from the perspective of fairness. *Artificial Intelligence and Law*, 1-17. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10506-021-09286-4
- 411 Moritz Hardt et al., "Equality of Opportunity in Supervised Learning", 30th Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems (NIPS 2016), 11 October 2016, https:// proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2016/file/9d2682367c3935defcb1f9e247a97c0d-Paper.pdf
- 412 Finale Doshi-Velez and Been Kim, "Towards A Rigorous Science of Interpretable Machine Learning", arXiv, 02 March 2017, https://arxiv.org/pdf/1702.08608
- 413 Andreas Holzinger, "Interactive Machine Learning for Health Informatics: When Do We Need the Human-in-the-Loop?", Brain Informatics, 02 March 2016, https://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/S40708-016-0042-6
- 414 Hongjian Wang et al., "Crime Rate Inference with Big Data", 22^{ed} ACM SIGKDD 2016 Conference on Knowledge Discovery & Data Mining, 13 August 2016, http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2939672.2939736
- 415 Katharina Eisenhut et al., "Mobile applications addressing violence against women: a systematic review", BMJ Global Health, 13 January 2020, https://gh.bmj.com/content/ bmjgh/5/4/e001954.full.pdf

- 416 USAID (2015). Gender-based violence on public transportation a review of evidence and existing solutions. Available at: https://urban-links.org/wp-content/uploads/GBVon-Transportation_6-26-2020_updated_DM.pdf
- 417 UNESCO (2020). Towards universal access to higher education: international trends. Available at: Towards universal access to higher education: international trends -UNESCO Digital Library
- 418 Nation, M., Christens, B. D., Bess, K. D., Shinn, M., Perkins, D. D., & Speer, P. W. (2020). Addressing the problems of urban education: An ecological systems perspective. *Journal of Urban Affairs*, 42(5), 715–730. https://doi.org/10.1080/073521 66.2019.1705847
- 419 United Nations. (2023) The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2023: Special Edition. Available at: SDG Indicators (un.org)
- 420 Jack Eastburn et al., "Digital transformation: Health systems' investment priorities", McKinsey & Company, 07 June 2024, https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/ healthcare/our-insights/digital-transformation-health-systems-investmentpriorities#/
- 421 Statista, "%age of U.S. physicians who had used telehealth and agreed with select statements on telehealth as of 2019", Statista, April 2019, https://www.statista.com/ statistics/1026144/physician-with-telehealth-opinions-us/
- 422 Statista, "Top funded digital health categories worldwide in the first half of 2021", Statista, 2022, https://www.statista.com/statistics/736163/top-funded-health-ittechnologies-worldwide/
- 423 Statista, "E-Learning Statista overview report on the global market for online education", Statista, January 2024, https://www.statista.com/study/163500/elearning/
- 424 Okpechi IG, Muneer S, Ye F, Zaidi D, Ghimire A, Tinwala MM, Saad S, Osman MA, Lunyera J, Tonelli M, Caskey F, George C, Kengne AP, Malik C, Damster S, Levin A, Johnson D, Jha V, Bello AK. Global eHealth capacity: secondary analysis of WHO data on eHealth and implications for kidney care delivery in low-resource settings. BMJ Open. 2022 Mar 23;12(3):e055658. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-055658. PMID: 35321893; PMCID: PMC8943769.
- 425 Maud Chassignol et al., "Artificial Intelligence trends in education: a narrative overview", *Procedia Computer Science*, 06 September 2018, https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877050918315382
- 426 Statista, "Artificial Intelligence: in-depth market analysis", Statista, April 2024, https:// www.statista.com/study/50485/in-depth-report-artificial-intelligence/
- 427 Sascha Kraus et al., "Digital transformation in healthcare: Analyzing the current state-of-research", *Journal of Business Research*, 11 October 2020, https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0148296320306913
- 428 Statista, "Share of healthcare leaders who had planned investment in Al for the following reasons worldwide in 2021 and 2023", *Statista*, June 2023, Healthcare leaders.
- 429 Statista, "Population's concern on the impacts of artificial intelligence (AI) worldwide in the following years as of 2023, by country", *Statista*, 16 September 2024, https:// www.statista.com/statistics/1473358/worldwide-concerns-impact-ai-by-country/
- 430 Statista, "Digital Health"
- 431 Arakpogun, E. O., Elsahn, Z., Prime, K. S., Gerli, P., & Olan, F. (2020). Digital contacttracing and pandemics: Institutional and technological preparedness in Africa. World development, 136, 105105.
- 432 Jack Eastburn et al., "Digital transformation: Health systems' investment priorities"
- 433 Gerli, P., Arakpogun, E. O., Elsahn, Z., Olan, F., & Prime, K. S. (2021). Beyond contact-tracing: The public value of eHealth application in a pandemic. Government Information Quarterly, 38(3), 101581.
- 434 UNDP, "Temporary Basic Income, a novel approach to coping with crisis and reducing gender disparities in Nepal", United Nations, 29 August 2023, https://www.undp.org/ nepal/stories/temporary-basic-income-novel-approach-coping-crisis-and-reducinggender-disparities-nepal
- 435 UN-Habitat, "People-centred Smart Cities: Open Call", United Nations, September 2024.
- 436 Rich, K. M., Berends, J., & Cooper, G. S. (2022). Enriching value chains through maps: reflections from spatial group model building in Myanmar and India. *Development in Practice*, 32(2), 259-265. https://doi.org/10.1080/09614524.2021.1907545
- 437 World Bank City Planning Labs & CAPSUS. (2020). Urban Planning Tools as Agents of Change: Collaborative Spatial Data for Sustainable Urban Development in Indonesia. Available at: WB-Indonesia-urban-planning-final-report-v3.pdf (worldbank.org)
- 438 "Digital twin" to help with flood protection, energy planning and the like Bavaria -SZ.de (sueddeutsche.de)
- 439 How Schwabach's digital twin protects against disasters | BR24
- 440 World Economic Forum (2014). Seven ways cities around the world are tackling traffic. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2014/07/seven-ways-citiesaround-world-tackling-traffic/
- 441 Rowe, E. (1991). The Los-Angeles automated traffic surveillance and control (ATSAC) system. IEEE Transactions on vehicular technology, 40(1), 16-20. https://doi. org/10.1109/25.69967
- 442 Shbeeb, L. (2023). Traffic and environmental impacts of constructing and operating a BRT service: Case study in Amman, Jordan. Cogent Engineering, 10(2), 2283316. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2023.2283316

- 443 Ibid.
- 444 Ibid.
- 445 Siemens Stiftung. (2023). Sustainable, affordable, and local: e-Cargo Bikes "Made in Ghana" program a pathway to achieving net-zero carbon emissions. Available at: Sustainable, affordable, and local: e-Cargo Bikes "Made in Ghana" program a pathway to achieving net-zero carbon emissions - Siemens Stiftung (siemens-stiftung.org)
- 446 Center for Sustainable Transformation. (2022). Net Zero: E-Mobility Advocacy Platform. Available at: Net Zero Accra: E-mobility Advocacy Platform (cestint.com)
- 447 Gradin, Sandra. (2019). Cost-Benefit Analysis of Cycle to Work Scheme -Implemented in Jonkoping Municipality, 2016 (Master's Thesis). Retrieved from: stud. epsilon.slu.se
- 448 https://www.brisbane.qld.gov.au/traffic-and-transport/public-transport/schooltransport/active-school-travel-program
- 449 Yen, B. T., Mulley, C., & Burke, M. (2019). Gamification in transport interventions: Another way to improve travel behavioural change. *Cities*, 85, 140-149.
- 450 https://www.brisbane.qld.gov.au/traffic-and-transport/public-transport/ school-transport/active-school-travel-program/active-school-travel-schools-andresults#:~.text=The%20Active%20School%20Travel%20(AST,and%20actively%20 travel%20to%20school.
- 451 Otaki Solar Farm, renewable energy project Community Energy Network
- 452 Yi, S., Ryu, M., Suh, J., Kim, S., Seo, S., & K-water. (2018). SWM for managing leak detection in Seosan Smart City. In Korea Water Resources Corporation & International Water Resources Association, *Smart Water Management: Case Study Report* (pp. 71-111).
- 453 Amankwaa, G. (2023). Water ATMs were introduced in Ghana and are changing the way people can access this vital resource. *The Conversation*. Available at: Water ATMs were introduced in Ghana. For more details, also see: Amankwaa, G., Heeks, R., & Browne, A. L. (2022). Water ATMs and Access to Water: Digitalisation of Off-Grid Water Infrastructure in Peri-Urban Ghana. *Water Alternatives*.
- 454 Pioneering loT sea environment monitoring platform launches in Vietnam | University of Technology Sydney (uts.edu.au)
- 455 VinaREN Trường ĐH Bách khoa ứng dụng loT giám sát chất lượng nước biển tại Phú Yên (sciencespace.vn)
- 456 Water monitoring solution for Vietnamese aquaculture | University of Technology Sydney (uts.edu.au)
- 457 Cakmak, E. K., Ugurlu, A., & Anbaroglu, B. (2021). Adopting citizen science approach for water quality monitoring in Uzungöl, Turkey. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 193(9). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-021-09395-2
- 458 Smart Bins | Wyndham City
- 459 Majchrowska, S., Mikołajczyk, A., Ferlin, M., Klawikowska, Z., Plantykow, M. A., Kwasigroch, A., & Majek, K. (2022). Deep learning-based waste detection in natural and urban environments. *Waste Management*, *138*, 274-284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wasman.2021.12.001
- 460 Ulloa-Torrealba, Y. Z., Schmitt, A., Wurm, M., & Taubenböck, H. (2023). Litter on the streets - solid waste detection using VHR images. *European Journal of Remote Sensing*, 56(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/22797254.2023.2176006
- 461 Xavier, L. H., Ottoni, M., & Abreu, L. P. P. (2023). A comprehensive review of urban mining and the value recovery from e-waste materials. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 190, 106840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106840

- 462 From Buildings to Resources: The Role of Urban Mining in Circular Cities (metabolic. nl)
- 463 Kumar, C., Bailey-Morley, A., Kargbo, E., & Sanyang, L. (2022). Waste Management in Asia: A Review of Cities' Experience. Available at: ODI working paper
- 464 Njoroge, B. (2024). Digitising waste collection: Freetown Waste Transformers' DortiBox app in Sierra Leone. GSMA. Available at: Digitising waste collection: Freetown Waste Transformers' DortiBox app in Sierra Leone | Mobile for Development (gsma.com)
- 465 Dtissibe, F. Y., Ari, A. A. A., Abboubakar, H., Njoya, A. N., Mohamadou, A., & Thiare, O. (2024). A comparative study of Machine Learning and Deep Learning methods for flood forecasting in the Far-North region, Cameroon. *Scientific African, 23*, e02053.
- 466 Sella Nevo et al., "Flood forecasting with machine learning models in an operational framework", *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 5 August 2022, https://hess. copernicus.org/articles/26/4013/2022/hess-26-4013-2022.pdf
- 467 Mohsen Alizadeh et al., "Social Vulnerability Assessment Using Artificial Neural Network (ANN) Model for Earthquake Hazard in Tabriz City, Iran", Sustainability, 21 September 2018, https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/10/10/3376
- 468 Sophia Tareen, "Chicago to stop using controversial gunshot detection technology this year", Associated Press, 13 February 2024, https:// apnews.com/article/shotspotter-chicago-gunshot-technology-mayorf9a1b24d97a1f1efb80296dbe9aff1ed
- 469 Will Douglas Heaven, "Predictive policing algorithms are racist. They need to be dismantled.", *MIT Technology Review*, 17 July 2020, https://www.technologyreview. com/2020/07/17/1005396/predictive-policing-algorithms-racist-dismantledmachine-learning-bias-criminal-justice/
- 470 https://edition.cnn.com/2024/02/24/us/shotspotter-cities-choose-not-to-use/index. html
- 471 World Economic Forum (2020). Smart at Scale: Cities to Watch 25 Case Studies. Available at: https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Smart_at_Scale_Cities_to_ Watch_25_Case_Studies_2020.pdf
- 472 Gupta, S., Janicki, S., Casula, P., & Parvin, N. (2022, June). Rethinking Safe Mobility: The Case of Safetipin in India. In Proceedings of the 2022 International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development (pp. 1-6). https://doi. org/10.1145/3572334.3572392
- 473 JLK, "HANDMED AI based Handheld X-Ray Camera", JLK, 13 June 2022, https:// jlkgroup.com/static/pdf/en/HANDMED_eng.pdf
- 474 ITU, "COVID-19: How Korea is using innovative technology and AI to flatten the curve", *International Telecommunication Union*, 06 May 2020, https://www.itu.int/ hub/2020/05/covid-19-how-korea-is-using-innovative-technology-and-ai-to-flattenthe-curve/
- 475 ITU, "U4SSC Case study Daegu, Korea (Republic of)", International Telecommunication Union, 01 February 2022, https://www.itu.int/hub/publication/ttut-smartcity-2021-40/
- 476 UNDP, "Temporary Basic Income, a novel approach to coping with crisis and reducing gender disparities in Nepal"
- 477 UN-Habitat, "People-centered Smart Cities: Open Call"
- 478 International Association of Public Transport (2024). Global Urban Mobility Indicators 2022: Public transport metrics from 46 cities worldwide. Available at: Global Urban Mobility Indicators 2022 | UITP

